


Ixia is..

Ixia helps you deliver the always-

on user experience Fast secure

delivery of dynamic connected

technologies and services creates

sustainable business edge Accel

eratetime-to-market optimize

application performance and

ensure higher-quality deployments

with Ixia solutions

Real World Testing

Technology Evaluation

Performance Optimization

Optimize Scalability and
Reliability

Rapid Assessment

Predict Impact of Change

Assess Threat Vulnerability

Harden Networks

Real-Time Optimization

Enhance network visibility

Aggre gate and filter traffic

Optimize application performance
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Financial Highlights

Non-GAAP net income

Amortization of intangible assets

Stock-based compensation

Acquisition and other related

restructuring costs and other

Settlement and certain sales proceeds of

auction rate securities

Income tax effect

GAAP net income loss

Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share

Amortization of intangible assets

Stock-based compensation

Acquisition and other related

restructuring costs and other

Settlement and certain sales proceeds of

auction rate securities

Income tax effect

Convertible senior notes2
______________________________________________________

GAAP diluted earnings loss per share
______________________________________________________

Excludes certain non-cash and/or non-recurring income and expense items such as the proceeds from the settlementisale of

our previous investments in auction rate securities stock-based compensation acquisition and other related costs the amorti

zation of acquisition-related intangible assets restructuring expenses certain legal settlement and contract termination costs

and certain other items as well as the related income tax effects of such items and certain other non-cash income tax impacts

such as changes in the valuation allowance related to the companys deferred tax assets

2The 2011 Non-GAAP results include the impact of our convertible senior notes as these were anti-dilutive for the equivalent

GAAP earnings per share calculations

in thousands except per share and employee data 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Total revenues 413434 311370 278507 180735 176457

Net income loss 45460 26713 12830 41249 15535

Diluted earnings loss per share 0.59 0.37 0.19 0.66 0.24

Non-GAAP net income 61693 45783 34280 9720 15247

Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share 12 0.78 0.61 0.51 0.15 0.23

Cash cash equivalents and investments 177478 385021 339218 78980 206298

Total assets 819249 634467 589883 309088 328196

Convertible senior notes 200000 200000 200000

Total shareholders equity 447498 352236 296416 239979 273556

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 80314 61331 50429 4725 24335

Employees at year end 1742 1300 1100 1073 769

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP to GAAP Net Income Loss
and Diluted Earnings Loss per Share12

in thousands except per share and employee data 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

61693 45783 34280 9720 15247

30018 15980 17545 11391 5664

19641 12591 12915 10535 10645

18897 1100 7229 15362 20243

9919

52323 10601 6320 13681 5770

45460 26713 12830 41249 15535

0.78 0.61 0.51 0.15 0.23

0.36 0.22 0.26 0.18 0.09

0.23 0.18 0.19 0.17 0.16

0.22 0.02 0.11 0.24 0.31

0.15

0.62 0.16 0.09 0.22 0.09

0.02

0.59 0.37 0.19 0.66 0.24
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Letter to

Shareholders

Over the last 15 years Internet growth has

brought immense change to our world

Smart phones tablets Wi-Fi cloud com

puting the list goes on Things that were

science fiction are now science fact and

the pace of change is accelerating From

mission critical business applications to

financial transactions to medical applica

tions to video streaming to online gaming

and social networks more and more of our

lives are spent working and playing in

virtual world

The constant in this change is ever-increas

ing connectivity and immediacy we are

more connected and more quickly con

nected to greater body of information

and resources The user expectation is that

applications and services must be rapidly

available and fault-free

User loyalty is increasingly based on user

experience rather than brand associa

tion and the window to take advantage of

opportunities has shortened In this new

reality businesses that harness new tech

nology and connect people to each other

and their information resources better will

outperform those that dont

Ixia helps customers deliver the always

on user experience Fast secure delivery

of dynamic connected technologies and

services creates sustainable business

edge Our solutions enable our customers

to accelerate time-to-market optimize
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Annual Revenue

in millions except per share amount

Non-GAAP EPS Trend
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Staying Ahead

Ixias recent acquisitions have

broadened its technology platform

and driven its revenue and earnings

growth Since 2009 we have added

mobility expertise in 3G LTE and

Wi-Fi security vulnerability assess

ment and network visibility
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Letter to

Shareholders

application performance and ensure

higher-quality deployments

Increasingly businesses use Ixia solutions

to deliver results by accelerating technol

ogy service and application delivery and

by making sure that these services remain

available lxias culture of passion energy

and integrity power our success in creating

the solutions that address the rapid inno

vation fueling our customers needs

Ixia delivers one of the industrys leading

solutions with complete visibility into criti

cal network data center applications and

services Ixia provides actionable insight

for equipment manufacturers enterprises

service providers and government agen

cies with solutions that test assess and

monitor networks to accelerate and secure

delivery of applications

Ixias purpose is to make amazing products

so our customers can connect the world

2012 was transformative year of growth

and change for Ixia In addition to keeping

pace with the rapidly evolving networking

landscape we made two strategic acquisi

tions that further positioned lxia in high

growth markets In June we completed

the acquisition of Anue Systems which

gives us leadership role in the nascent

Network Visibility market and marks our

first substantive foray into live network

monitoring In August we completed the
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Capabilities in Optimization

Our Ixia Anue network visibility

products intelligently connect the

data center network with monitoring

tools to aggregate filter and load

balance network traffic Our pat

ented filtering technology ensures

each monitoring tool gets exactly

the right data needed for analysis

and is powered by the easiest to

use drag-and-drop user interface in

the industry
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Letter to

Shareholders

acquisition of BreakingPoint Systems

leader in application performance and

security assessment These acquisitions

accelerated our growth and delivered

accretive results in 2012through Anue

Systems we provide customers with vis

ibility into their networks to optimize their

monitoring environments and with Break

ingPoint Systems we established our lead

ing position in the application and security

assessment market

Financially 2012 was record year on many

fronts Revenue increased 33% from the

prior year to record $413 million Growth

was strong for our core solutions which

grew 15% year over year and our two ac

quired companies contributed $55 million

of post-acquisition revenue Non-GAAP

earnings per diluted share grew to $0.78

from $0.61 in the prior year

Based on market research and company

estimates with our recent acquisitions

we believe we have expanded our total

addressable market to approximately $3.0

billion from approximately $1.2 billion

where it was at the start of 2012 Within

just few quarters of completing our re

cent acquisitions our revenue from service

providers and enterprises has grown to 50

percent of total revenue This reflects sig

nificant transformation for company that

historically generated up to approximately

two-thirds of its revenue from equipment

manufacturers
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2012 Evolving Customer Mix

Service Providers percent of revenue Enterprise percent of revenue

14.9%

12.6%

18.6%

20.6%

NEM percent of revenue Revenue dollars in mi/lions

sun

24.0%

Qi Q2 Q3 Q4
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An Evolving Marketplace

As we increased our assessment

and monitoring solutions we
diversified our customer base and

increased our penetration of ser

vice provider and enterprise mar
kets In the fourth quarter of 2012

our first full quarter with both

Anue and Breaking Point service

provider and enterprise accounts

increased to 50% of our business
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Letter to

Shareholders

In summary we are very excited by Ixias

expanding growth opportunities We will

continue to invest to stay ahead of the

trends as well as focus on developing our

converged technology platform leveraging

the inherent synergies across our product

portfolio and building our sales and part

ner channels to expand our presence with

service providers and enterprises

As we continue our journey would like to

thank our investors along with our em

ployees customers and partners for their

continued support

Sincerely

Victor Alston

President and Chief Executive Officer
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EXPLANATORY NOTE
As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012 the Form 0-K the terms Company

our us or we refer to Ixia California corporation

This Form 10-K includes the restatement of certain of the Companys previously issued consolidated financial statements and

data It also amends previously filed managements discussian and analysis of financial condition and results of operations

and other disclosures for the periods presented in this Form 10-K

On March 19 2013 Ixia filed Form 12b-25 Notification of Late Filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission relat

ing to the Form 10-K As indicated in the Form 2b-25 and in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

contained in Item 15 of this Form 10-K the Company decided that it needed to correct an error related to the manner in which

it recognizes revenues for its warranty and software maintenance contracts and therefore required additional time to evaluate

the impact of the correction on its financial results for the year ended December31 2012 and for the prior reporting periods

that will be included in this Form 10-K and ii its internal control over financial reporting

We have completed our assessment of the impact of the afcrementioned correction and of the correction of later identi

fied error in the manner in which we recognize revenues relating to previous implied warranty and software maintenance

arrangement with one of our customers Based on that assessment we have determined that we need to restate our annual

and quarterly results for certain prior fiscal periods In this Farm 10-K we therefore amend or restate the following types of

financial information as of and for the periods collectively the Restated Periods noted in the table below

Type of Financial Information Date or Period

Consolidated balance sheet As of December31 2011

Consolidated statements of operations Years ended December31 2011 and 2010

comprehensive income shareholders equity

and cash flows

Selected financial data Years ended and as of December31

2011 2010 2009 Unaudited and 2008 Unaudited

Unaudited quarterly financial information Quarters ended September 30 2012 June 30 2012 and

March 31 2012 and each quarter in the year ended

December31 2011

Managements discussion and analysis of financial As of and for the years ended December31 2011 and 2010

condition and results of operations

We believe that presenting all of the amended and restated information regarding the Restated Periods in this Form 10-K

allows investors to review all pertinent data in single presentation In addition the Companys Quarterly Reports on Form

10-0 to be filed during 2013 will include the restated 2012 comparable prior quarter and year to date periods We have not

filed and do not intend to file amendments to our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the first three quarterly periods in the

year ended December31 2012 or ii our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December31 2011 collectively the

Affected Periods Accordingly investors should rely only in the financial information and other disclosures regarding the

Restated Periods in this Form 10-K or in future filings with the SEC as applicable and not on any previously issued or filed

reports earnings releases or similar communications relating to these periods

The combined impact of the adjustments and specified line items in the Affected Periods resulting from the restatement is set

forth in Note 15 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements The following items of this Form 10-K are impacted as

result of the restatement

Part Item 1A Risk Factors

Part II Item Selected Financial Data

Part II Item Managements Discussion and Analysis Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Part II Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Part II Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Part IV Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules
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PART

Item Business

Overview

Ixia was incorporated on May 27 1997 as California corporation We are leading provider of converged Internet Protocol

IP network validation and network visibility solutions Equipment manufacturers service providers enterprises and govern

ment agencies use our solutions to design verify and monitor broad range of Ethernet Wi-Fi and 3G/LTE equipment and

networks Our product solutions consist of our hardware platforms such as our chassis interface cards and appliances

software application tools and services including our warranty and maintenance offerings and professional services

Our solutions deliver actionable insight through real-time monitoring real-world testing and predictive analytics This

end-to-end visibility provides organizations with complete understanding into user behavior security vulnerabilities network

capacity application performance and IT resiliency From the research labs to the network to the cloud lxia solutions optimize

networks and data centers to accelerate secure and scale application delivery

During the year ended December31 2012 we received orders from approximately 1300 new and existing
end customers

Based on product shipments for the year ended December 31 2012 our significant customers by category included

Leading network equipment manufacturers such as Cisco Systems Alcatel-Lucent Juniper Networks and Dell

Voice broadband and/or wireless service providers such as ATT NTT and Verizon

Enterprises such as Microsoft ITOCHU Bloomberg and Wells Fargo and

Government contractors departments and agencies such as General Dynamics Northrop Grumman and the U.S Army

No matter what profession or position in the world connecting to networked applications quickly and securely from any

location is paramount to success The convergence of new technologies is complicating the IT landscape smartphone

ubiquity cloud proliferation challenges of big data demands of the social consumer pervasive cyber threats intensifying

the challenge of constantly securely and quickly connecting users to their applications The delivery of communications and

entertainment applications and services is moving to an always-connected always-on paradigm

From the lab to the network to the cloud Ixia has rich repository of expertise and solutions that optimize the secure accel

erated and scaled application delivery and performance that businesses require Ixia solutions battle-test wired and wireless

network infrastructures monitor user behavior and dynamically filter application traffic critical combination that provides

the predictive insights needed to accelerate secure and scale application delivery

Our solutions are scalable easy-to-use and adaptable automatically providing companies with comprehensive coverage

of the latest applications and security attacks in order to optimize performance and protect against threats Our goal is to

enhance network application and service delivery by providing comprehensive easy-to-use and automated solutions that

empower our customers to drive their business forward by taking the guesswork out of network reliability and the application

services

Recent Acquisition History

In June 2009 we acquired Catapult Communications Corporation Catapult The IxCatapult product line adds in-depth test

ing of wireless network components In particular these products include test hardware and software that address 2G 3G

and Long-Term Evolution LTE wireless network access and core components We have leveraged our lxLoad product to assist

the IxCatapult solution with testing the mobile core network

In October 2009 we acquired the N2X Data Network Testing Product Line N2X from Agilent Technologies Inc Agilent

and created the IxN2X test solution In addition to broadband and carrier access protocol capabilities the IxN2X product line

is known for its intuitive and powerful user interface and excellent quality Our development team is integrating IxN2Xs best

practices into the lxNetwork system architecture and IxN2X customers are taking advantage of Ixias layer 4-7 and wireless

testing on new high-density Gigabit and lOGE hardware that support both IxN2X and Ixia applications

In July 2011 we acquired VeriWave Inc VeriWave performance testing company for wireless LAN WLAN and Wi-Fi

enabled smart devices This acquisition expands our portfolio of supported network media and addresses the need for an end

to-end solution that completely tests converged Wi-Fi wired and 3G/LTE ecosystems



Ixia Annual Report 2012

In June 2012 we acquired Anue Systems Inc Anue Anue solutions provide visibility into live networks and the applica

tions running within them in order to efficiently aggregate and filter traffic With this acquisition we have expanded our

addressable market broadened our product portfolio and grown our customer base

In August 2012 we acquired BreakingPoint Systems Inc BreakingPoint BreakingPoint is leader in application and

security assessment and testing and its solutions provide global visibility into emerging threats and applications along with

advance insight into the resiliency of an organizations network infrastructure With this acquisition we have expanded our

addressable market broadened our product portfolio and grown our customer base

The Demand for Ixia Solutions

Todays networks and data centers are continuously improving their performance and scale in order to accommodate the

plethora of networking applications and services we now rely upon to do business communicate capture memories plan

travel and more Applications drive network capacity influence quality of experience introduce potential vulnerabilities and

lead to more innovations Every organization from device manufacturers to service providers to government organizations

to enterprises is seeking to optimize networks and data centers in order to accelerate secure and scale the delivery of these

applications

Ixia network solutions provide the predictive data needed for organizations to make real-time decisions that will enhance

performance harden security and increase scalability of networks facing constantly changing requirements The Ixia line of

hardware software and services fits the needs of every organization from the lab to the network to the cloud Ixia solu

tions provide an end-to-end approach for organizations to test devices and systems prior to deployment assess the perfor

mance and security of networks and data centers after every change and constantly monitor and filter traffic to optimize

performance Rapid

Assessment

1E
Real-World

Testing
Real-Tine

btqp_
o_p

._____________JJ
The acquisitions of Anue and BreakingPoint in June 2012 and in August 2012 respectively expanded our product portfolio

and end customer base and increased our overall total addressable market We are now providing more services and solu

tions to each of our customer segments

Network Equipment Manufacturers NEMs NEMs provide voice video and data and service infrastructure equipment

to customer network operators service providers and network users Such users require high standards of functionality

performance security and reliability To meet these higher standards NEMs must ensure the quality of their products

during development and manufacturing prior to deployment Failure to ensure the consistent functionality and perfor

mance of their products may result in the loss of customen3 increased research and development costs increased support

costs and losses resulting from the return of products NEMs for example use our network test systems to run large-

scale subscriber and service emulations generating extreme traffic loads to verify the performance and capacity of their

wired and wireless devices prior to deployment in production networks

Our systems are also used by NEMs in the sales and acceptance process to demonstrate to their customers e.g service

providers and enterprises how the NEMs products will operate under real-world conditions Our conformance test suites are

used by NEMs to ensure that their devices conform to published standards ensuring that they will be interoperable with

other equipment Additionally these equipment manufacturert are also in many cases large enterprises and therefore have

the same challenges that can be met using our assessment and monitoring solutions within their own internal network

Service Providers Service providers seek to deliver growing variety
of high quality advanced network services ranging

from traditional telecommunications and Internet services to social networking cloud storage and entertainment streaming

Failure to provide quality experience to the end user can be costly through high subscriber churn rates and reduced

revenues To ensure quality
of experience OOE and service assurance service provider RD and network engineering
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groups must verify the performance and functionality of staged networks during equipment selection and network design

prior
to deployment and after any change to the production network Service providers also use our network test systems

to emulate millions of mobile 30/40/LIE subscribers to realistically predict end-user quality of experience delivered by

providers infrastructure and services Service providers must also ensure security for customers and their own networks

as the keepers of vast amounts of business and personal data And finally service providers depend on our monitoring

solutions to filter application traffic in order to prioritize de-duplicate and optimize wired and wireless data streams

Enterprises and Government Enterprise and government organizations depend on their networks and data centers to get

business done and they devote enormous resources to ensure applications and services run optimally and securely These

customers rely on our solutions to help evaluate during selection optimize and harden them in their labs prior to roll-out

and then assess each device and system in the production network once they are live Notably enterprises and govern

ment organizations must always be vigilant against the impact of the very latest security attacks and application deploy

ments and our network test and assessment solutions consistently assure that their network and data center are

optimized and resilient These organizations also require visibility into the application traffic itself and use our monitoring

solutions to further enhance the performance scalability and reliability of the applications their users depend on Finally

government organizations have also installed our cyber range solutions for the training of new generation of cyber war

riors to recognize and defend against massive cyber-attacks

Ixia Business Strategy

Our goal is to enhance network application and service delivery by providing the most comprehensive easy-to-use and auto

mated solutions in the industry Over the past few years Ixia has made number of significant moves to acquire technology

and talent that has positioned the Company as preeminent provider of network test and visibility
solutions This has been

accomplished by growing our portfolio
of products and addressable markets through acquiring technologies businesses and

assets expanding our international presence and customer base continuing to deliver high quality products and support to

our customers and developing our employees Key elements of our strategy to achieve our oblective include the following

Continue to Expand our Addressable Markets We plan to further expand our addressable markets into growth areas for

network and application security next-generation networking technologies monitoring network applications and services

and more

Maintain Focus on Technology Leadership We will continue to focus on research and development in order to maintain

our technology leadership position and to offer solutions that address new and evolving network technologies We intend

to maintain an active role in industry standards committees such as IEEE and the Internet Engineering Task Force IETF

and to continue our active involvement in industry forums associations and alliances such as the Ethernet Alliance Metro

Ethernet Forum Open Networking Foundation ONF Network Test Automation Forum NTAF Wi-Fi Alliance International

Telecommunications Union ITU Telecommunications Industry Association TIA and 3GPP We also plan to continue to

work closely with some of our established customers who are developing emerging network technologies as well as

leading edge start-up companies to enhance the performance and functionality
of our existing systems and to design

future products that specifically address our customers needs as they evolve

License andAcquire New Products We will continue our strategy of acquiring products in key technologies that expand

our product offerings address customer needs and enhance the breadth of our evolving product portfolio In 2012 we

acquired both Anue Systems and BreakingPoint Systems helping us round out our solutions in application visibility
and

security Future acquisitions may be made in the form of partnering with industry leaders acquiring or licensing technol

ogy assets associated with product lines or acquiring other companies

ExpandandFurtherPenetrate Customer Base We plan to strengthen and further penetrate our existing customer relation

ships and expand our reach into new enterprise government and service provider customers We plan to strengthen our

customer relationships and to expand our customer base by

Continuing to develop and offer new and innovative solutions that meet our existing
and potential customers needs

Expanding our sales and marketing efforts through direct channels and partner relationships to increase penetration in

under-represented vertical and geographic market segments and

Building upon and further strengthening our reputation and brand name recognition

Continuing our focus on customer support by maintaining and expanding the capabilities
of our highly qualified and

specialized internal personnel

Expand International Market Presence We will further pursue sales in key international markets including the Europe

Middle East and Africa regions EMEA and the Asia Pacific region In order to pursue sales in these markets we intend
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to develop and expand our relationships with key customers partners and distributors as well as expand our direct sales

and marketing presence within these markets

Ixia Solutions

We are leading provider of converged Internet Protocol IP network validation and network visibility solutions Equipment

manufacturers service providers enterprises and governnlerit agencies use our solutions to design verify and monitor

broad range of Ethernet Wi-Fi and 3G/LTE equipment and networks Our solutions provide the predictive data needed for or

ganizations to make real-time decisions that will enhance performance harden security and increase scalability of networks

facing constantly changing requirements

Real-world test solutions must recreate the true behavior of wired and wireless users at massive scale with increasing

fidelity Network
testing solutions must be highly scalable and capable of generating large amounts of data at high speeds

over increasingly complex configurations and be up to date with the very latest applications and security attacks Comprehen

sive integrated testing must occur throughout network design development production deployment and operation stages

Because this testing and verification must take place across multiple layers
of the network infrastructure and for all network

protocols network testing solutions are also required to be highly flexible extensible and modular This rapid evolution of

complex network technologies and protocols which includes leading-edge technologies such as higher speed Ethernet LTE

and the latest Wi-Fi standard 802.1 lac has resulted in the need for an integrated platform solution that is easy to use with

minimal training and set-up

Our network visibility solutions intelligently connect the data center network with monitoring tools that aggregate filter load

balance and de-duplicate network traffic Our
filtering

and de-duplication technology ensure that each monitoring tool gets

exactly the right data needed for analysis which are powered by an easy to use drag-and-drop management system This im

proves the way our customers manage their data centers prevents network application and service downtime and maximizes

return on IT investment

Our systems provide our customers with the following key berief its

Versatile High Performance Our network test solutions generate and receive data traffic at full line rate the maximum

rate that data traffic can be transmitted over network medium Our systems provide accurate analysis across multiple

layers
of the overall network and of individual network components in real time Our systems can be configured to either

generate programmed packets of data or conduct complete sessions

Our systems can analyze each discrete packet of information thereby allowing our customers to precisely measure the

performance of their networks and individual network components This precision allows customers to accurately measure

critical quality of service parameters such as throughput latency loss and jitter It also verifies data integrity packet

sequencing throughout the network and
quality

of service QoS

When used for realistic application sessions or conversations between network endpoints our systems emulate highly

complex and specialized applications such as transferring electronic mail browsing the Internet conveying voice and

video information managing databases and establishing wireless calls This emulation allows our customers to ac

curately measure critical characteristics of their networks such as session setup rate session tear down rate and session

capacity By analyzing the content of these sessions our customers can also accurately measure QoS and media quality

Our network
visibility solutions allow customers to dynamically aggregate regenerate distribute filter and condition

packets from all parts of the network at full line rate Thete high perfoimance systems enable broader network visibility

and enhance the performance of customers monitoring solutions while reducing costs

Highly Scalable Each of our network test interface cards provides one or more ports through which our systems generate

and receive data traffic Each physical port
contains its own dedicated logic circuits with substantial memory and com

pute resources Our customers can easily scale the size of their test bed or the amount of data traffic generated by insert

ing additional interface cards By connecting multiple chassis and synchronizing hundreds of ports to operate simulta

neously our customers can simulate extremely large networks Our GPS-based components even allow our chassis to be

distributed throughout the world while maintaining the close time synchronization necessary for precision tests We be
lieve that our systems can offer our customers one of the highest port density and scalable space efficient systems

available In addition our client-server architecture allows multiple users in the same or different geographic locations to

simultaneously access and operate different ports contained in the same chassis to run independent tests Customers

using our high-density network visibility platform can easily scale their visibility needs through flexible port licensing and

modular extensions that can grow with their expanding neiwork monitoring needs
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Highly Modular Hardware Platform We offer network test hardware platforms with interchangeable interfaces using

common set of applications and APIs Our architectures enable the emulation of millions of network users on scal

able platforms with mixture of both network and application layer traffic These architectures offer our customers an

integrated test environment that might otherwise require multiple products to cover the same test scenarios We believe

that our network test hardware platform solutions decrease the overall cost while increasing productivity and scalability

and reducing training requirements for our customers Our network test hardware products consist of stackable and

portable chassis which depending on the chassis model can be configured with mix of interface cards This modular

design allows our customers to quickly and easily create realistic customized test configurations Our open architecture

accelerates the integration of additional network technologies into existing systems through the addition of new interface

cards and distributed software Our modular approach to network visibility allows customers to increase port density add

higher speed links and/or advanced features helping customers to future proof their network monitoring and visibility

investments

Flexible Our customers can easily expand our systems to address changing technologies protocols and applications

without changing system hardware or replacing interface cards This protects and optimizes customers investments by

eliminating the need for forklift upgrades or the purchase of additional niche products Additionally customers under

our Application and Threat Intelligence ATI service receive automatic bi-weekly updates of the latest applications and

attacks for use in their real-world testing scenarios

Automated Testing Our systems make it easy to create automated tests and network monitoring rules that can run

unattended We offer our customers growing library of automated tests and monitoring automation scripts
that simplify

and streamline the test and monitoring processes The automated tests are repeatable and the results are presented in

structured format for easy analysis Ixia offers Click-Thru Automation that records and repeats interactive operation

providing automation without programming In addition Ixias Tool Command Language Tcl API is comprehensive pro

gramming interface to our hardware as well as to our software applications The Tcl API enables libraries of automated

scripts to be quickly built with specificity to customers environment We also offer utility that exports configurations

created in our graphical user interface IGUI as Tcl scripts

Ease of Use We have designed our systems so that users can install and operate them with minimal training
and setup

Our network test systems are easy to use and offer our customers wide range of readily accessible pre-designed test

configurations These tests include industry standard and use case-specific tests Users can easily configure and operate

our systems to generate and analyze data traffic over any combination of interface cards or ports through our graphical

user interface that features familiar MicrosoftA WindowsTh point-and-click environment Once tests are designed in

our GUIs they can be saved for reuse or in Tcl script form for customization and even greater levels of automation Our

network visibility systems also offer customers best-in-class ease-of-use with point-and-click GUI that enables customers

to develop complex filtering and packet distribution algorithms quickly with simple but powerful drop-down menus As

with our test solutions these configurations can be saved for reuse and automated using our TcI script

Products

Our product solutions consist of our hardware platforms such as our chassis interface cards and appliances software

application tools and services including our warranty and maintenance offerings and professional services Our highly scal

able and flexible products enable our customers to configure solutions based on their specific networks and use cases For

example if our customer wants to analyze the performance of an Ethernet router the customer could purchase our network

test hardware platform including chassis and one or more Ethernet interface cards and our lxNetwork software application

Our systems are managed through graphical user interfaces that allow users to configure our chassis interface cards and

appliances Each port can be independently configured to meet specific requirements and results can be viewed using both

tables and graphs Our network test and visibility platforms also allow users to create custom applications tailored to meet

their specific requirements with the commonly used TcI programming environment

Hardware Products

Sales of our network test hardware products typically include chassis and one or more Ethernet interface cards Our soft

ware applications and APIs allow our customers to create and manage integrated easy-to-use automated test environments

Our hardware platform consists largely
of interchangeable interface cards which fit into multi-slot chassis Our chassis are

metal cases that incorporate computer power supply and backplane which connects the interface cards to the chassis

The interface cards generate receive and analyze wide variety of traffic types at multiple network layers

Our primary network test chassis the 12-slot XM12 and XG1 provides high-density highly-flexible
test platform Operating

in conjunction with our software applications our chassis provide the foundation for complete high-performance test envi

ronment wide array of interface cards is available for our primary chassis The XM12 and XG12 chassis support up to 192

Gigabit ports 384-lOGE ports 48-4OGE ports and 24-100 GE ports These interface cards provide the network interfaces and
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distributed processing resources needed for executing broad range of data signaling voice video and application testing

for layers 1-7 of the network stack Each chassis supports an integrated test controller that manages all system and testing

resources Resource ownership down to per-port level coupled with hot-swappable intertace modules ensures highly-

flexible multi-user testing environment Backward compatibility is maintained with key existing lxia interface cards and test

applications to provide seamless migration from and integration with existing lxia test installations

We offer number of interface cards that operate at speeds at up to 100 gigabits per second Each one of our interface cards

contains one to 32 independent traffic generation and analysis ports These ports operate at line rate Each port on most

interface cards has unique transmit stream engine that is used to generate packets of information and real-time receive

analysis engine capable of analyzing the packets as they are received The transmit stream engine generates millions of

data packets or continuous test sequences at line rate that ate transmitted through the network and received by the analysis

engine When data packets have been generated the analysis engine then measures throughput latency loss and litter and

checks data integrity and packet sequence on packet-by-packet basis In addition our systems measure the effectiveness of

networks in prioritizing different types of traffic Most of our current generation interface cards also include microprocessor

per port to generate and analyze sophisticated routing protocols such as BGP and MPLS as well as application traffic such

as TCP/IP HTTP and SSL Certain of our Ixia BreakingPoint interface cards can provide more than 30000 new live malware

attacks including 100 new mobile maiware attacks These cards provide application and threat assessment solutions at

Internet-scale and create massive-scale high fidelity simulation and testing conditions for
battle-testing infrastructures

devices applications and people

Sales of our network visibility hardware products typically
include an integrated purpose-built hardware appliance with

proprietary software Advanced Feature Modules that easily slide into the NTO appliance can be purchased for additional

advanced functionality The Ixia Anue Net Tool Optimizer NTO product line revolutionizes the way customers monitor their

network Our NTO platform provides complete network visibility into physical and virtual networks and optimizes monitoring

tool performance Our NTO products intelligently connect to data center network with monitoring tools to aggregate filter

load balance and de-duplicate network traffic The integrated network
visibility appliance includes patented filtering and de

duplication technology that ensures each monitoring tool gets exactly the right data needed for analysis which is powered by

the easy to use drag-and-drop management system Our network visibility products improve the way our enterprise service

provider and government customers manage their data centers save valuable IT time and maximizes return on IT investment

Our flagship network
visibility platform is the NTO which is led by the NTO 5288 5293 for carrier NEBS3 applications which

is high-density 0/4OGE network monitoring appliance designed for large and complex data centers and helps our custom

ers monitor their
rapidly growing number of GE OGE and 400E ports with existing monitoring tools The modular NTO 5288

supports up to 16 ports of 40 GE and 64 ports of 10 GE which can be activated immediately upon purchase or activated later

as the need grows The Advanced Feature Module for the NTO 52BB adds advanced functionality such as packet slicing
and

do-duplication

Software Applications

As part of certain of our network testing hardware platforms we offer comprehensive suite of software applications to ad

dress specific technologies These applications measure and analyze the performance functionality interoperability service

quality and conformance of networks network equipment and applications that run on these networks These applications

enable network equipment manufacturers service providers enterprises and governments to evaluate the performance of

their equipment and networks during the design manufacture and pro-deployment stages as well as after the equipment are

deployed in network Our technology-specific application test suites are targeted at wide range of popular requirements

Video Testing

Ixias lxLoad tests the performance of video servers multicast routers and the IP video delivery network This is accomplished

by emulating video servers and millions of video subscribers in video on demand and multicast video scenarios Protocols

supported include MPEG IGMP RTP and RTSP lxLoad likewise emulates Internet video clients including Adobe Flash and HLS

and Microsoft Silverlight

lxChariot tests video transport networks This is accomplished by emulating video trartic and measuring end-to-end video

quality Measurements include throughput latency loss litter
and media delivery index MOI

Voice Testing

lxLoad tests the
functionality

of VoIP and PSTN devices and services by emulating end devices and servers Testing areas

supported include SIP SCCP Skinny H.323 MGCP and H.24B MEGACO as well as TOM and analog telephony services

Performance testing of SIP devices and infrastructure is accomplished by emulating thousands of SIP callers and callees in

performance testing scenarios In 2010 we introduced PSTN-E1/T1 interlace that allows direct testing of telecommunica

tions equipment
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IxChariot tests the voice transport network This is accomplished by emulating voice traffic and measuring end-to-end voice

quality Measurements include throughput latency loss jitter and mean opinion score MOS

Intelligent
Network Testing

lxLoad tests the performance of content-aware networks and devices including server load balancers SLB deep packet

inspection DPI devices firewalls web servers and mail servers This is accomplished by emulating millions of clients and

variety of servers in realistic performance testing
scenarios Protocols supported include TCP HTTP SSL FTP SMTP POP3

IMAP HTP RTSP Telnet DNS LDAP DHCP SIP MPEG and IGMP

Conformance Testing

IxANVL provides automated network/protocol validation Developers and manufacturers of networking equipment and Inter

net devices can use IxANVL to validate protocol compliance and interoperability IxANVL supports all industry standard test

interfaces including lDMbps/lDOMpbs/lGbps/1DGbp5 Ethernet ATM Serial Async U/El and PUS It provides conformance

negative and regression testing on large selection of protocols including bridging routing PPP TCP/IP lPv6 IP storage

RMDN VPN MPLS voice over IP Metro Ethernet and multicast

Security Testing

IxLoad Attack tests the performance of stateful and deep packet inspection security devices including firewalls SSL

gateways virus scanners spam filters and intrusion detection systems lIDS This is accomplished by emulating clients and

servers as well as through the use of distributed denial of service DDoS attacks Key capabilities include the ability to mix

valid user traffic with malicious traffic and to attach viruses to emails

IxLoad tests IPsec VPN gateways and systems This is accomplished by establishing and authenticating IPsec tunnels and

then generating traffic load over the tunnels to verify performance Site-to-site and remote access VPN testing is supported

as well as DES 3DES and AES encryption

lxNetwork lxLoad and IxN2X test broadband access devices supporting 8D2.lx authentication This is accomplished by high

scalable emulation of 8D2.lx clients supplicants Authentication modes supported include MD5 TLS ilLS and PEAP

Application Testing

lxLoad tests the performance of enterprise applications This is accomplished by emulating large
number of real users ac

cessing applications Technologies supported include JavaScript XML Java Document Dbject Model DDM and databases

e.g Oracle SOL Access

flouter Testing

IxNetwork and IxN2X tests core/edge/customer routers and layer switches This is accomplished by emulating entire

network infrastructures and generating high traffic loads across these emulated topologies to verify performance Protocols

supported include lOPs OSPF IS-IS RIP BGP MPLS including layer
and VPNs and IP multicast

IxAutomate is an automated test harness that can run turnkey tests using Ixias underlying APIs Multiple turnkey test suites

are available to execute control and data plane performance and functionality testing Tests include route capacity route

convergence session scalability tunnel scalability and data plane performance

Switch Testing

lxNetwork and IxN2X test layer 2-3 switches and forwarding devices This is accomplished by generating traffic load across

mesh of interfaces and then measuring results down to per flow basis Protocols supported include spanning tree multicast

and IP routing

IxAutomate tests layer 2-3 switches in an automated fashion set of predefined test suites is used to execute performance

and functionality tests Tests include data plane performance DoS functionality address cache tests error filtering and VLAN

functionality

IxExplorer tests layer
2-3 switches and forwarding devices This is accomplished by generating traffic load with very granular

control of packet parameters and detailed results analysis Measurements include throughput latency inter-arrival time data

integrity
and sequence checking

Wireless Testing

IxCatapult tests legacy and wireless network protocols associated with 20 30 and 4G/LTE wireless networks This is accom

plished through emulation of each network component These emulations are used in combinations to isolate and test each

component or group of components
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lxLoad tests 3G and 4G/LTE core networks including the new evolved packet core EPC network This is accomplished by

emulating application traffic whether data voice or video and measuring end-to-end performance and quality Measurements

include throughput latency jitter mean opinion score MOS and media delivery index MDI

Wi-Fi Testing

In July 2011 Ixia acquired VeriWave and incorporated its prciducts into lxas product portfolio lxVeriWave tools are

specifically designed to test Wi-Fi devices and wireless LAN networks using client-centric model as well as offering

solution that precisely measures the real-world behavior of mobile device its impact on other devices and overall network

performance This approach delivers repeatable large-scale real-world test scenarios which are virtually impossible to create

by any other means

Broadband Testing

lxNetwork lxLoad and IxN2X test broadband aggregation devices including B-RAS DSLAMs CMTSs and edge routers This

is accomplished by emulating millions of broadband clients and generating traffic load over those connections Protocol sup

port includes PPPoX PPPoE PPPoA PPPoEoA dual-stack PPP L2TPv2/v3 DHCPv4/v6 and ANCP

lxChariot tests the broadband access transport network This is accomplished by emulating application trafficwhether data

voice or video and measuring end-to-end performance and quality Measurements include throughput latency jitter mean

opinion score MOS and media delivery index MDI

Automated Testing

Test case repeatability is critical for developers and test engineers alike Given shrinking test cycles and higher time to market

pressures automation of test cases is paramount to quality assurance Ixia offers wide range of automation tools to suit dif

ferent needs for flexibility and ease of use We incorporated powerful Macro Recorder in our IxNetwork product that records

all GUI click-through operations into repeatable sequence of steps

IxAutomate provides complete automation environment for testing layer 2-3 routers switches and similar devices set of

predefined test suites is used to execute performance and functionality tests Multiple tests whether predefined or custom

developed can be scheduled for execution together with configuration of the device under test

Test Conductor is comprehensive highly-scalable regression harness that is compatible with some our other key network

testing
tools Test Conductor imports tests associates them with named regression test sequences and allows detailed

scheduling Tests can be scheduled in series or in parallel based on Windows OutIook-like calendar tool At-a-glance

logs
and summary reports display color-coded pass/fail results as well as the progress of the tests within each regression

Automated device under test OUT configuration scripts can lie scheduled to run in synchronization with the individual tests

or with complete regression runs

Our Tcl automation environment provides comprehensive set of tools and APIs for automating testing
with our hardware and

software applications Custom test libraries covering all of customers layer 2-7
testing requirements can be created in

single automation environment

Most test applications contain ScriptGeri feature that automatically generates TcI
script code from test configurations

This accelerates the development of automation code and helps train new users in the Ixia Tcl API

Services

Our service revenues primarily consist of our technical support warranty and software maintenance services We also offer

training and professional services

We offer technical support warranty and software maintenance services with the sale of our hardware and software prod
ucts Many of our products include up to one year of these services with the initial product purchase Our customers may
choose to extend the services for annual or multi-year periods Our technical support services are delivered by our global

team of technically knowledgeable and responsive customer service and support staff and include assistance with the set-up

configuration and operation of Ixia products Our warranty an.d software maintenance services include the
repair or replace

ment of defective product bug fixes and unspecified when arid if available software upgrades

Our technical support and software maintenance services also include the Ixia BreakingPoint Application and Threat Intel

ligence ATI service for the Ixia BreakingPoint platform which provides comprehensive suite of application protocols soft

ware updates and responsive technical support The lxia BreakingPoint ATI provides full access to the latest
security attacks

and application updates for use in real-world test and assessment scenarios Our customers may choose to purchase the Ixia

BreakingPoint ATI service for annual or multi-year periods
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Products in Development

We continue to develop our IP testing capabilities and throughout 2013 we intend to remain focused on improving our

position in performance security monitoring functional interoperability service quality and conformance in the following

technology areas

1040andl000E

Application delivery

802.llac

Carrier Metro and Data Center Ethernet

MPLS and MPLS-TP

lPv6

Voice and Video over IP

Security

IPsec

Test Automation

LTE/EPC

VoLTE

Femtocell

Wi-Fi

Energy efficiency

Network Monitoringiisibility

We may delay or cancel the introduction of new products to the market as result of number of factors some of which are

beyond our control For more information regarding these factors see Business Research and Development and Risk Fac

tors If we are unable to successfully develop or introduce new products to keep pace with the
rapid technological changes

that characterize our market our results of operations will be significantly harmed

Tec hnology

The design of all of our systems requires combination of sophisticated technical competencies including designs utilizing

field programmable gate arrays FPGAs and network processors NPs FPGAs are integrated circuits that can be repeatedly

reprogrammed to perform different sets of functions as required NPs are special programmable integrated circuits optimized

for networking applications Many of our systems also require high-speed digital
hardware design software engineering and

optical and mechanical engineering We have built an organization of professional staff with skills in all of these areas The

integration of these technical competencies enables us to design and manufacture test systems which are highly scalable to

meet the needs of our customers

Complex Logic Design Our systems use FPGAs that are programmed by the host computer and therefore can be reconfigured

for different applications Our newest products have high clock frequencies which are the timing signals that synchronize

all components within our system and logic densities which are the number of individual switching components or gates

of more than four million gates per chip Our customers may obtain updates and enhancements from our website thereby

allowing rapid updates of the system Almost all of our logic chips are designed in the VHDL hardware description language

unique programming language tailored to the development of
logic chips This language enables the easy migration of the

hardware design to application specific integrated circuits as volumes warrant We develop VHDL code in modular fashion

for reuse in logic design which comprises critical portion of our intellectual property This reusable technology allows us to

reduce the time-to-market for our new and enhanced products

Network Processor Technology Our patented NP technology enables our products to emulate complex networks and data

centers at very high scale The programmability of the NPs allows our customers to remain current with new networking

technologies by allowing customers to obtain frequent updates and enhancements from our website

Software Technology We devote substantial engineering resources to the development of software technology for use in our

product lines We have developed software to control our systems analyze data collected by our systems and monitor main

tain and self-test our hardware and field programmable gate array subsystems majority of our software technology and

expertise is focused on the use of object-oriented development techniques to design software subsystems that can be reused

across multiple product lines These objects are client and server independent allowing for distributed network applications

This software architecture allows all of the software tools developed for our existing products to be utilized in all of our new

products with very little modification Another important component of our software technology is our graphical user interface

design Customer experience with our test and visibility products has enabled us to design simple yet effective method to

display complex configurations in clear and concise graphical user interfaces for intuitive use by engineers
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Customers

Since our incorporation in May 1997 through December31 2012 we have shipped our systems to over 4100 end customers

No customer other than Cisco Systems accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues in 2012 2011 or 2010 Cisco Sys

tems accounted for 13.5% of our total revenues in 2012 14.11% of our total revenues in 2011 and 13.7% of our total revenues

in 2010

We do not have long-term or volume purchase contracts thai commit our customers to future product purchases and as

result our customers may reduce or discontinue purchasing from us at any time

Competition

The market for providing network test and monitoring systems is highly competitive and we expect this competition to

continue in the future We currently compete with network test and monitoring solution vendors such as Spirent Communica

tions JDS Uniphase Gigamon Danaher NetScout and Aeroflex We also compete with number of smaller networking tool

vendors that address subset of the issues that we solve Additionally some of our significant customers have developed or

may develop in-house products for their own use or for sale to others

We believe that the
principal competitive factors in our market include

Breadth of product offerings and features on single test or monitoring platform

Timeliness of new product introductions

Product quality reliability and performance

Price and overall cost of product ownership

Ease of installation integration and use

Customer service and technical support and

Company reputation and size

We believe that we compete favorably in the key competitive factors that impact our markets We intend to remain competi

tive through ongoing research and development efforts that enhance
existing systems and to develop products and features

We will also seek to expand our market presence through marketing and sales efforts However our markets in which we

compete continue to evolve and we may not be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors

We expect to continue to experience significant competition from our existing competitors and from companies that may

enter our existing or future markets And as we move into new market segments within the broader network test and moni

toring arena we will be challenged by new competitors These companies may develop similar or substitute solutions that

may be more cost-effective or provide better performance or functionality than our systems Also as we broaden our product

offerings we may move into new markets in which we will have to compete against companies already established in those

markets Some of our existing
and

potential competitors have longer operating histories substantially greater financial

product development marketing service support technical and other resources significantly greater name recognition and

larger
installed base of customers than we do In addition many of our competitors have well established relationships

with our current and potential customers and have extensive knowledge of our industry It is possible that new competitors or

alliances among competitors will emerge and rapidly acquire market share Moreover our competitors may consolidate with

each other or with other companies giving them even greater capabilities with which to compete against us

To be successful we must continue to respond promptly and effectively to the challenges of changing customer requirements

technological advances and competitors innovations Accordingly we cannot predict what our relative competitive position

will be as the market evolves for network test and monitoring solutions

Sales Marketing and Technical Support

Sales We use our global direct sales force to market and sell our systems In addition we use distributors partners and

other resellers to complement our direct sales and marketing efforts for certain vertical and geographical markets We depend

on many of our distributors partners and other resellers to generate sales opportunities and manage the sales process Dur

direct sales force maintains close contact with our customers and supports our distributors and other resellers Another

key component of our go-to-market strategy for certain products is strategic relationships with technical partners These

technical partners consist of network monitoring and management companies including CA IBM Tivoli Network Instruments

DpNet HP ArchSight and many others that understand the added visibility and return on investment lxia solutions contrib
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ute to the overall monitoring approach We work with technical partners in two main ways through customer referrals

and recommendations and through automation integration/interoperability that provides differentiated solution for our

customers

Marketing We have number of programs to support the sale and distribution of our systems and to inform existing and

potential customers partners and distributors about the capabilities and benefits of our systems Our marketing efforts also

include promoting our business by

Sponsoring technical seminars and webinars that highlight our solutions

Participating in industry trade shows and technical conterences

Writing and distribution of various forms of collateral including brochures white papers and application notes

Demonstrating the performance and
scalability

of our products at our iSimCity proof-of-concept labs

Communicating through our corporate website and

Writing articles for online and print trade journals

Technical Support We maintain technically knowledgeable and responsive customer service and support staff that is critical

to our development of long-term customer relationships Our staff can

Offer solutions for performance validation needs

Develop custom applications

Deploy to customer sites on short notice and

Provide guidance to optimally utilize our systems

Manufacturing and Supply Operations

Our supply operations consist primarily of supply chain planning and procurement quality control logistics
final assembly

configuration testing and distribution We outsource the manufacture assembly and testing of printed circuit board assem

blies certain interface cards and certain chassis to third party contract manufacturers and assembly companies the most

significant of which are located in Malaysia This manufacturing process enables us to operate without substantial space

and personnel dedicated to solely manufacturing operations As result we can leverage significant portion of the working

capital and capital expenditures that may be required for other operating needs

We are dependent upon sole or limited source suppliers for some key components and parts used in our systems including

among others field programmable gate arrays processors oscillators and optical modules We and our contract manufactur

ers forecast consumption and purchase components through purchase orders We have no guaranteed or long-term supply ar

rangements with our respective suppliers In addition the availability of many components is dependent in part on our ability

and the ability of our contract manufacturers and assembly companies to provide suppliers with accurate forecasts of future

requirements as well as the global commodity market Any extended interruption in the supply of any of the key components

currently obtained from sole or limited source or delay in transitioning to replacement suppliers product or replacement

component into our systems could disrupt our operations and significantly harm our business in any given period

Lead times for materials and components ordered by us and by our contract manufacturers vary and depend on factors such

as the specific supplier purchase terms global allocations and demand for component at given time We and our contract

manufacturers acquire materials complete standard subassemblies and assemble fully-configured systems based on sales

forecasts and historical purchasing patterns If orders do not match forecasts or substantially deviate from historical patterns

we and our contract manufacturers and assembly companies may have excess or inadequate supply of materials and compo

nents

Research and Development

We believe that research and development is critical to our business Our development efforts include anticipating and ad

dressing the network performance analysis and monitoring needs of network equipment manufacturers service providers

enterprises and government customers and focusing on emerging high growth network technologies
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Our future success depends on our ability to continue to enhance our existing products and to develop new products that ad

dress the needs of our customers We closely monitor changing customer needs by communicating and working directly with

our customers partners and distributors We also receive input from our active participation in industry groups responsible for

establishing technical standards

Development schedules for technology products are inherently difficult to predict and there can be no assurance that we will

introduce any proposed new products in timely fashion Also we cannot be certain that our product development efforts will

result in commercially successful products or that our products will not contain software errors or other performance problems

or be rendered obsolete by changing technology or new product announcements by other companies

We plan to continue to make significant investments in research and development including investments in certain product

initiatives Our research and development expenses were $98.2 million in 2012 $75.1 million in 2011 and $72.5 million in

2010 These expenses included stock-based compensation expense of $6.2 million in 2012 $4.3 million in 2011 and $5.2

million in 2010

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our success and ability to compete are dependent in
part upon our ability to establish protect and maintain our proprietary

rights to our intellectual property We currently rely on combination of patent trademark trade secret and copyright laws

and restrictions on disclosure and use to establish protect and maintain our intellectual property rights We have patent

applications and existing patents in the United States the European Union and other jurisdictions We cannot be certain

that these applications will result in the issuance of any patents or that any such patents if they are issued or our existing

patents will be upheld We also cannot be certain that such patents if issued or our existing patents will be effective in pro

tecting our proprietary technology We have registered the Ixia name the Ixia logo and certain other trademarks in the United

States the European Union and other jurisdictions and have filed for registration of additional trademarks

We generally enter into confidentiality agreements with our officers employees consultants and vendors and in many

instances our customers We also generally limit access to and distribution of our source code and further limit the disclosure

and use of other proprietary information However these measures provide only limited protection of our intellectual property

rights In addition we may not have signed agreements containing adequate protective provisions in every case and the

contractual provisions that are in place may not provide us with adequate protection in all circumstances

Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain or

use technology or information such as trade secrets that we regard as confidential and proprietary We cannot be certain that

the steps taken by us to protect our intellectual property rights will be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our proprietary

technology or that our competitors will not independently develop technologies that are similar or superior to our proprietary

technology In addition the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the

laws of the United States Any infringement or misappropriation of our iniellectual property rights could result in significant

litigation costs and any failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights
could result in our competitors offering

similar products potentially resulting in loss of competitive advantage loss of market share and decreased revenues Litiga

tion may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity
and scope of the proprietary

rights of others Litigation
of this type could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could significantly harm

our business

The telecommunication and data communications industries are characterized by the existence of large
number of patents

and frequent litigation based on allegations of patent infringement From time to time third parties may assert patent copy

right trademark and other intellectual property rights to technologies or related standards that are important to our business

We generally have not conducted searches to determine whether the technologies that we use infringe upon or misappro

priate intellectual property rights held by third parties Any claims asserting that any of our products or services infringe or

misappropriate proprietary rights of third parties if determined adversely to us could significantly harm our business See

Part Item of this Form 10-K for additional information

Employees

As of December 31 2012 we had approximately 1710 full time employees approximately 792 of whom were located in the

U.S We also from time to time hire temporary and part-time employees and independent contractors Our future performance

depends to significant degree on our continued ability to attract and retain highly skilled and qualified technical sales

and marketing and senior management personnel Our employees are not represented by any labor unions We consider our

relations with our employees to be good
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Available Information

Our website address is www.ixiacom.com Information on our website does not constitute part
of this report We make available

free of charge through link provided at such website our Forms 10-K 10-0 and 8-K as well as any amendments thereto Such

reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE

Washington DC 20549 The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC

at -800-SEC-0330 The SEC also maintains website that contains reports proxy and information statements and other

information regarding the Company that we file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov

Item 1A Risk Factors

The statements that are not historical facts contained in this Form 10-K are forward-looking statements within the meaning of

the Private Securities Utigation Reform Act of 1995 These statements reflect the current belief expectations or intent of our

management and are subject to and involve certain risks and uncertainties Many of these risks and uncertainties are outside

of our control and are difficult for us to forecast or mitigate In addition to the risks described elsewhere in this Form 10-K

and in certain of our other Securities and Exchange Act Commission filings
the following important factors among others

could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by us in any forward-looking statements

contained herein or made elsewhere by or on behalf of us

Our business may be adversely affected by unfavorable general economic and market conditions

Our business is subject to the effects of general economic conditions in the United States and globally and in particular

market conditions in the communications and networking industries In the past our operating results have been adversely af

fected as result of unfavorable economic conditions and reduced or deferred capital spending in the United States Europe

Asia and other parts of the world Most recently this occurred in the second quarter of 2011 where our total revenues were

lower than expected due in part to delays and/or reductions in spending at certain customers While our total revenues have

rebounded we continue to see general uncertainty in the global business environment and certain regional markets As

result our ability to accurately forecast the future demand and revenue trends for our products and services is limited

The global financial crisis that began in 2008 included among other things significant reductions in available capital and

liquidity from banks and other credit providers substantial reductions and/or fluctuations in equity and currency values

worldwide and concerns that the worldwide economy may be in prolonged recessionary period These conditions continue

to persist to large extent and may be exacerbated by the sequester that recently became effective Unfavorable economic

and market conditions such as these could likely result in lower capital spending by our customers on test and measurement

solutions and therefore demand for our products could decline adversely impacting our revenues Challenging economic and

market conditions may also impair the ability of our customers to pay for the products and services they have purchased

In addition prolonged unfavorable economic conditions and market turbulence may also negatively impact our contract manu

facturers and suppliers capability to timely supply and manufacture our products thereby impairing our ability to meet our

contractual obligations to our customers These effects as well as any other currently unforeseeable effects are difficult to

forecast and mitigate As result we may experience material adverse impacts on our business operating results financial

condition and stock price

Acquisitions undertaken and any that we may undertake could be difficult to integrate disrupt our business dilute

shareholder value and significantly harm our operating results

Acquisitions are inherently risky and no assurance can be given that our previous acquisitions including our 2012 acquisitions

of Anue and BreakingPoint or future acquisitions will be successful or will not materially and adversely affect our business

operating results or financial condition We expect to continue to review opportunities to acquire other businesses or tech

nologies that would add to our existing product line complement and enhance our current products expand the breadth of our

markets enhance our technical capabilities or otherwise offer growth opportunities While we are not currently party to any

pending acquisition agreements we may acquire additional businesses products or technologies in the future If we make

any further acquisitions we could issue stock that would dilute existing shareholders percentage ownership and we could

incur substantial debt or assume liabilities Acquisitions involve numerous risks including the following

problems or delays in assimilating or transitioning to Ixia the acquired operations systems processes controls

technologies products or personnel

loss of acquired customer accounts

unanticipated costs associated with the acquisition
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our failure to identify in the due diligence process significant issues with product quality or development and liabilities

related to operational issues intellectual property infringement or tax or other regulatory matters

multiple and overlapping product lines as result of our acquisitions that are offered priced and supported differently

which could cause customer confusion and delays

higher than anticipated costs in continuing support and development of acquired products

diversion of managements attention from our core business and the challenges of managing larger and more widespread

operations resulting
from acquisitions

adverse effects on existing business relationships of Ixia the acquired business with its suppliers licensors contract

manufacturers customers resellers and industry experts

significant impairment exit and/or restructuring charges if the products or technologies acquired in an acquisition do not

meet our sales expectations or are unsuccessful

insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with acquisitions

risks associated with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience and

potential loss of the acquired organizations or our own key employees

On June 2012 and on August 24 2012 we completed our acquisitions of Anue and BreakingPoint respectively Mergers

and acquisitions are inherently risky and subject to many factors outside of our control and we cannot be certain that we

would be successful in overcoming problems in connection with our past or future acquisitions Our inability to do so could

significantly harm our business revenues and results of operations See Note to the Financial Statements included in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Competition in our market could significantly harm our results of operations

The market for our products is highly competitive We currently compete with network test and monitoring solution vendors

such as Spirent Communications JDS Uniphase Gigamon Danaher NetScout and Aeroflex We also compete with number

of smaller networking tool vendors that address subset of the issues that we solve Additionally some of our significant

customers have developed or may develop in-house products for their own use or for sale to others For example Cisco Sys

tems our largest customer has used internally developed test products for number of years Although Cisco Systems has in

the past accounted for significant portion of our revenues we cannot be certain that it will continue to do so

As we broaden our product offerings we may move into new markets and face additional competition Moreover our com

petitors may have more experience operating in these new markets and be better established with the customers in these

new markets

Some of our competitors and potential competitors have greater brand name recognition and greater financial technical

marketing sales and distribution capabilities
than we do Moreover our competitors may consolidate with each other or with

other companies giving them even greater capabilities
with which to compete against us

Increased competition in the network test and monitoring markets could result in incieased pressure on us to reduce prices

and could result in reduction in our revenues and/or decrease in our profit margins each of which could significantly harm

our results of operations In addition increased competition could prevent us from increasing our market share or cause us to

lose our existing market share either of which would harm our revenues and profitability

We cannot predict whether our current or future competitors will develop or market technologies and products that offer

higher performance or more features or that are more cost-effective than our current or future products To remain competi

tive we must continue to develop cost-effective products and product enhancements which offer higher performance and

more functionality Our failure to do so will harm our revenues and results of operations
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If we are unable to successfully develop or introduce new products to keep pace with the rapid technological

changes that characterize our market our results of operations will be significantly harmed

The market for our prodects is characterized by

rapid technological change such as the recent advancements of IP-based networks and wireless technologies e.g LTE

freqeent new product introductions such as higher speed and more complex routers

evolving industry standards

changing customer needs such as the increase in advanced services agreed to between service providers and their

customers and

short product life cycles as result of rapid changes in our customers products

Our performance will depend on our successful development and introductions and on market acceptance of new and

enhanced products that address new technologies and changes in customer requirements If we experience any delay in

the development or introduction of new products or enhancements to our existing products our operating results may suffer

For instance undetected software or hardware errors which frequently occur when new products are first introduced could

result in the delay or loss of market acceptance of our products and the loss of credibility with our customers In addition if

we are not able to develop or license or acquire from third parties the underlying core technologies necessary to create new

products and enhancements our existing products are likely to become technologically obsolete over time and our operating

results will suffer If the rate of development of new technologies and transmission protocols by our customers is delayed

the growth of the market for our products and therefore our sales and operating results may be harmed

Our ability to successfully introduce new products in timely fashion will depend on multiple factors including our ability to

anticipate technological changes and industry trends

properly identify customer needs

innovate and develop and license or acquire new technologies and applications

hire and retain necessary technical personnel

successfully commercialize new technologies in timely manner

timely obtain key components for the manufacture of new products

manufacture and deliver our products in sufficient volumes and on time

price our products competitively

provide high quality timely technical support and

differentiate our offerings from our competitors offerings

The development of new technologically advanced products is complex and uncertain process requiring high levels of inno

vation and highly skilled engineering and development personnel as well as the accurate anticipation of technology and mar

ket trends We cannot be certain that we will be able to identify develop manufacture market or support new or enhanced

products successfully if at all or on timely or cost-effective basis Further we cannot be certain that our new products will

gain market acceptance or that we will be able to respond effectively to technological changes emerging industry standards

or product announcements by our competitors If we fail to respond to technological change and the needs of our markets

we will lose revenues and our competitive position will suffer
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We depend on sales of narrow range of products and if customers do not purchase our products our revenues

and results of operations would be significantly harmed

Our business and products are concentrated in the markets for systems that analyze and measure the performance of wired

and wireless IP-based networks and for systems that provide network visibility into physical and virtual networks and optimize

monitoring tool performance These markets continue to evolve and there is uncertainty regarding the size and scope of these

markets Our performance will depend on increased sales of our existing systems and the successful development introduc

tion and market acceptance of new and enhanced products We cannot be certain that we will be successful in increasing

these sales or in developing and introducing new products Our failure to do so would significantly harm our revenues and

results of operations

Because we depend on limited number of customers for majority of our revenues any cancellation reduction or

delay in purchases by one or more of these customers could significantly harm our revenues and results of operations

Historically small number of customers has accounted for significant portion of our total revenues Sales to our top five

customers accounted for 30% to 40% of total revenues for each of the three years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010

Additionally sales to our largest customer Cisco Systems accounted for 13.5% of our total revenues in 2012 14.0% of our

total revenues in 2011 and 13.7% of our total revenues in 2C 10 We expect that some customer concentration will continue

for the foreseeable future and that our operating results will continue to depend to significant extent upon revenues from

small number of customers Our dependence on large orders from limited number of customers makes our relationships

with these customers critical to the success of our business We cannot be certain that we will be able to retain our largest

customers that we will be able to increase our sales to our other existing customers or that we will be able to attract addi

tional customers From time to time we have experienced delays and reductions in orders from some of our major customers

In addition our customers have sought price reductions or other concessions from us and will likely continue to do so We

typically do not have long-term or volume purchase contracts with our customers and our customers can stop purchasing our

products at any time without penalty and are free to purchase products from our competitors The loss of one or more of our

largest customers any reduction or delay in sales to one of these customers our inability to successfully develop and main

tain relationships with
existing and new large customers or requirements that we make price reductions or other concessions

could
significantly harm our revenues and results of operations

Our large customers have substantial negotiating leverage which may require that we agree to terms and condi

tions that may have an adverse effect on our business

Large network equipment manufacturers and service providers have substantial purchasing power and leverage in negotiating

contractual arrangements with us These customers may require us to develop additional features reduce our prices or grant

other concessions As we seek to sell more products to these large customers we may be required to agree to such terms

and conditions These terms may affect the amounts and timing of revenue recognition and our profit margins which may

adversely affect our profitability and financial condition in the affected periods

If we do not diversify our customer base we may not be able to grow our business or increase our profitability

To date the majority of our total revenues have been generated from sales to network equipment manufacturers Our growth

depends in part on our ability to diversify our customer base by increasing sales to service provider enterprise and govern

ment customers To effectively compete for the business of these customers we must develop new products and enhance

ments to existing products and expand our direct and indirect sales marketing and customer service capabilities which

will result in increases in operating costs If we cannot offset these increases in costs with an increase in our revenues our

operating results may be adversely affected Some of our exir and potential competitors have existing relationships with

many service provider enterprise and government customers We cannot be certain that we will be successful in increasing

our sales presence in these customer markets Any failure by us to diversify our customer base and to increase sales in these

markets would adversely affect our growth

The restatement of our consolidated financial statements may affect shareholder confidence may consume sig

nificant amount of our time and resources and may have material adverse effect on our business and stock price

As discussed in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 15 of this Form 10-K and the

Explanatory Note above we have restated in this Form 10-K our consolidaled financial statements for certain prior periods to

correct certain errors in those financial statements The errors related to our historical revenue recognition practices related

to warranty and software maintenance contracts and arrangements as further discussed in Note 15

We cannot be certain that the measures we have taken since we completed the restatement process will ensure that restate

ments will not occur in the future The restatement may affec investor confidence in the accuracy of our financial disclosures

may raise reputational issues for our business and may result in decline in share
price

and shareholder lawsuits related to

the restatement

The restatement process was resource-intensive and involved
significant amount of internal resources including atten

tion from management and significant accounting costs Altiough we have now completed the restatement we cannot
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guarantee that we will not receive inquiries from the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC or the Nasdaq Stock

Market LLC Nasdaq regarding our restated financial statements or matters relating
thereto Any future inquiries

from the

SEC or the Nasdaq as result of the restatement of our historical financial statements will regardless of the outcome likely

consume significant amount of our internal resources and result in additional legal
and accounting costs

Each of these risks described above could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial

condition

We cannot assure investors that we will be able to fully address the material weaknesses in our internal controls

that led to our restatement or that remediation efforts will prevent future material weaknesses

We have identified control deficiencies in our financial reporting process that constituted two material weaknesses leading

to the restatement of our previously issued annual and quarterly financial statements We have undertaken measures to

remediate these weaknesses and plan to implement other appropriate measures as part of this effort There can be no as

surance that we will be able to fully remediate our existing deficiencies Further there can be no assurance that we will not

suffer from other material weaknesses in the future If we fail to remediate these material weaknesses or fail to otherwise

maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting in the future it could result in material misstatement of our

annual or quarterly financial statements that would not be prevented or detected on timely basis and which could cause

investors and other users to lose confidence in our financial statements limit our ability to raise capital
and have negative

effect on the trading price of our common stock

Our quarterly and annual operating results have historically fluctuated or may fluctuate significantly in the future

as result of new product introductions changes in judgments or estimates and/or otherfactors which fluctua

tions could cause our stock price to decline significantly

Our quarterly and annual operating results are difficult to predict and have fluctuated and may fluctuate significantly due to

variety of factors many of which are outside of our control Some of the factors that could cause our quarterly and annual

operating results to fluctuate include the other risks discussed in this Risk Factors section

We may experience shortfall or delay in generating or recognizing revenues for number of reasons Orders on hand at the

beginning of quarter and orders generated in quarter do not always result in the shipment of products and the recognition

of revenues for that quarter Failure to ship products by the end of the quarter in which they are ordered or our inability to rec

ognize revenue for products shipped in quarter may adversely affect our operating results for that quarter Our agreements

with customers typically provide that the customer may delay scheduled delivery dates and cancel orders prior to shipment

without penalty Because we incur operating expenses based on anticipated revenues and high percentage of our expenses

are fixed in the short term any delay in generating or recognizing forecasted revenues could significantly harm our results of

operations

In addition significant portion of our orders generated and product shipments in each quarter occurs near the end of the

quarter Since individual orders can represent meaningful percentage of our revenues and net income in any quarter the

deferral or cancellation of or failure to ship an order in quarter can result in revenue and net income shortfall that causes

us to fail to meet securities analysts expectations our business plan or financial guidance provided by us to investors for that

period and may cause fluctuations in our revenue in subsequent periods

Our operating results may also vary as result of the timing of our release of new products The introduction of new product

in any quarter may cause an increase in revenues in that quarter that may not be sustainable in subsequent quarters Con

versely delay in introducing new product in quarter may result in decrease in revenues in that quarter and lost sales

Further actual events circumstances outcomes and amounts differing from judgments assumptions and estimates used in

determining the values of certain assets including the amounts of related valuation allowances liabilities and other items

reflected in our consolidated financial statements could significantly
harm our results of operations

The factors described above are difficult to forecast and mitigate As consequence operating results for particular period

are difficult to predict and therefore prior results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in future periods

Any of the foregoing factors or any other factors discussed elsewhere herein could have material adverse effect on our

business results of operations and financial condition and could adversely affect our stock price
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We expect our gross margins to vary over time and our recent level of gross margins may not be sustainable

which may have material adverse effect on our future profitability

Our recent level of gross margins may not be sustainable and may be advorsely affected by numerous factors including

increased price competition

changes in customer geographic or product mix such as the mix of software versus hardware product sales

the pricing we are able to obtain from our component suppliers and contract manufacturers

new product introductions by us and by our competitors

changes in shipment volume

excess or obsolete inventory costs

increased industry consolidation among our customers which may lead to decreased demand for and downward
pricing

pressure on our products and

increases in labor costs

Each of the above factors may be exacerbated by decrease in demand for our established products and our transition to our

next-generation products Our failure to sustain our recent level of gross margins due to these or other factors may have

material adverse effect on our results of operations

The loss of any of our key personnel could significantly harm our results of operations and competitive position

Our success depends to significant degree upon the continuing contributions of our key management technical marketing

and sales employees There can be no assurance that we will be successful in retaining our key employees or that we can at

tract or retain additional skilled personnel as required Competition for highly skilled employees in our industry is intense and

the cost to recruit and train new technical personnel is significant Moreover companies in our industry whose employees

accept positions with competitors frequently claim that those competitors have engaged in unfair hiring practices We may
be subject to such claims as we seek to retain or hire qualified personnel some of whom may currently be working for our

competitors

Some of these claims may result in material litigation We could incur substantial costs in defending ourselves against

these claims regardless of their merits Such claims could also discourage potential employees who
currently work for our

competitors from joining us In addition volatility or lack of positive performance in our stock price may also adversely affect

our ability to attract and retain highly skilled employees who may look to stock-based awards as key component of their

compensation The loss of the services of any of our key employees the inability to attract or retain
qualified personnel in the

future or delays in hiring required personnel could hinder the development and introduction of new and enhanced products

and harm our ability to sell our products As result failure to retain or attract key personnel could significantly harm our

results of operations and competitive position

Continued growth will strain our operations and require us to incur costs to maintain and upgrade our manage
ment and operational resources

We have experienced growth in our operations including nuniber of employees sales products facility locations and

customers including as result of our recent acquisitions and expect to continue to experience growth in the future Unless

we manage our past and future growth effectively we may have difficulty in operating our business As result we may

inaccurately forecast sales and materials requirements fail to integrate new personnel or fail to maintain adequate internal

controls or systems which may result in fluctuations in our operating results and cause the price of our stock to decline We
may continue to expand our operations to enhance our product development efforts and broaden our sales reach which may
place significant strain on our management and operational resources In order to manage our growth effectively we must

improve and implement our operational systems procedures and controls on timely basis If we cannot manage growth

effectively our profitability could be significantly harmed

If we are unable to expand and maintain our sales and distribution channels or are unable to successfully manage
our expanded sales organization our revenues and results of operations will be harmed

Historically we have relied primarily on direct sales organization supported by distributors partners and other resellers

to sell our products We may not be able to successfully expand our sales and distribution channels and the cost of any

expansion may exceed the revenues that we generate as result of the expansion To the extent that we are successful in

expanding our sales and distribution channels we cannot be iertain that we will be able to compete successfully against

the significantly larger and belier-funded sales and marketing operations of many of our current or potential competitors In

some cases we may grant exclusive rights to certain distributors to market our products in their specified territories Our

distributors may not market our products effectively or devote the resources necessary to provide us with effective sales

marketing and technical support In the past we have had disributors who entered bankruptcy or who performed poorly and

were therefore terminated as distributors of our products Moreover if we terminate distribution relationship for perfor

mance-related or other reasons we may be subject to wrongful termination claims which may result in material litigation and

could adversely impact our profitability Our inability to effectively manage the expansion of our sales and support staff or to
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maintain existing or establish new relationships with successful distributors and partners would harm our business revenues

and results of operations

Changes in industry and market conditions could lead to charges related to discontinuances of certain of our

products and asset impairments

In response to changes in industry and market conditions we may be required to strategically realign our resources by

restructuring our operations and/or our product offerings Any decision to limit investment in or dispose of product offering

may result in the recording of special charges to earnings such as inventory fixed asset and technology-related write-offs

and charges relating
to consolidation of excess facilities which could adversely impact our business results of operations

and financial position

International activity may increase our cost of doing business or disrupt our business

We plan to continue to maintain or expand our international operations and sales activities Operating internationally

involves inherent risks that we may not be able to control including

difficulties in recruiting hiring training and retaining international personnel

increased complexity and costs of managing international operations

growing demand for and cost of technical personnel

changing governmental laws and regulations including those related to income taxes the UK Anti-Bribery Act and the

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

increased exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

political and economic instability including military conflict and social unrest

commercial laws and business practices that favor local competition

differing labor and employment laws

supporting multiple languages

reduced or limited protections of intellectual property rights

more complicated logistical and distribution arrangements and

longer accounts receivable cycles and difficulties in collecting receivables

The above risks associated with our international operations and sales activities can restrict or adversely affect our ability to

sell in international markets disrupt our business and subject us to additional costs of doing business

Some key components in our products come from sole or limited sources of supply which exposes us to potential

supply shortages that could disrupt the manufacture and sale of our products

We and our contract manufacturers currently purchase number of key components used to manufacture our products from

sole or limited sources of supply for which alternative sources may not be available From time to time we have experienced

shortages of key components including chips oscillators and optical
modules We and our contract manufacturers have no

guaranteed or long-term supply arrangements for these or other components including field programmable gate arrays FP

GAs and Network Processors NPs which are integrated circuits that can be repeatedly reprogrammed to perform different

sets of functions as required Financial or other difficulties faced by our suppliers or significant changes in market demand for

necessary components could limit the availability to us and our contract manufacturers of these components Any interruption

or delay in the supply of any of these components could significantly harm our ability to meet scheduled product deliveries to

our customers and cause us to lose sales

In addition the purchase of these components on sole or limited source basis subjects us to risks of
price

increases and po

tential quality assurance problems Consolidation involving suppliers could further reduce the number of alternatives available

to us and affect the availability and cost of components An increase in the cost of components could make our products less

competitive and result in lower gross margins
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There are limited substitute supplies available for many of these components including field programmable gate arrays All

of these components are critical to the production of our products and competition exists with other manufacturers for these

key components In the event that we can no longer obtain materials from sole source supplier we might not be able to

qualify or identify alternative suppliers in timely fashion or at all Any extended
interruption

in the supply of any of the key

components currently obtained from sole or limited source or delay in transitioning to replacement suppliers product or

replacement component into our systems could disrupt our operations and
significantly

harm our business in any given period

Our reported financial results could suffer if there is an impairment of goodwill or acquired intangible assets

We are required to test annually and review when circumstances warrant the value of our goodwill associated with past

acquisitions and any future acquisitions and ii to test the value of our acquisition-related intangible assets when circum

stances warrant determining if an impairment has occurred such assets are deemed impaired an impairment loss equal to

the amount by which the applicable carrying amount exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill or ii the estimated fair

value of acquired intangible assets would be recognized This would result in an incremental charge for that quarter which

would adversely impact our earnings for the period in which the impairment was determined to have occurred For example

such impairment could occur if the market value of our Common Stock falls below the carrying value of our net assets for

sustainod period The recent economic downturn contributed to extreme price and volume fluctuations in global stock

markets that reduced the market price of many technology company stocks including ours Such declines in our stock
price

or the failure of our stock price to recover from these declines as well as any marked decline in our level of revenues or profit

margins increase the risk that goodwill may become impaireil in future periods We cannot accurately predict
the amount

and timing of any impairment of our goodwill or acquired intangible assets

Restructuring our workforce can be disruptive and harm our operating results and financial condition

We have in the past restructured or made other adjustments 10 our workforce in response to the economic environment

performance issues acquisitions and other internal and external considerations During the third quarter of 2012 our manage
ment approved committed to and initiated plan to restructure our operations following our August 2012 acquisition of

BreakingPoint Restructurings can among other things result in temporary lack of focus and reduced productivity These

effects could recur in connection with future acquisitions and other restructurings and as result our operating results and

financial condition could be negatively affected

Adverse resolution ot legal proceedings may harm our results of operations or financial condition

We are party to lawsuits and other
legal proceedings in the normal course of our business Litigation and other legal

proceedings can be expensive lengthy and disruptive to normal business operations Moreover the results of complex legal

proceedings are difficult to predict We cannot provide assurance that we will not be party to additional legal proceedings

in the future or that we will be able to favorably resolve our current lawsuits To the extent legal proceedings continue for

long time periods or are adversely resolved our business results of operations and financial position could be
significantly

harmed For additional information regarding certain of the leqal matters in which we have been involved see Item Legal

Proceedings contained in Part of this report

Claims that we infringe third-party intellectual property tights could result in significant expenses or restrictions

on our ability to sell our products

From time to time other parties may assert patent copyright trademark and other intellectual property rights to technologies

and items that are important to our business We cannot provide assurance that others will not claim that we have infringed

upon or misappropriated their intellectual property rights or that we do not in fact infringe upon or misappropriate those

intellectual property rights We have not generally conducted searches to determine whether the technology we have in our

products infringes or misappropriates intellectual property rights held by third parties

Any claims asserting that any of our products or services infringe or misappropriate proprietary rights of third parties if

determined adversely to us could significantly affect our abilily to conduct business and harm our results of operations Any
such claims with or without merit could

be time-consuming

result in
costly and protracted litigation

divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel

require us to modify the products or services at issue or to develop alternative technology thereby causing delivery delays

and the loss or deferral of revenues

require us to cease selling the products or services at issue
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require us to pay substantial damage awards

expose us to indemnity claims from our customers

damage our reputation or

require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements which if required may not be available on terms acceptable to us

if at all

In the event any such claim against us was successful and we could not obtain license to the relevant technology on accept

able terms license substitute technology or redesign our products or services to avoid infringement or misappropriation our

revenues results of operations and competitive position could be harmed

If we fail to accurately forecast our manufacturing requirements we could incur additional costs and experience

manufacturing delays

We provide our contract manufacturers with rolling forecasts based on anticipated product orders to determine our manu

facturing requirements Some of the components used in our products have significant lead times or lead times which may

unexpectedly increase depending on factors such as the specific supplier contract terms and the demand for components at

given time Because of these long lead times we are often required to forecast and order products before we know what

our specific manufacturing requirements will be If we overestimate our product orders our contract manufacturers may have

excess inventory of completed products which we would be obligated to purchase This will lead to increased costs and the

risk of obsolescence If we underestimate our product orders our contract manufacturers may have inadequate inventory

which could result in delays in shipments the loss or deferral of revenues and/or higher costs of sales Costs are also added

to our products when we are required to expedite delivery of our products to customers or of components with long lead times

to our contract manufacturers We cannot be certain that we will be able to accurately forecast our product orders and may

in the future carry excess or obsolete inventory be unable to fulfill customer demand or both thereby harming our revenues

results of operations and customer relationships

Failure by our contract manufacturers to provide us with adequate supplies of high quality products could harm

our revenues results of operations competitive position and reputation

We currently rely on limited number of contract manufacturers to manufacture and assemble our products We may

experience delays in receiving product shipments from contract manufacturers or other problems such as inferior quality
and

insufficient quantity of product We cannot be certain that we will be able to effectively manage our contract manufacturers

or that these manufacturers will meet our future requirements for timely delivery of products of sufficient quality and quantity

We intend to introduce new products and product enhancements which will require that we rapidly
achieve adequate

production volumes by effectively coordinating with our suppliers and contract manufacturers The inability of our contract

manufacturers to provide us with adequate supplies of high-quality products or the loss of any of our contract manufacturers

would cause delay in our ability to fulfill customer orders while we obtain replacement manufacturer and would harm our

revenues results of operations competitive position and reputation

To the extent that our customers consolidate they may reduce purchases of our products and demand more

favorable terms and conditions from us which would harm our revenues and profitability

Consolidation of our customers could reduce the number of customers to whom our products could be sold These merged

customers could obtain products from source other than us or demand more favorable terms and conditions from us which

would harm our revenues and profitability
In addition our significant customers may merge with or acquire our competitors

and discontinue their relationships with us

Our products may contain defects which may cause us to incur significant costs divert our attention from product

development efforts and result in loss of customers

Our existing products and any new or enhanced products we introduce may contain undetected software or hardware defects

when they are first introduced or as new versions are released These problems may cause us to incur significant damages or

warranty and repair costs divert the attention of our engineering personnel from our product development efforts and cause

significant customer relation problems or loss of customers and reputation all of which would harm our results of operations

successful claim against us for an amount exceeding the limit on our product liability
insurance policy would force us to use

our own resources to the extent available to pay the claim which could result in an increase in our expenses and reduction

of our working capital
available for other uses thereby harming our profitability

and capital resources

Our failure to protect our intellectual property may significantly harm our results of operations and reputation

Our success and ability to compete is dependent in part on our ability to establish protect and maintain our proprietary rights

to our intellectual property We currently rely on combination of patent trade secret trademark and copyright laws and

restrictions on disclosure and use to establish protect and maintain our intellectual property rights To date we have relied
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primarily on trade secret laws to protect our proprietary processes and know-how We also have patent applications and

existing patents in the United States and other jurisdictions We cannot be certain that any ot these applications will be ap
proved or that any such patents if issued or our existing patents will be upheld We also cannot be certain that our existing

patents and any such additional patents if issued will be effective in protecting our proprietary technology

We generally enter into assignment ot
rights

and
confidentiality agreements with our officers employees and consultants

We also generally limit access to and distribution of our source code and further limit the disclosure and use of our other pro

prietary
information However these measures provide only limited protection of our intellectual property rights In addition

we may not have signed agreements containing adequate protective provisions in every case and the contractual provisions

that are in place may not provide us with adequate protection in all circumstances Any infringement or misappropriation of

our intellectual property rights could result in significant litigation costs and any failure to adequately protect our intellectual

property rights could result in our competitors offering similar products potentially resulting in loss of one or more competi
tive advantages loss of market share and decreased revenues

Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights existing trade secret copyright patent and trademark laws

afford us only limited protection In addition the laws of sonie foreign countries do not protect our intellectual property rights

to the same extent as do the laws of the United States Accordingly we may not be able to prevent misappropriation of our

proprietary technologies or to deter others from developing smilar technologies Others may attempt to copy or reverse engi
neer aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary Further monitoring the unauthor

ized use of our products and our intellectual property rights it difficult Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual

property rights or to determine the
validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others

Litigation of this type could result in

substantial costs and diversion of resources and could significantly harm our results of operations and reputation

The inability to successfully defend claims from taxing authorities or the adoption of new tax legislation could

adversely affect our operating results and financial position

We conduct business in many countries which requires us to interpret the income tax laws and rulings in each of those

jurisdictions Due to the complexity of tax laws in those jurisdictions as well as the subjectivity of factual interpretations our

estimates of income tax liabilities may differ from actual payments or assessments Claims from tax authorities related to

these differences could have an adverse impact on our results of operations financial condition and cash flows In addition

legislative bodies in the various countries in which we do business may from time to time adopt new tax legislation that could

have material adverse effect on our results of operations financial condtion and cash flows

Servicing our debt will require significant amount of cash and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our

business to service our existing debt or debt we may incur

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of to pay interest on or to refinance our existing or new indebted

ness including our convertible senior notes and any indebtedness under our new 2012 credit
facility depends on our future

performance which is subject to economic financial competitive and other factors many of which are beyond our control

Our business may not continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to service our indebtedness and

make necessary capital expenditures If we are unable to generate such cash flow we may be required to adopt one or more

alternatives such as selling assets restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or

highly dilutive Our
ability to refinance our indebtedness will depend on the

capital markets and our financial condition at such

time We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms which could

result in default on our existing or future debt obligations

The issuance of shares of our Common Stock upon any conversion of our Convertible Senior Notes would dilute

the ownership interest of our existing shareholders including holders who had previously converted their Con
vertible Senior Notes

The issuance of shares of our Common Stock upon conversion of our Convertible Senior Notes the Notes including the

effect on the conversion rate should make whole adjustment event occur would dilute the ownership interests of our exist

ing shareholders Any sales in the public market of our Common Stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect

prevailing market
prices

of our Common Stock In addition the existence ol the Notes may encourage short selling by market

participants because the conversion of the Notes could depress the price of our Common Stock

The fundamental change repurchase feature of the Convertible Senior Notes may delay or prevent an otherwise

beneficial attempt to take over our company
The terms of the Notes require us to offer to repurchase the Notes for cash in the event of fundamental change such as

change in control event or if our Common Stock ceases to be listed or quoted on any of the New York Stock Exchange the

Nasdaq Global Select Market or the Nasdaq Global Market or any of their respective successors non-stock takeover of our

company may also
trigger

the requirement that we repurchase the Notes These features may have the effect of delaying or

preventing takeover of our company that would otherwise be beneficial to investors
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We have outstanding debt and may incur other debt in the future which could adversely affect our financial

condition liquidity and results of operations

On December 21 2012 we entered into credit agreement establishing senior secured revolving credit facility the Credit

Facility with certain institutional lenders that provides for an aggregate loan amount of up to $150.0 million We may in the

future borrow amounts under this Credit Facility and use the proceeds to fund working capital
needs and capital expenditures

and for other general corporate purposes including acquisitions stock repurchases and any partial refinancing of our Notes

Increases in our aggregate levels of debt may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition by among other

things

increasing our vulnerability to downturns in our business to competitive pressures and to adverse economic and industry

conditions

requiring the dedication of an increased portion of our expected cash from operations to service our indebtedness thereby

reducing the amount of expected cash flow available for other purposes

including capital expenditures acquisitions and stock repurchases and

limiting our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and our industry

Any borrowings under our 2012 Credit Facility
must be repaid if we fail to comply with certain covenants

Our Credit Facility established in December 2012 imposes restrictions on us including restrictions on our ability to create liens

on our assets and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to incur indebtedness and requires us to maintain compliance with

specified financial ratios The financial covenants in the related credit agreement require us to maintain maximum leverage

ratio and minimum interest coverage ratio Our failure to comply with such covenants could cause default under the credit

agreement and we may then be required to repay any borrowings under the credit facility with capital
from other sources

Under those circumstances other sources of
capital may not be available to us or be available only on unfavorable terms In

the event of default it is possible that assets of the Company assets may be attached or seized by the lenders

Our investment portfolio may become impaired by deterioration of the financial markets

We follow an established investment policy
and set of objectives designed to preserve principal and liquidity to generate

market return given the policys guidelines and to avoid certain investment concentrations The policy also sets forth credit

quality standards and limits our exposure to any one non-government issuer Our cash equivalent and short- and long-term

investment portfolio as of December 31 2012 consisted of money market funds U.S government and government agency

debt securities corporate debt securities and auction rate securities

These investments are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded on our consolidated balance sheets at fair value

Although our investment portfolios amortized cost approximated fair value as of December31 2012 we cannot predict future

market conditions or market liquidity or the future value of our investments As result we can provide no assurance that our

investment portfolio will not be impaired in the future and that any such impairment will not materially and adversely impact

our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Changes in laws regulations and financial accounting standards may affect our reported results of operations

Changes in accounting regulations and standards such as the increased use of fair value measures and the potential require

ment that U.S registrants prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards could

have significant effect on our results of operations New pronouncements and varying interpretations of pronouncements

have occurred in the past and are likely to occur in the future as result of recent Congressional and regulatory actions New

laws regulations and accounting standards as well as the questioning of or changes to currently accepted accounting prac

tices in the technology industry may adversely affect our financial results may also require significant resources to implement

and these resources may not be available or may have premium attached may divert existing resources from operational

initiatives to financial reporting compliance one or all of which could have an adverse effect on our stock price

Our business is subject to changing regulation that has resulted in increased costs and may continue to result in

additional costs in the future

We are subject to laws rules and regulations of federal and state regulatory authorities including The Nasdaq and financial

market entities charged with the protection of investors and the oversight of companies whose securities are publicly
traded

During the past few years these entities including the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board the SEC and Nasdaq

have issued new requirements and regulations and continue to develop additional regulations and requirements partly
in

response to laws enacted by Congress most notably the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 SOX and more recently the Dodd-

Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the Dodd-Frank Act Our efforts to comply with these requirements

and regulations have resulted in and are likely to continue to result in increased general and administrative expenses and

diversion of substantial management time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities
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In particular our efforts to comply with Section 404 of SOX and the related regulations regarding our required assessment of

our internal control over financial reporting and our independent registered public accounting firms audit of the effectiveness

of our internal control over financial reporting have required and continue to require the commitment of significant financial

and managerial resources To the extent that we identify areas of our disclosures controls and procedures and/or internal

controls requiring improvement such as the material weakness in internal controls as of December31 2012 discussed in Item

9A herein we may have to incur additional costs and divert managemeffis time and attention

Because these laws regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations their application in practice may evolve

over time as new guidance becomes available This evolution may result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance mat
ters and additional costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to our disclosure and governance practices

We are also subject to laws rules and regulations of authorities in other countries where we do business and these laws
rules and regulations are also subject to change and uncertainty regarding their application and interpretation The growth of

our operations both domestically and internationally has reculted in and is
likely to continue to result in increased expense

resources and time spent on matters relating to compliance including monitoring and training activities

Compliance with recently adopted rules of the SEC relating to conflict minerals may require us and our suppliers

to incur substantial expense and may result in disclosure by us that certain minerals used in products we contract

to manufacture are not DRC conflict free

The SEC recently adopted disclosure requirements under Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank Act regarding the source of certain

conflict minerals for issuers for which such conflict minerals are necessary to the functionality or production of product

manufactured or contracted to be manufactured by that issuer which are mined from the Democratic Republic of Congo

DRC and adjoining countries The metals covered by the rules include tin tantalum tungsten and gold commonly referred

to as 31G Because Ixia contracts to manufacture products which may contain tin tantalum tungsten or gold we will be

required under these rules to determine whether those minerals are necessary to the functionality or production of our prod
ucts and if so the rules require us to conduct reasonable country of origin inquiry to determine if we know or have reason

to believe any of the minerals used in the production process may have originated from the DRC or an adjoining country

collectively referred to as covered countries If we are not able to determine the minerals did not originate from covered

country or conclude that there is no reason to believe that the minerals used in the production process may have originated in

covered country then we and our suppliers would be required to perform supply chain due diligence on the source and chain

of custody of conflict minerals to determine if they originated in one of the covered countries and if so whether they financed

or benefited armed groups in the covered countries The implementation of these requirements could affect the sourcing

and availability of products we purchase from our suppliers arid contract nianufacturers This may also reduce the number

of suppliers who provide products containing conflict free metals and may affect our ability to obtain products in sufficient

quantities in timely manner or at competitive prices Our material sourcing is broad based and multi-tiered and we may not

be able to easily verify the
origins

for all metals used in our products As result the costs of such an effort by us and by our

suppliers and the time required to be spent by our management and the management of our suppliers could be significant

Disclosures by Ixia mandated by the new rules which are perceived by the market to be negative may cause customers to

refuse to purchase Ixias products We are unable to assess the cost of compliance with this rule and there can be no assur

ance that the cost will not have an adverse effect on our business financial condition or results of operations The additional

disclosure rules are effective for calendar year 2013 with first filing due date of May31 2014

If we fail to maintain our relationships with industry experts our products may lose industry and market recogni
tion and sales could decline

Our relationships with industry experts in particular in the field of performance analysis and measurement of networks and

network equipment are critical for maintaining our industry credibility and for developing new products These experts have

established standard testing methodologies that evaluate new network equipment products and technologies We provide

these experts and their testing labs with our products and engineering assistance to perform tests on these new network

equipment products and technologies These industry experts refer to our products in their publications which has given our

products industry recognition In addition these labs offer us the opportunity to test our products on the newest network

equipment and technologies thereby assisting us in developing new products that are designed to meet evolving technologi

cal needs We cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain our relationships with industry experts or that our competi
tors will not maintain similar or superior relationships with industry experts If we are unable to maintain our relationships

with industry experts or if competitors have superior relationships with them our products may lose industry and market

recognition which could harm our reputation and competitive Position and cause our sales to decline

Our business and operations are subject to the risks of earthquakes floods hurricanes and other natural disasters

Our operations could be subject to natural disasters and other business disruptions which could adversely affect our business

and financial results number of our facilities and those of our suppliers our contract manufacturers and our customers are

located in areas that have been affected by natural disasters such as ice and snow storms earthquakes floods or hurricanes
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in the past For example currently our corporate headquarters and many of our customers are located in California California

historically has been vulnerable to natural disasters and other risks such as earthquakes fires and floods which at times

have disrupted the local economy and posed physical risks to our property To mitigate some of this risk certain of our U.S

and international locations are insured up to certain levels against losses and interruptions caused by earthquakes floods

and/or other natural disasters However there can be no guarantee that such insurance may be adequate in the event of

natural disaster and
significant

natural disaster could have material adverse impact on our business operating results and

financial condition

Man-made problems such as cybersecurity attacks computer viruses or terrorism may disrupt our operations and

harm our business reputation and operating results

Despite our implementation of network security measures our network may be vulnerable to cybersecurity attacks computer

viruses break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems Cybersecurity attacks

in particular are evolving and include but are not limited to malicious software attempts to gain unauthorized access to

data and other electronic security
breaches that could lead to disruptions in systems unauthorized release of confidential or

otherwise protected information and corruption of data Any such event could have material adverse effect on our business

operating results and financial condition

Our daily business operations require us to retain sensitive data such as intellectual property proprietary business infor

mation and data related to customers suppliers and business partners within our networking infrastructure The ongoing

maintenance and security of this information is pertinent to the success of our business operations and our strategic goals

and organizations like Ixia are susceptible to multiple variations of attacks on our networks on daily
basis

Our networking infrastructure and related assets may be subject to unauthorized access by hackers employee errors or other

unforeseen activities Any form of unauthorized access to our assets could result in the disruption of business processes

network degradation system downtime along with potential for public exploitation of our critical assets such as intellectual

property proprietary business information and data related to customers suppliers and business partners To the extent

that such disruptions or uncertainties occur delays or cancellations of customer orders the manufacture or shipment of our

products and/or our business operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected resulting in

possible loss of business or brand reputation

In addition the effects of war or acts of terrorism could have material adverse effect on our business operating results and

financial condition The continued threat of terrorism and heightened security and military
action in response to this threat

or any future acts of terrorism may cause further disruption to the economy and create further uncertainties in the economy

Energy shortages such as gas or electricity shortages could have similar negative impacts To the extent that such disrup

tions or uncertainties result in delays or cancellations of customer orders or the manufacture or shipment of our products our

business operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected

Our use of open source software in our products could adversely affect our ability to sell our products and subject

us to possible litigation

Many of our products contain software modules licensed to us by third-party authors under open source licenses If we

combine our proprietary software with open source software in certain manner and then distribute the combined software

we could under certain open source licenses be required to license that combined software under the terms of that open

source license as well as release the source code of the combined software to third parties This could allow third parties to

use our proprietary software at no charge could enable our competitors to create similar products with lower development

effort and time and ultimately could result in loss of product sales and lower revenues for us

Although we monitor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our products to conditions we do not intend the

terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by United States courts and there is risk that these licenses

could be construed in way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our

products From time to time there have been claims against companies that distribute or use open source software in their

products and services asserting that open source software infringes the claimants intellectual property rights We could be

subject to suits by parties claiming infringement of intellectual property rights in what we believe to be licensed open source

software Moreover we cannot assure you that our processes for controlling our use of open source software in our products

will be effective If we are held to have breached the terms of an open source software license we could be required to seek

licenses from third
parties to continue

offering our products to re-engineer our products to discontinue the sale of our prod

ucts if re-engineering could not be accomplished in timely manner to allow third parties to use our products at no charge

under the terms of that open source software license or to make generally available in source code form our proprietary

software any of which could adversely affect our business operating results and financial condition

In addition to risks related to license requirements use of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third

party commercial software as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or assurance of title or controls on
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origin of the software Many of the risks associated with the use of open source software such as the lack of warranties or

assurances of title cannot be eliminated and could if not properly addressed adversely affect our business

Provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws may make it difficult for third party to acquire us despite

the possible benefits to our shareholders

Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to DDDDDD shares oi preferred stock and to determine the price rights

preferences privileges and restrictions including voting rights of those shares without any further vote or action by the

shareholders The rights of the holders of our Common Stock are subject to and may be adversely affected by the
rights

of

the holders of any preferred stock that we may issue The issiance of preferred stock could have the effect of making it more

difficult for third party to acquire majority of our outstandrng voting stock Furthermore some provisions of our articles of

incorporation and bylaws could delay or make more difficult merger tender offer or proxy contest involving us Our articles

of incorporation include provisions that limit the persons who may call special meetings of shareholders and establish ad

vance notice requirements for nominations for election to our Board of Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on

by shareholders at shareholder meetings These and other provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws may have the

effect of delaying deferring or preventing change in our control despite possible benefits to our shareholders may discour

age bids at promium over the market
prico

of our Common Stock and may harm tho market prico of our Common Stock and

the voting and other rights of our shareholders

Our stock price may continue to be volatile

The trading price of our Common Stock has fluctuated substantially in recunt years The trading price may be sublect to future

fluctuations in response to among other events and factors the global economic environment variations in our quar

terly operating results iii the gain or loss of significant orders iv changes in earnings estimates by analysts who cover our

stock changes in our revenue and/or earnings guidance as periodically announced in our earnings calls or press releases

vi announcements of technological innovations and new products by us or our competitors vu changes in domestic and

international economic political and business conditions viii consolidation and general conditions in our industry and ix

changes in our executive management team In addition the stock market in general has experienced extreme price and

volume fluctuations that have affected the market prices for many companies in our industry that have been unrelated to the

operating performance of these companies These market fluctuations have affected and may continue to affect the market

price of our Common Stock

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable

Item Properties

As of December31 2D1 all of our properties are leased and we do not own any real property Our corporate headquarters

are located in Calabasas California where we currently lease approximately B5BDD square feet of space which houses

research and development sales and marketing finance and administration and manufacturing operations This lease

terminates on May31 2D23 with no extension options We also lease office space for sales support marketing operations

and administration in the United Kingdom Ireland Germany rance Finland Sweden Canada South Korea Japan China

Singapore India Malaysia United Arab Emirates Spain and Israel and in various states throughout the United States Ad

ditionally we have leased research and development facilities in Romania India and Canada We believe that our current

facilities will be adequate to meet our needs for the next 12 months or that we will be able to obtain additional space when

and as needed on acceptable terms

Item Legal Proceedings

For information on our legal proceedings see Note 1D to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form iD-K

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer

Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Price Dividends and Related Matters

Ixias Common Stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol XXIA The following table sets forth

the high and low sales prices of our Common Stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market for the following time

periods

High Low

Fiscal 2012

Fourth Quarter
17.40 13.tt

Third Quarter 16.54 11.66

5econd Quarter 13.21 9.95

First Quarter 14.88 9.75

Fiscal 2011

Fourth Quarter 11.77 750

Third Ouarter 13.01 7.15

second Quarter 16.81 12.19

First Quarter 19.02 14.81

Dn March 22 2Q13 the closing sales price reported for our Common Stock was $21.49 per share and as of that date there

were approximately 19 shareholders of record

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our Common Stock and do not anticipate paying any dividends in the

foreseeable future
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The following graph compares the cumulative total return on the Companys Common Stock with the cumulative total returns

of the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq Telecommurications Index for the five-year period commencing January

2008 Ixia is one of the companies that makes up the Nasdaq Telecommunications Index An investment of $100 with

reinvestment of all dividends is assumed to have been made in the Companys Common Stock and in each of the indices on

January 2008 and their relative performance is tracked through December31 2012 These indices are included only for

comparative purposes as required by the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and do not necessarily reflect man

agements opinion that such indices are an appropriate measure of the relative performance of the Companys Common Stock

The stock price performance shown on the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future price performance This graph

shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange

Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into

any filing of Ixia under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Exchange Act

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Ixia the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index
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Use of Proceeds

None

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

None

Item Selected Financial Data

As discussed further in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 15 of this Form 10-K

we have restated our consolidated financial statements to correct certain errors in our previously issued financial statements

These errors principally
related to the manner in which we had

historically
recorded revenues related to our warranty and

software maintenance contracts including for previous implied warranty and software maintenance arrangement with one

of our customers See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information

12/08 12109 12/10 12/11 12112

et.ot 59.03 82.25 97 32 98.83 9.78

57.59 72.97 t6.es 90.30 89.62
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The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analy

sis of Financial Condition and Results of Dperations and our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those con

solidated financial statements The consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the years ended December

31 2012 2011 and 2010 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December31 201 and 2011 are derived from and

are qualified
in their entirety by reference to the Companys audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in

this Form 10-K The consolidated statements of operations data set forth below for the years ended December31 2009 and

2008 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December31 2010 2009 and 2008 have been restated to conform to the

consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K and is presented herein on an unaudited basis

The impact of the restatement increased net income by approximately $2.9 million $1.6 million $3.0 million and $360000 for

the years ended December 31 2011 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

costs and operating espenses

cost of revenues products

Coot of revenues services

Research und devulspmeet

sales and marketing

General sod administrutivo

Amortisation of intangible assets

Acquisition and other related

Restrocturing13

Total costs sod sperating eopenses

Income llssol trsm operations

Interest income and other net

Interest espense5

Other-than-temporary impairment on investments161

Income loss before income taves

Income tax benefitl eopenseM

Wet income IlonsI

2t12 2gti 2gtg 20t9

eesraredl Igesraredl lnesratedl

lUnaudiredl

weighted average
nomber of common

and common equivalent shares oetstanding

Basic

Dileted

72183 69231 65157 62710 65087

84505 7t664 6776g 627t0 65087

Total revenues

Coosniidated statement of Operations

Oata lie thoanands encept per share data

Revenues

Products 330315 249423 227692 146378

services 63119 61947 50625 34357

2otg

Ittenratedl

lUnauditedl

146602

29655

176457413434 311376 279567 169735

71666 56891 54376 36722 32411

10493 6520 6327 3659 4475

96169 75101 72486 53977 49167

117214 87011 79966 60374 59374

45667 33648 35t42 28661 25502

3ttl 5960 7545 11391 5664

11661 1106 2991 6179 1.479

4677 3587 4637

389lt7 276161 272444 205200 178072

24327 35209 6063 24465 116151

2255 2059 10970 2160 6574

721 51 172001 14801

27611 202431

19367 30068 16553 125066 1152841

260931 3355 3723 16183 251

45460 26713 12830 41249 155351

Earnings Ioss per
share

Basic 0.63 0.39 0.20 10.661 0.24

Oilsted 0.59 0.37 0.19 0.66 0.241
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Stock-based compusoatios wcladud is

Cost st revusaus products 423 402 524 478 513

Cost at ruvusaus survicus 162 153 t98 t82 t95

Research sod duvulopmust 6242 4286 St 05 449t 4t66

Soles sod markutiog 5352 3296 3592 2989 34t

t3usersl sod admisiotrativu 7462 4454 3406 2395 2360

12

Is 2009 we adopted sew accoastiog gaidoscu tsr bosisusa cambisstisss Ass resalt trasssctiass csats related to oar acqaisitiass of Cotapalt N2X

yen Wave Aoae ssd BruskisgPaist were espussed as iscurrud rather thai trusted as pan
at the parchose price

cv

Is 2009 20t ssd 2012 oar mossgumest apprasud committed to asd isil istud piss to rustractare sar sperstisos is light st ssr scqaiaitiasa at Cstspalt

N2X sod BruskiogRaist respectively

Is 20t0 we recorded $8.9 milliss ssd $t .0 williss respectively rulatisg is suttlumuot proceeds received tsr daiwa asserted by as sgsieat oar tsrmer

isvestwust manager tsr damages sod lasses rulstisg to oar pruvi500 issuotmesto is sactias rate aucarities with as aggregate par valae at $t 9.0 milliss

sad ii procveds received tsr thu sale at certais at these sactiso rate securities that werv previoaaly writtus-ott

Is December 20t0 we ioaaud $200.0 millios is aggregate priscipol amaavt ot 3.00% casvurtiblu susior sates that mstaru as December 15 20t5 it sot

cossurted Istureas espesoe
c050ista at isturust dau ta the holders of oar sates as well aa the amartizatiso at the assacisted debt isaasncu casts The

ioterest is payable aumi-asnaally as Jose 15 sod December 15 of each
year begissiog sri Jase 15 201 Darisg 20t we made isturest paymesta at $6.0

millias

Dar 2008 sod 2009 ruaalta isclsde pre-tas ather-thas-tumporary impsirroust charge at $15.8 millias sod $2.8 millras respectively to varsisgo related to

oar isveotmeoto is soctiso rate securities Oar 2008 ruaalts alas isciadu
pro-tao athur-ttrao-temparsry impoirmuot charge at $4.4 milliao to esroisga

related to oar isveotmesto is hoods issaud by Lehmas Brothers Holdiaga bc

Is 20t2 mu released $34.8 millios at oar valastios ollawsocu previoaaly uatabliahud agoisat oar U.S deterred too assets Thu 2012 partial releases

related primarily to the out deterred too liabilities recorded as port at thu Asse sod BruakiogRoist ocqaisitioss Is 2009 oar iscomu too uvpesou iocladuo

$2B.t millias charge related primarily to thu uatohliahmust at valastics allawoocu agaioat sur remoisiog out U.S deterred tax assets Is 2008 oar

iscome too uupeuoe iscladea $7.9 millias charge related primarily to the eotsbliohmest st volsotios sllvwoacu ogoisat sar deterred too assets associ

ated with the asroolioed impoirmest capitol loaaea diacoased above

25t2 25i 2010 2009 2000

leesrareol Itestorudl lOestotedl IRestoredl

lLlsauditudl lUsovdiredl

Conoolidatud Balance Sheet Data in thouoasdot

Cash sod cash eqaivolusta 47508 42729 76002 15061 19279t

Short-term iosuotmuuta is marketable aecaritius 26851 56684 51696 0337 9850

Warkiog capitol 227309 234723 256034 40987 21St 57

Loog-term isveatmusto is marketable aucaritieo 31 185608 it 440 53582 3657

Total assets St 9249 634467 589883 309008 328196

Coovurtible 005iar sates 200000 200000 200000

Total liabilities 37t75t 20223t 293467 SOt 09 54640

Total shareholders equity 447498 352236 2964t6 239979 273556

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The fDllDwing discussiDn contains forward-looking Statements that invDlve risks and uncertainties Our actual results cDuld

differ materially frDm those anticipated in these forward-lookng statements as result of many factors many of which are

outside of our control and are difficult for us to forecast or miigate The factors that could cause our actual results to differ

materiahy from those expressed or implied by us in any forward-looking statements contained herein or made elsewhere by or

on behalf of us include the the risks described elsewhere in this Form 10-K and in certain of our other Securities and Exchange

Act Commission filings
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The consolidated results of operations for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 are not necessarily indicative

of the results that may be expected for any future period The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the

consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in Part IV Item 15 of this Form 10-K and in conlunction with

the Risk Factors included in Part Item 1A of this Form 10-K

Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

As discussed further in Notes 14 and 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 15 of this

Form 10-K we have restated our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December31 2011 and 2010 and

our unaudited quarterly financial information for each of the quarters in the year ended December31 2011 and ii for the

first three quarters in the year ended December31 2012 collectively the Restated Periods Specifically we have restated

our consolidated financial statements as the result of certain errors that existed in our previously filed financial statements

related to the manner in which we had historically recorded revenues related to our warranty and software maintenance

contracts including previous implied warranty and software maintenance arrangement with certain customer See Note

15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail

The Company has corrected the manner in which it records revenue for its warranty and software maintenance contracts

and arrangements and will also enhance its documentation related to its revenue recognition policies and practices See

Controls and Procedures included in Part II Item 9A of this Form 10-K

The impact of these errors to the applicable line items in the consolidated financial statements resulting from the restatement

is set forth in Note 15 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements The net impact of the restatement increased net

income by approximately $2.9 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Business Overview

We are leading provider of converged Internet Protocol IP network validation and network visibility solutions Equipment

manufacturers service providers enterprises and government agencies use our solutions to design verify and monitor

broad range of Ethernet Wi-Fi and 3G/LTE equipment and networks Our product solutions consist of our hardware plat

forms such as our chassis interface cards and appliances software application tools and services including our warranty

and maintenance offerings and professional services

During 2012 total revenues increased 32.8% to $413.4 million from $311.4 million in 2011 as we grew sales of our core net

work test products and completed two significant acquisitions We significantly increased our addressable markets expanded

our reach into more service provider enterprise and government customers and established $150.0 million credit facility to

enhance our financial flexibility

Establishment of Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility On December21 2012 we established senior secured revolv

ing credit facility the Credit Facility with certain institutional lenders that provides for an aggregate loan amount of up

to $150.0 million The credit facility is available to be used to among other things fund our working capital needs capital

expenditures and for other general corporate purposes including acquisitions stock repurchases and any partial refinancing

of our convertible senior notes We may also request but are not guaranteed an increase in the credit facility by an amount

of up to $50.0 million The credit facility is scheduled to mature on December 21 2016 subject to acceleration under certain

circumstances during the six-month period beginning on June 15 2015 See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included in this Form 10-K

Acquisition of BreakingPoint Systems Inc On August 24 2012 we completed our acquisition of all of the outstanding shares

of common stock of BreakingPoint Systems Inc BreakingPoint The aggregate cash consideration paid totaled $163.7

million or $150.3 million net of BreakingPoints existing cash and investment balances at the time of the acquisition The

acquisition was funded from our existing cash and investments BreakingPoint is leader in security testing and its solutions

provide global visibility
into emerging threats and applications along with advance insight into the resiliency of an organiza

tions information technology infrastructure under operationally relevant conditions and malicious attacks With this acquisi

tion we have expanded our addressable market broadened our product portfolio
and grown our customer base In addition

we expect to leverage BreakingPoints existing sales channels and assembled workforce including its experienced product

development and sales teams The results of operations of BreakingPoint have been included in our consolidated statements

of operations and cash flows since the date of the acquisition See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements included

in this Form 10-K

Acquisition ofAnue Systems Inc On June 12012 we completed our acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of common

stock of Anue Systems Inc Anue The aggregate consideration paid totaled $1 52.4 million or $148.7 million net of Anues

existing cash and investment balances at the time of the acquisition and is subject to certain post-closing adjustments

including an adjustment based on the final amount of Anues closing net working capital The acquisition was funded from
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our existing cash and investments Anue provides solutions tc monitor and test complex networks including Anues Net Tool

Optimizer solution that efficiently aggregates and filters network traffic to help optimize network monitoring tool usage With

this acquisition we have expanded our addressable market broadened our product portfolio and grown our customer base In

addition we expect to leverage Anues existing sales channels and assembled workforce including its experienced product

development team The results of operations of Anue have been included in our consolidated statements of operations and

cash flows since the date of the acquisition See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K

Acquisition of Veri Wave Inc On July 18 2011 we completed our acquisition of all of the outstanding stock of VeriWave The

purchase price
for VeriWave totaled $15.8 million or $15.6 mIlion net of VeriWaves existing cash and investment balances

at the time of the acquisition The acquisition was funded from our existing cash and cash equivalents VeriWaves test solu

tions validate wireless networks devices and applications by benchmarking and measuring speed quality interoperability

compliance and other pivotal aspects of mobile performance The results of operations of VeriWave have been included in

the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows sine the date of the acquisition

Issuance of Convertible Senior Notes On Oecember 72010 we completed our offering of $200.0 million in aggregate

principal amount of 3.0% Convertible Senior Notes the Notcs due Oeccmber 15 2015 The net proceeds from the offering

after deducting debt issuance costs were $194.0 million See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in

this Form 10-K

Revenues Our revenues are principally derived from the sale and support of our network test and visibility systems

Sales of our network test hardware products primarily consist of traffic generation and analysis hardware platforms contain

ing multi-slot chassis and interface cards Our primary netwo-k test hardware platform is enabled by our operating system

software that is essential to the functionality of the hardware platform Sales of our network visibility hardware products

typically include an integrated purpose-built hardware appliance with essential proprietary software Our software products

consist of comprehensive suite of technology-specific applications for certain of our network test hardware platforms Our

software products are typically installed on and work with these hardware products to further enhance the core functionality

of the overall network test system although some of our software products can be operated independently from our network

test platforms

Our service revenues primarily consist of technical support warranty and software maintenance services related to our

network test and visibility hardware and software products Many of our products include up to one year of these services

with the initial product purchase and our customers may separately purchase extended services for annual or multi-year

periods Our technical support warranty and software maintenance services include assistance with the set-up configuration

and operation of our products repair or replacement of defective products bug fixes and unspecified when and if available

software upgrades For certain network test products our technical support and software maintenance service revenues also

include our Application and Threat Intelligence ATI service which provides comprehensive suite of application protocols

software updates and technical support The ATI service prey des full access to the latest security attacks and application

updates for use in real-world test and assessment scenarios Our customers may purchase the ATI service for annual or multi-

year periods Service revenues also include training and other professional services

Historically total revenues have consisted primarily of revenues from our hardware products During the three years ended

December31 2012 our network test Ethernet interface cards including our Gigabit Ethernet 10 Gigabit Ethernet and

40/1 00 Gigabit Ethernet interface cards represented the majority of our product revenues During 2012 our 10 Gigabit Eth

ernet interface cards continued to be our strongest seller but we also saw significant year-over-year demand for our 40/1 00

Gigabit Ethernet cards as result of network infrastructure upgrades Over the longer term while we expect the sale of our

network test Ethernet interface cards to represent significant amount of our revenues we expect to see some decline as

percentage of total revenues as the sales of our network visibility and other network test solutions increase

Sales to our largest customer Cisco Systems accounted for $55.7 million or 13.5% of our total revenues in 2012 $43.4

million or 14.0% of our total revenues in 2011 and $38.1 million or 13.7% of our total revenues in 2010 To date we have

generated the majority of our revenues from sales to network equipment manufacturers but this percentage has been declin

ing over the past several years While we expect that we will continue to have some customer concentration with network

equipment manufacturers for the foreseeable future we expect to continue to see some declines as percentage of total

revenues as we continue to sell our products to wider variety and increasing number of service provider enterprise and

government customers To the extent that we develop broader and more diverse customer base our reliance on any one

customer or customer type should diminish We also expect that our 2012 acquisitions of Anue and BreakingPoint will further

diversify our customer base
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From geographic perspective we generated revenues from shipments to international locations of $171.4 million or 41.4%

of our total revenues in 2012 $153.9 million or 49.4% of our total revenues in 2011 and $136.7 million or 49.1% of our

total revenues in 2010 During 2012 our total revenues generafed from shipments to international locations decreased in

percentage terms when compared to the same periods in 2011 and 2010 due primarily
to our 2012 acquisitions of Anue

and BreakingPoint which have higher concentration of revenue in the United States as compared to Ixia Over the next 12

months we expect to leverage and expand our international sales force to sell our Anue and BreakingPoint products to more

global customer base and as result we expect to increase our percentage of revenue from shipments to international loca

tions over time Total revenues from product shipments to Japan were $43.6 million or 10.6% of our total revenues in 2012

$29.4 million or 9.4% of our total revenues in 2011 and $24.6 million or 8.8% of our total revenues in 2010

Stock-Based Compensation Share-based payments including grants of stock options restricted stock units and employee

stock purchase rights are required to be recognized in our financial statements based on the estimated fair values for ac

counting purposes on the grant date For the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 stock-based compensation

expense was $19.6 million $12.6 million and $12.9 million respectively Our stock-based compensation expense increased

for the year ended December31 2012 as compared to 2011 due in part to the incremental impact of the share-based

awards granted to the employees related to our 2012 acquisitions of Anue and BreakingPoint ii an increase in the number of

participants in our employee stock purchase plan and iii the full recognition during 2012 of expense for certain performance-

based awards with no such comparable costs in 2011 i.e in 2011 these performance-based awards based on 2011 and 2012

performance were previously not expected to be earnedY The aggregate balance of gross unrecognized stock-based compen

sation to be expensed in the years 2013 through 2016 related to unvested share-based awards as of December 31 2012 was

approximately $33.6 million To the extent that we grant additional share-based awards future expense may increase by the

additional unearned compensation resulting from those grants We anticipate that we will continue to grant additional share-

based awards in the future as part
of our long-term incentive compensation programs

The impact of future grants cannot be

estimated at this time because it will depend on number of factors including the amount of share-based awards granted

and the then current fair values of such awards for accounting purposes

Cost of Revenues Our cost of revenues related to the sale of our hardware and software products includes materials

payments to third-party contract manufacturers royalties and salaries and other expenses related to our manufacturing

and supply operations personnel We outsource the majority of our manufacturing operations and we conduct supply chain

management quality assurance documentation control shipping and some final assembly and testing at our facilities in

Calabasas California Austin Texas and Penang Malaysia Accordingly significant portion of our cost of revenues related

to our products consists of payments to our contract manufacturers Cost of revenues related to the provision of services

includes salaries and other expenses associated with technical support services professional services and the warranty cost

of hardware that is replaced or repaired during the warranty coverage period Cost of revenues does not include the amortiza

tion of purchased technology related to our acquisitions of certain businesses product lines and technologies of $20.3 million

$10.8 million and $12.8 million for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively which are included

within our Amortization of Intangible Assets line item on our consolidated statements of operations

Our cost of revenues as percentage of total revenues is primarily affected by the following factors

our pricing policies
and those of our competitors

the pricing we are able to obtain from our component suppliers and contract manufacturers

the mix of customers and sales channels through which our products are sold

the mix of our products sold such as the mix of software versus hardware product sales

new product introductions by us and by our competitors

demand for and quality of our products and

shipment volume

In the near term although we anticipate
that our cost of revenues as percentage of total revenues will remain relatively flat we

expect to continue to experience pricing pressure on larger transactions and from larger customers as result of competition
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Operating Expenses Our operating expenses are generally recognized when incurred and consist of research and develop

ment sales and marketing general and administrative amortiration of intangible assets acquisition and other related

costs and
restructuring expenses In dollar terms we expect total operating expenses excluding stock-based compensation

expense discussed above and amortization of intangible assets acquisition and other related and restructuring expenses

discussed below to increase in 2013 when compared to 2012 due primarily to full year of expenses from our 2012 acquisi

tions of Anue and BreakingPoint

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel costs related to the design devel

opment testing
and enhancement of our products We expense our research and development costs as they are incurred

We also capitalize and depreciate over five-year period costs of our products used for internal purposes

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel engaged in direct sales

sales support and marketing functions as well as tradeshow promotional and advertising expenditures We also capital

ize and depreciate over two-year period costs of our products used for sales and marketing activities including product

demonstrations for potential customers

Generalandadrninistrative expenses consist
primarily of salaries and related expenses for certain executive finance

legal human resources information technology and administrative personnel as well as professional fees e.g legal and

accounting facility costs related to our corporate headquarters insurance costs and other general corporate expenses

Amortization of intangible assets consists of the purchase price
of various intangible assets over their estimated useful

lives We evaluate our identifiable definite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets for impairment when

events or changes in circumstances indicate that potential impairment may exist If an assets carrying value exceeds its

estimated future undiscounted cash flows during its remairung useful life an impairment charge would be recorded to the

extent that the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value in the period the impairment occurred We also evaluate

the
recoverability

of our goodwill on an annual basis or if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment

in the value of goodwill recorded on our balance sheet may exist Impairment losses are recorded to the extent that the

carrying value of the goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value The future amortization expense of acquired intangible

assets depends on number of factors including the extent to which we acquire additional businesses technologies or

product lines or are required to record impairment charges related to our acquired intangible assets See Note to the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K

Acquisition and of her related costs are expensed as incurred and consist
primarily of transaction and integration related costs

such as success-based banking fees professional fees for legal accounting tax due diligence valuation and other related

services change in control payments amortization of deferred consideration consulting fees required regulatory costs cer

tain employee facility and infrastructure transition costs and other related expenses We expect our acquisition and other

related expenses to fluctuate over time based on the timing of our acquisitions and related integration activities

Restrucfunng expenses consist primarily of employee severance costs and other related charges as well as facility-relat

ed charges to exit certain locations See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K

Interest income and other net represents interest on cash and variety of securities including money market funds U.S

government and government agency debt securities corporate debt securities and auction rate securities realized gains/

losses on the sale of investment securities certain foreign currency gains and losses and other non-operating items such as

legal
settlement proceeds

Interest expense consists of interest due to the holders of our 3.00% convertible senior notes issued in December 2010 and

interest expense pertaining to our Credit
Facility established in December 2012 as well as the amortization of the associated

debt issuance costs See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K

Income Tax is determined based on the amount of earnings and enacted federal state and foreign tax rates adjusted for

allowable credits and deductions and for other effects of equity compensation plans Our income tax provision may be

significantly affected by changes to our estimates for tax in jurisdictions in which we operate and other estimates utilized in

determining the global effective tax rate Actual results may also differ from our estimates based on changes in economic

conditions Such changes could have substantial impact on the income tax provision Our income tax provision could also be

significantly impacted by estimates surrounding our uncertain tax positions and the recording of valuation allowances against

certain deferred tax assets and changes to these valuation allowances in future periods We reevaluate the judgments sur

rounding our estimates and make as appropriate each reporting period
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During the year ended December31 2012 we released $34.8 million of our valuation allowance previously established

against our U.S deterred tax assets Managements conclusion to release the valuation allowance was due to among other

reasons the three-year cumulative pre-tax accounting income realized in the U.S the
significant

utilization of its net op

erating loss carryfowards and RD credits during 2011 and 2012 and the significant net deterred tax liabilities recorded

in connection with the 2012 acquisitions of Anue and BreakingPoint We continue to maintain valuation allowance in the

amount of $2.0 million against our U.S deferred tax assets the release of the remaining valuation allowance or portion

thereof will have favorable impact on our effective tax rate We will continue to monitor the need for valuation allowance

each reporting period and at this time it is uncertain when such release may occur

Dn January 22013 the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was enacted which includes reinstatement of the federal

research and development credit for the tax year ended December31 2012 We estimate that our tax credit for 2012 will be

approximately $2.0 million to $2.5 million which we will record as discrete benefit in the first quarter of 2013 when the law

was enacted

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Managements discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated

financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect

the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities

On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates and judgments including those related to revenue recognition allowance for

doubtful accounts write-downs for obsolete inventory income taxes acquisition purchase price allocation impairments of

long-lived assets and marketable securities stock-based compensation and contingencies and litigation
We base our esti

mates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

Actual results may differ materially from these estimates

We apply the following critical accounting policies in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition Policy We recognize revenue as discussed in Revenue Recognition section of Note ito Consoli

dated Financial Statements

Acquisition Purchase Price Allocation When we acquire business product line or rights to product or technology we

allocate the purchase price to the various tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on

their estimated fair values Determining the fair value of certain assets and liabilities acquired is subjective in nature

and often involves the use of significant
estimates and assumptions some of which may be based in part on historical

experience and information obtained from the management of the acquired business and are inherently uncertain Many

of the estimates and assumptions used to determine fair values such as those for purchased technologies and customer

relationships are made based on forecasted information and discount rates To assist in the purchase price allocation

process as well as the determination of estimated useful lives of acquired intangible assets we may obtain appraisals

from valuation specialists Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity

of such estimates and assumptions

Write-Down of Obsolete Inventory We write down inventory for estimated obsolescence excessive quantities or unmar

ketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon as

sumptions about future demand and market conditions If actual future demand is less favorable than our initial estimate

additional inventory write-downs may be required Once written down the reserves are not reversed until inventory is sold

or disposed of

Allowance for DoubtfulAccounts We review the allowance for doubtful accounts monthly and provisions are made upon

specific review of all significant past due receivables For those receivables not specifically reviewed provisions are

provided at general rate that is determined based on historical write-off experience our assessment of current customer

information and other relevant data Account balances are charged off against the allowance when we believe it is prob

able the receivable will not be recovered

Income Taxes We operate in numerous states and countries through our various subsidiaries and must allocate our

income expenses and earnings under the various laws and regulations of each of these taxing jurisdictions Accordingly

our provision for income taxes represents our total estimate of the liability that we have incurred in doing business each

year in all of our locations Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary differences between the carry

ing amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases and are stated at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when

taxes are actually paid or recovered In determining whether we need to record valuation allowance against our deferred

tax assets management must make number of estimates assumptions and judgments including estimates of future
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earnings and taxable income We establish valuation allowance to reduce deterred tax assets to the amount we believe

is more likely than not to be realized The determination to record or release valuation allowances requires significant

judgment During 2012 management reevaluated its need for full valuation allowance against its U.S deferred tax

assets and concluded that it is more likely than not that all of its U.S deferred tax assets with the exception of its U.S

deferred tax assets for capital loss carryforwards will be realized Managements conclusion to release the valuation

allowance was due to among other reasons the three-year cumulative pre-tax accounting income realized in the U.S

ii the significant utilization of its net operating loss carryfowards and RD credits during 2011 and 2012 and iii the

significant net deferred tax liabilities recorded in connecticn with the 2012 acquisitions of Anue and BreakingPoint

Annually we file tax returns that represent our filing positions with each jurisdiction and settle our return liabilities Each

jurisdiction has the
right to audit those returns and may take different positions with respect to income and expense

allocations and taxable earnings determinations We may provide for estimated liabilities in our consolidated financial

statements associated with uncertain tax return filing posilions that are subject to audit by various tax authorities

Because the determinations of our annual provisions are subject to assumptions judgments and estimates it is likely that

actual results may vary from those recognized in our consoudated financial statements As result additions to or reduc

tions of income tax expense will occur each year for prior ieporting periods as our estimates or judgments change or as

actual tax returns and tax audits are settled We recognize any such
prior year adjustment in the discrete quarterly period

in which it is determined

Impairment of Long-LivedAssets We evaluate our identifiable definite life intangible assets and other
long-lived assets

for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that potential impairment may exist We first esti

mate the undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the use and ultimate disposition of the applicable asset during its

estimated remaining useful life To the extent that the estimated undiscounted cash flows fall below the carrying value of

the related intangible or other long lived asset we write-down the asset to its estimated fair value Fair value is generally

determined based on discounted cash flows Determining the fair value based on discounted cash flows is subjective in

nature and often involves the use of
significant estimates and assumptions about future results and discount rates We

evaluate the
recoverability

of our goodwill on an annual basis or if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an im

pairment in the value of goodwill recorded on our balance sheet may exist Impairment losses are recorded to the extent

that the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value We completed our annual goodwill impairment

test of our single reporting unit in the fourth quarter of 2012 and determined that there was no impairment

Stock-Based Compensation We record stock-based compensation as discussed in Stock-based Compensation section

of Note ito Consolidated Financial Statements

lmpairmentof Marketable Securities We periodically review our markelable securities for impairment If we conclude

that any of our investments are impaired we determine whether such impairment is other-than-temporary Factors we

consider to make such determination include among others the
severity

of the impairment the reason for the decline in

value and the potential recovery period If any impairment is considered other-than-temporary we write down the asset

to its fair value and take charge to earnings for the portion of the write-down related to credit losses with the balance if

any recorded to other comprehensive income

Contingencies andLitigation We evaluate contingent Iiabiities including threatened or pending litigation
and record

accruals when the loss is deemed probable and the liability can reasonably be estimated We make these assessments

based on the facts and circumstances of each situation and in some instances based in part on the advice of outside legal

counsel
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain statement of operations data as percentage of total revenues for the periods indicated

and reflects the impact of the restatement of the prior period consolidated financial statements as described in Restatement

of Previously Issued Financial Statements above and Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2012 2011 2010

Restated Restated

Reven ass

Prsdacts
799% tt.1% 91.9%

Services
26.1 19.9 19.2

Tots revesses
160.0 itt.t ltt.t

casts sod sperating espenses

Cast of revenses pradacts

17.3 it.2 19.5

Cast at recesses services
2.5 21 2.3

Research and deveiapmest
23.7 24.2 26.0

Sses sod marketing
29.4 27.9 29.7

Genera sod sdmisistrstive
it .6 lt.8 12.6

Amertisstien of istangibe assets
7.3 5.1 6.3

Acqoisitian sod other reNted
2.9 6.4 1.1

Reotroctstisg
i.e

t.3

Tots casts sod operating eopenses
94.1 88.7 97.9

ncame from operations
5.9 11.3 2.2

stalest income sod other set
9.5 9.7 3.9

Interest espesse
1.7 2.3 0.2

scams before income tases
4.7 9.7 5.9

ncsme Iso benefit eopesse
6.31 1.1 1.3

Net iscsme
11.6% 8.6% 4.6%

Stsck-bsaed compensation incsded in

Cast ef reveeses pradscts
0.1% 9.1% 6.2%

Cost at revenees services
6.0 6.0 6.6

Research and deveNpment
1.5 1.4 1.9

SNes and marketing
1.3 ii 1.3

Genera and administrative
1.9 1.4 1.2

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2012 and 2011

As result of our acquisitions of Anue Systems Inc Anue on June 2012 and BreakingPoint Systems Inc Breaking-

Point on August 24 2012 the 2012 AcquisitionsY our 2012 consolidated results of operations include the financial results

of these acquisitions from their respective acquisition dates To assist the readers of our financial statements in reviewing our

year-over-year
consolidated operating results we have estimated the impacts of these acquisitions for the applicable periods

in the related statement of operations sections below

Revenues In 2012 total revenues increased 32.8% to $413.4 million from $311.4 million in 2011 Total revenues for 2012 in

cluded $54.9 million related to the 2012 Acquisitions Excluding the revenues from our 2012 Acquisitions revenues increased

15.1% to $358.5 million in 2012 primarily due to $36.7 million increase in shipments of our hardware products primarily our

core network test 10 Gigabit and 40/1 00 Gigabit Ethernet interface cards and our lxVeriwave solutions and an increase in the

ratable recognition of our revenues from initial and extended technical support warranty and software maintenance services

Cost of Revenues As percentage of total revenues our total cost of revenues decreased to 19.8% in 2012 from 20.3% in

2011 Excluding the impact of our 2012 Acquisitions our cost of revenues as percentage of total revenues in 2012 increased

slightly to 20.8% primarily
due to increases in personnel-related costs attributable to professional services and technical

support
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Research and Development Expenses In 2012 research and development expenses increased 30.7% to $98.2 million from

$75.1 million in 2011 As result of our 2012 Acquisitions our research and development expenses in 2012 included approxi

mately $11.4 million related to the research and development activities of the acquired operations Excluding the incremental

research and development operating costs related to the 2012 Acquisitions and stock-based compensation expenses of $6.2

million and $4.3 million for 2012 and 2011 respectively research and development expenses in 2012 increased 13.8% to

$80.6 million compared to $70.8 million in 2011 This increase was primarily due to an increase in compensation and related

employee costs of $9.4 million partially offset by one-time charge of $900000 incurred in the first quarter of 2011 to ter

minate and settle product development contract The increase in compensation and related employee costs was primarily

result of additional investments in our product development teams including the Wi-Fi development team added as part
of

our acquisition of VeriWave in July 2011 and our teams in the United States Romania and India and ii higher bonus expense

as our 2012 performance exceeded that of 2011 when compared to the applicable annual company-wide objectives

Sales and Marketing Expenses In 2012 sales and marketing expenses increased 34.7% to $117.2 million from $87.0 million

in 2011 As result of our 2012 Acquisitions our sales and marketing expenses in 2012 included approximately $19.0 mil
lion related to the sales and marketing activities of the acquired operations Excluding the incremental sales and marketing

operating costs related to the 2012 Acquisitions and stock-bated compensation expenses of $5.4 million and $3.3 million for

2012 and 2011 respectively sales and marketing expenses increased 11.0% to $92.8 million compared to $83.7 million in

2011 This increase was primarily due to an increase in compensation and related employee costs including travel of $7.7

million and higher depreciation expense of $969000 primariy related to an increase in the number of our demonstration

units in the field The increase in compensation and related employee costs was primarily due to higher sales commissions

as revenue levels increased in 2012 over the same period in the prior year and higher salaries due in part to annual merit

increases in 2012 and an increase in 2012 in the number of our sales personnel

General andAdministrative Expenses In 2012 general and administrative expenses increased 35.5% to $45.6 million

from $33.6 million in 2011 As result of our 2012 Acquisitions our general and administrative expenses in 2012 included

approximately $2.6 million related to the general and administrative activities of the acquired operations Our general and

administrative expenditures in 2012 also included one-time charges of $1.7 million incurred in the first quarter of 2012 in

connection with the departure of our former CEO and $401 00C incurred in the second quarter of 2012 to settle legal matter

and stock-based compensation expenses of $7.5 million and $4.5 million for 2012 and 2011 respectively Excluding these one
time charges the incremental general and administrative costs related to the 2012 Acquisitions and stock-based compensa
tion expenses general and administrative expenses in 2012 increased 14.8% to $33.5 million compared to $29.2 million in

2011 This increase was primarily due to an increase in compensation and related employee costs of $2.8 million which was
due in part to higher bonus expense in the 2012 period as oir 2012 performance exceeded that of 2011 when compared to

the applicable annual company-wide objectives

Amortization of IntangibleAssets In 2012 amortization of intangible assets increased 87.8% to $30.0 million from $16.0

million in 2011 These increases were primarily due to the incremental amortization of intangibles related to our acquisi

tions of VeriWave in July 2011 Anue in June 2012 and BreakingPoint in August 2012 as partially offset by the completion of

amortization periods for certain intangible assets

Acquisition and Other Related Expenses Acquisition and other related expenses for 2012 and 2011 were $11.9 million and

$1.1 million respectively For 2012 acquisition and other related expenses were principally due to our 2012 Acquisitions

and consisted of transaction and integration related costs such as success-based banking fees professional fees for legal

accounting and tax services integration related consulting fees amortization of deferred consideration payable to certain

pre-acquisition employees of BreakingPoint certain employee facility and infrastructure costs and other acquisition-related

costs For 2011 acquisition and other related expenses were principally due to our acquisition of VeriWave and consisted pri

marily of professional fees for legal due diligence and valuation services certain employee transition costs and other related

costs For additional information see Note to Consolidated Financial Statements

Restructunng Restructuring expenses for 2012 totaled $4.1 million and consisted
primarily of one-time employee termination

benefits costs related to the closure of our office in Melbourne Australia and other associated costs During the third quar
ter of 2012 our management approved committed to and initiated plan to restructure our operations following our August

2012 acquisition of BreakingPoint the BreakingPoint Restructtring The BreakingPoint Restructuring was substantially

completed during the fourth quarter of 2012 and included net reduction in force of approximately 29 positions primarily

impacting our research and development team in Melbourne Ajstralia There were no restructuring expenses incurred in

2011 For additional information see Note to Consolidated Financial Statements

Interest Income and Other Net Interest and other income net i-icreased to $2.3 million in 2012 from $2.1 million in 2011
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Interest expense Interest expense including the amortization of debt issuance cosfs was $7.2 million for each of 2012 and

2011 and related to our convertible senior notes issued during December 2010 Interest expense including the amortization

of debt issuance costs pertaining to our Credit Facility was not significant for 2012 For additional informaf ion see Note to

Consolidated Financial Statements

Income Tax Expense Income tax benefit was $26.1 million or an effective rate of 134.7% in 2012 as compared fo an income

tax expense of $3.4 million or an effective rate of 11.2% in 2011 The decrease in our overall tax expense was primarily due

to fhe $34.8 million partial
release of valuation allowances during 2012

Our effective tax rate also differs from the federal statutory rate due to state taxes significant permanent differences and

adjustments to our valuation allowance Significant permanent differences arise due to research and development credits

foreign tax rate benefits and stock-based compensation expense that are not expected to generate tax deduction such as

stock-based compensation expenses on grants to foreign employees offset by tax benefits from disqualifying dispositions For

additional information see Note to Consolidated Financial Statements

Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent primarily on the generation of future taxable income In considering the

need for valuation allowance we consider our historical as well as future prolected taxable income along with other

objectively verifiable evidence

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2011 and 2010

Revenues In 2011 total revenues increased 11.8% to $311.4 million from $278.5 million in 2010 This increase was primarily

due to an $11.9 million increase in shipments of our hardware products primarily our 10 Gigabit and 40/1 00 Gigabit Ethernet

interface cards and an increase in the ratable recognition of our revenues from initial and extended technical support war

ranty and software maintenance services Additionally we adopted new revenue recognition guidance in the first quarter

of 2011 on prospective basis i.e prior period amounts were not adjusted for applicable arrangements originating or

materially modified on or after January 2011 Had we recognized revenue in manner consistent with our policies prior
to

January 2011 our total revenues for 2011 would have been reduced by approximately 3% For additional information with

respect to revenue recognition see Note ito the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K

Cost of Revenues As percentage of total revenues our total cost of revenues decreased to 20.3% in 2011 from 21.8%

in 2010 The decrease in our total cost of revenues as percentage of total revenues was principally
due to decrease

in royalty payments as we were no longer obligated to pay royalties on certain terminated contracts and the leverage

gained on certain fixed cost components within our cost of revenues primarily for salaries and other expenses related to our

manufacturing and supply operations and to technical support personnel which increased 2.8% on year-over-year basis

compared to the 11.8% increase in total revenues over the same period

Research and Development Expenses In 2011 research and development expenses increased 3.@% to $75.1 million from

$72.5 million in 2010 This increase was primarily
due to an increase in compensation and related employee costs of $2.2

million one-time charge of $900000 incurred in the first quarter of 2011 to terminate and settle product development

contract and higher depreciation expense of $737000 primarily related to an increase in development equipment in our labs

in Romania India and the U.S The increases were partially offset by decrease in consulting costs of $946000 primarily

in India and decrease in stock-based compensation expense of $908000 The net increase in compensation and related

employee costs was primarily
due to an increase in the number of our international research and development personnel par

ticularly in Romania partially
offset by decrease in bonus expense as we did not fully achieve our company-wide financial

targets for 2011

Sales and Marketing Expenses In 2011 sales and marketing expenses
increased 8.8% to $87.0 million from $80.0 million in

2010 This increase was primarily
due to an increase in compensation and related employee costs including travel of $3.4

million and higher depreciation expense of $1.9 million primarily related to an increase in the number of our demonstration

units in the field The net increase in compensation and related employee costs was primarily due to the increase in the num

ber of our sales personnel partially
offset by decrease in bonus expense for non-commissioned employees and decrease

in commission expense principally
due to lower amount of commissions earned at accelerated rates when compared to the

prior year

General andAdministrative Expenses In 2011 general and administrative expenses decreased 4.3% to $33.6 million from

$35.1 million in 2010 This decrease was primarily
due to decrease in litigation expenses and other legal

fees of $2.8 mil

lion partially
offset by an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $1.0 million

Amortization of IntangibleAssets In 2011 amortization of intangible assets decreased 8.6% to $16.0 million from $17.5 mil

lion in 2010 The decrease is primarily
related to the completion of amortization periods for certain intangible assets partially

offset by the incremental increase in amortization of intangibles related to the acquisition of VeriWave
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Acquisition and Other Related Expenses Acquisition and other related expenses for 2011 and 2010 were $1.1 million and $3.0

million respectively For 2011 acquisition and other related expenses were principally due to our acquisition of VeriWave and

consisted primarily of professional fees for legal due diligence and valuation services certain employee transition costs and

other related costs For 2010 acquisition and other related expenses conssted primarily of employee facility and infrastruc

ture transition costs as well as professional fees attributable to our 2009 acquisitions For additional information see Note

to Consolidated Financial Statements

Restructunng There were no restructuring expenses incurred in 2011 Restructuring expenses for 2010 totaled $3.6 million

and consisted primarily of employee severance costs related 10 the restructuring of our operations in connection with our

acquisition of N2X the N2X Restructuring The N2X Restructuring was initiated and completed during the first quarter of

2010 and included net reduction in force of approximately 83 positions which represented approximately 7% of our world

wide work force including contractors at the beginning of the first quarter of 2010 For additional information see Note to

Consolidated Financial Statements

Interest Income and Other Nec Interest and other income ne decreased to $2.1 million in 2011 from $11.0 million in 2010

This significant decrease was primarily due to an $8.9 million favorable settlement with former investment manager in the

first quarter of 2010 related to our purchase in prior periods certain investments in auction rate securities with an aggre

gate par value of $19.0 million that had been substantially wrtten down

Interest expense Interest expense including the amortization of debt issuance costs for 2011 and 2010 was $7.2 million and

$480000 respectively and related to our convertible senior notes issued during December2010 For additional information

see Note to Consolidated Financial Statements

Other-than-temporary Impairment on Investments There were no other-than-temporary impairment charges on investments

recorded in 2011 and 2010

Income Tax Expense Income tax expense decreased to $3.4 million or an effective rate of 11.2% in 2011 from $3.7 million

or an effective rate of 22.5% in 2010 The decrease in our overall tax expense was primarily due to the release of certain tax

reserves in the current year

Our effective tax rate of 11.2% differs from the federal statutcry rate of 35% primarily due to foreign income taxes provided

at lower rates as well as state taxes and significant permanert differences Significant permanent differences arise due to

research and development credits and stock-based compensation expense that is not expected to generate tax deduction

such as stock-based compensation expense on grants to foreign employees offset by tax benefits from disqualifying disposi

tions For additional information see Note to Consolidated Financial Stalements

Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent primarily oi the generation of future taxable income In considering the

need for valuation allowance we consider our historical as well as future projected taxable income along with other

objectively verifiable evidence

During 20112010 and 2009 management evaluated the need for full valuation allowance of $36.8 million $36.0 million

and $34.8 million respectively against our net U.S deferred tax assets and concluded that full valuation allowance against

our net U.S deferred tax assets was warranted due to among other reasons the realized cumulative accounting losses

sustained in the U.S the taxable losses incurred in the U.S in 2010 and 2009 and iii our uncertainty with respect to gen
erating future U.S taxable income in the near term given our recently completed U.S projections and number of inherent

uncertainties such as the future level of U.S tax deductions from our share-based awards
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have funded our operations with our cash balances generated primarily
from operations and proceeds from our October

2000 initial public offering IPO our December 2010 convertible debt offering and exercises of share-based awards

The following table sets forth our cash and short- and long-term investments as of December31 2012 2011 and 2010 in

thousands

As of December 31

2012 2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents
47508 42729 76082

Short-term marketable securities 126851 56684 151696

Long-term marketable securities 3119 85608 11440

177478 385021 339218

Our cash cash equivalents and short- and long-term investments when viewed as whole decreased to $177.5 million as of De

cember 31 2012 from $385.0 million as of December31 2011 primarily due to the $299.0 million of net cash used for our 2012

Acquisitions i.e Anue in the second quarter of 2012 for $148.3 million and BreakingPoint in the third quarter of 2012 for $1 50.7

million and capital expenditures of $17.7 million These amounts were partially
offset by the $80.3 million in net cash provided

by our operating activities and $26.6 million of cash generated from the exercises of share-based option awards

Our cash cash equivalents and short- and long-term investments when viewed as whole increased to $385.0 million as of

December31 2011 from $339.2 million as of December31 2010 primarily due to $61.3 million in net cash provided by our

operating activities and $16.7 million of cash generated from exercises of share-based awards partially offset by $15.6 mil

lion of net cash used to acquire VeriWave in the 2011 third quarter and capital expenditures of $1 5.3 million

Of our total cash cash equivalents and short- and long-term investments $22.5 million and $26.9 million was held outside of the

United States in various foreign subsidiaries as of December31 2012 and December31 2011 respectively Under current tax

laws and regulations if our cash cash equivalents or investments associated with the subsidiaries undistributed earnings were

to be
repatriated

in the form of dividends or deemed distributions we would be subject to additional U.S income taxes and for

eign withholding taxes However barring unforeseen circumstances we consider these funds permanently invested in our foreign

operations and do not intend to repatriate
them We had no exposure to European sovereign debt as of December31 2012

The following table sets forth our summary cash flows for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 in thousands

Year Ended December31

2012 2011 2010

Cash provided by operating activities 80314 61331 50429

Cash uoed in investing activities 1104216 11114241 21 3.7891

Cash provided by financing activities 28681 16740 224381

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Operating cash inflows are principally provided by cash collections on sales to our customers Our primary uses of cash from

operating activities are for personnel-related expenditures product costs and facility-related payments Going forward our

cash flows from operating activities will be impacted by the extent to which we grow our customer sales ii the extent to

which we increase our headcount and enhance our infrastructure to generate additional business develop new products and

features and support our growth iii our working capital management and iv interest paid to service our long-term debt

See Note to Consolidated Financial Statements

Cash provided by operating activities was $80.3 million for the year ended December31 2012 compared to $61.3 million for

the year ended December 31 2011 This increase in cash flow generated from operations was primarily
due to $17.4 million

increase related to net working capital changes in 2012 as compared to 2011 The working capital changes were principally

due to the timing of payments of accounts payable and accrued liabilities i.e higher accrued balances as of December

31 2012 as compared to December31 2011 such as the higher bonus payables as of December31 2012 as compared

to December31 2011 and an increase in deferred revenues in 2012 as compared to 2011 primarily due to an increase in

extended warranty and software maintenance contracts in 2012 as compared to 2011 These increases in working capital

were partially offset by the increase in our accounts receivable balances in 2012 when compared to 2011 due primarily to the

higher sales levels in 201
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Cash provided by operating activities was $61.3 million for the year ended December31 2011 compared to $50.4 million

for the year ended December31 2010 This increase in cash Oow generated from operations was primarily due to better

overall net operating results in 2011 as compared to 2010 driven by $32.9 million increase in sales which contributed to an

increase in net income during the same period of $13.9 million

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Our cash inflow from investing activities principally relates to proceeds from the sale and maturities of our investments in

marketable securities Our primary uses of cash from investing activities are for payments to acquire products technolo

gies and businesses purchases of marketable security investments and capital expenditures to support our growth Going

forward we expect our cash flows from investing activities to fluctuate based on the number of product technology and/or

business acquisitions if any we close using cash and the timing of our sales maturities and purchases of marketable securi

ties

Cash used in investing activities was $104.2 million and $111.4 million for the years ended December31 2012 and 2011

respectively Excluding marketable security purchases and proceeds net cash used in investing activities was $317.5 million

and $31.5 million in 2012 and 2011 respectively The increase in net cash used in 2012 was primarily due to the 2012 Acquisi

tions which resulted in aggregate cash used net of cash acquired of $299.0 million

Cash used in investing activities was $111.4 million and $213.8 million for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively This decrease in cash flow used in investing activities was primarily due to $118.8 million decrease in net

purchases of marketable securities as we invested the proceeds from the December 2010 issuance of our convertible senior

notes in 2010 This decrease was partially offset by $1 5.6 mil ion in cash used net of cash acquired in connection with our

acquisition of VeriWave in the 2011 third quarter

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Between our IPO in October 2000 and December 2010 our cash inflow from financing activities had been principally related

to proceeds from the exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase plan options On December 2010 we raised

$194.0 million in net proceeds from the issuance of convertible senior notes On December 21 2012 we entered into credit

agreement under which we established senior secured revo ving credit
facility the Credit Facility with certain institution

al lenders that provides for an aggregate loan amount of up to $1 50.0 million No amounts were drawn down under this Credit

Facility as of December31 2012 Our cash outflows from financing activities have primarily related to our stock buyback

programs Going forward we expect our cash flows from financing activities to fluctuate based on the number of exercises

of share-based awards which is
partially dependent on the performance of our stock price ii the utilization of our Credit

Facility and iii any repurchases of our common stock under our existing $25 million stock repurchase program If deemed ap
propriate and approved by our Board of Directors we may raise

capital through additional debt or equity financings refinance

our existing debt or initiate further stock buyback programs

Cash provided by financing activities was $28.7 million and $16.7 million for the years ended December31 2012 and 2011

respectively This increase in cash flow provided by financing activities was primarily due to $9.9 million increase in pro

ceeds received from exercises of share-based awards partially offset by $947000 payment of debt issuance costs related

to our Credit Facility established in December 2012

Cash provided by financing activities was $1 6.7 million and $224.4 million tor the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively This decrease in cash flow provided by financing activities was primarily due to $194.0 million of net proceeds

received from the issuance of senior convertible notes during December 2010 and lii an $11.6 million decrease in proceeds

received from exercises of share-based awards

We believe that our existing balances of cash and cash equivalents investments and cash flows expected to be generated

from our operations and borrowings available under our Credit Facility established in December 2012 will be sufficient to

satisfy our operating requirements for at least the next 12 months Nonetheless we may seek additional sources of capital

as necessary or appropriate to fund acquisitions or to otherwise finance our growth or operations however there can be no

assurance that such funds if needed will be available on favcrable terms if at all Our access to the capital markets to raise

funds through the sale of equity or debt securities is subject 1.0 various factors including the conditions in the U.S
capital

markets and the timely filing of our periodic reports with the Commission In addition our $200 million convertible senior

notes have various default provisions which could accelerate repayment and adversely impact our liquidity

Our access to the
capital markets to raise funds through the sale of equity or debt securities is subject to various factors

including the timely filing of our periodic reports with the Commission and our failure to timely file our Annual Report on Form

10-K for the year ended December 31 2012 with the Commission currently limits our ability to access the
capital markets

using short-form registration
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Financial Commitments

Our significant
financial commitments at December 31 2012 are as follows in thousands

Less than Mote than

Total Teat t-3 Years 3.5 Yeats Yeats Other

Operating
leases1 42101 10258 14032 5413 12998

Purchase obiigations 21834 21834

Net liability for uncertain tax positions0i 7541 7547

Convertible senior notes Principal and interestl 217861 6000 211867

289949 38092 225899 5413 12998 7547

Mi Minimum lease payments have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $1.1 million due in the future under noncancelable subleases See Note

lOts Consolidated Financial Statements

121 Purchase obligations in the table above consist of purchase orders issued to certain of our contract manufacturers in the normal course of busineso to

purchase specified quantities of our hardware products It is net our intent nor is it reasonably likely that we would cancel these eoecuted purchase

orders

Ml This net liability for uncertain tas positions may be payable by us in the future The ultimate resolution of this unrecognized tan benefit depends on many

factors and assumptions accordingly we are not able to reasonably estimate the timing of the payments or the amount by which this set liability for

uncertain tao positions will increase or decrease over time See Note to Consolidated Financial Statemento

il In December2010 we issued $200.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 3.00% convertible senior notes that mature on December 15 2015 if not

converted The interest is payable semi-annually on June 15 and December15 of each
year beginning on June 15 2011 During 2012 we made interest

payments
of $6.0 million See Note to Consolidated Financial Statements

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note ito Consolidated Financial Statements

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Investment Activities

The primary objective of our investment activities is to maintain the safety of principal
and preserve liquidity while maximiz

ing yields without significantly increasing risk Some of the fixed rate securities that we have invested In may be subject to

market risk This means that change in prevailing interest rates may cause the market value of the investment to fluctuate

We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes We maintain our portfolio of cash equivalents and

investments in variety of securities including U.S government and federal agency securities corporate debt securities

auction rate securities and money market funds Our cash equivalents and investments consist of both fixed and variable rate

securities We do not use any derivatives or similar instruments to manage our interest rate risk Fixed-rate securities may

have their fair market value adversely impacted due to rise in interest rates Our fixed rate securities are currently classified

as available-for-sale securities While we do not intend to sell these fixed rate securities prior to maturity based on sudden

change in market interest rates should we choose to sell these securities in the future our consolidated operating results or

cash flows may be adversely affected smaller portion of our cash equivalents and investment portfolio consists of variable

interest rate securities Accordingly we also have interest rate risk with these variable rate securities as the income produced

may decrease if interest rates fall

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

On December21 2012 we entered into credit agreement establishing senior secured revolving credit facility the Credit

Facility with certain institutional lenders that provides for an aggregate loan amount of up to $150.0 million Borrowings

under the Credit Facility
bear interest at either the Base Rate which is equal to the highest of the Agents I.e Bank of

America prime rate the federal funds rate pIus 0.50% and the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR for one-

month interest period plus 1.00% or ii the LIBOR plus applicable margin The applicable margin ranges are from 1.75% to

2.25% for LIBOR loans and 0.75% to 1.25% for Base Rate loans and depends on the Companys total leverage ratio Interest

is payable quarterly No amounts were drawn down under this Credit Facility as of December 31 2012
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Convertible Senior Notes

On December 72010 we closed our offering
of $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.00% convertible senior

notes the Notes The Notes bear fixed interest rate of 3.30% per yeac payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and

December 15 of each year beginning on June 15 2011 During 2012 we made interest payments of $6.0 million Dur Notes

are not sublect to interest rate risk as the coupon rate is fixed

Exchange Rate Sensitivity

The majority of our revenue and expenses are denominated in U.S dollars However since we have sales research and

development and other operations outside of the United States we do incur operating expenses in foreign currencies primar

ily the Japanese Yen Romanian Lei Indian Rupee Chinese Yuan Australian Dollar Canadian Dollar Euro and British Pound

If these currencies strengthen against the U.S dollar our costs reported in U.S dollars will increase which would adversely

affect our operating expenses Approximately 30% of our operating expenses excluding stock-based compensation expense

and amortization of intangible assets are exposed to foreign currency movements and
historically we have not entered into

foreign currency forward contracts to hedge our operating expense exposure to foreign currencies but we may do so in the

future We do utilize foreign currency forward contracts to hedge certain accounts receivable amounts that are denominated

in Japanese Yen Euros and British Pounds These contracts me used to reduce our risk associated with exchange rate move

ments as gains and losses on these contracts are intended to offset exchange losses and gains on underlying exposures

Changes in the fair value of these forward contracts are recorded immediately in earnings We do not enter into foreign

exchange forward contracts for speculative or trading purposes and we do not expect net gains or losses on these derivative

instruments to have material impact on our results of operations or cash flows

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item are provided in the consolidated financial statements

of the Company included in this Form 10-K as listed in Item 5a of this Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on our managements evaluation with the
participation

of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as

of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded

that our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 3a-1 5e and 5d-1 5e under the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended the Exchange Act were not effective as of Decembei 31 2012 to ensure that information required to

be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported

within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and is accumulated and commu

nicated to our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure

Notwithstanding the ineffectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December31 2012 and the material

weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting thai existed as of that date as described below management
believes that this Form 10-K does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material fact neces

sary to make the statements made in
light

of the circumstances under which they were made not misleading with respect

to the periods covered by this Report and the consolidated financial statements and other financial information included

in this Report fairly present in all material respects in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles OAAP our

financial condition results of operations and cash flows as of and for the dates and periods presented

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial IReporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate nternal control over financial reporting as such

term is defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f underthe Exchange Act Our internal control overfinancial reporting is

process designed by or under the supervision of our Chief Exetutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer to provide reason

able assurance regarding the
reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and

fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transac

tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted account

ing principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
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management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection

of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial state

ments Because of its inherent limitations our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate

ments Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate

As of December 31 2012 our management with the
participation

of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial of

ficer conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

COSO Based on this evaluation management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective

as of December31 2012 based on criteria in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the COSO

material weakness is deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that

there is reasonable possibility that material misstatement of the companys annual or interim financial statements will not

be prevented or detected on timely basis

Management concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December31 2012

because of the identified control deficiencies related to the accuracy with which we had historically recognized revenue for

our warranty and software maintenance contracts and arrangements Specifically the Company did not design control to

compute and assess the significance of the difference between our revenue recognition practices for our warranty and soft

ware maintenance contracts and the revenue that would have been recognized using the appropriate accounting treatment

We also did not design control to review changes to our previous implied warranty and software maintenance arrangement

with one of our customers to properly determine the impact of revenue recognition when the implied arrangement ceased to

exist These control deficiencies resulted in audit adjustments related to our product and services revenues and deferred rev

enues current and non-current and the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December

31 2011 and 2010 and our unaudited quarterly financial information for each of the quarters in the year ended December

31 2011 and ii for the first three quarters in the year ended December31 2012 Additionally these control deficiencies

could result in misstatement of our product and services revenues and deferred revenues current and non-current that

would result in material misstatement of our annual and interim consolidated financial statements that would not be pre

vented or detected Accordingly we have determined that these control deficiencies constitute material weaknesses

On June 2012 and August 24 2012 we acquired Anue Systems Inc Anue and BreakingPoint Systems Inc Breaking-

Point respectively We have excluded Anue and BreakingPoint from our assessments of our disclosure controls and proce

dures and internal control over financial reporting discussed below as of December31 2012 because they were acquired

by the Company in purchase business combination during 2012 Total assets and total revenues of Anue and BreakingPoint

combined represented 5.0% and 13.3% respectively of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for

the year ended December 31 2012

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 has been audited by Pricewater

houseCoopers LLP our independent registered public accounting firm as stated in its report which is included elsewhere

herein

Remediation Efforts to Address Material Weaknesses

Our management has worked and continues to work to strengthen our internal control over financial reporting We are

committed to ensuring that such controls are operating effectively Since identifying the material weaknesses in our internal

control over financial reporting we have corrected the identified errors in the manner in which we recognize revenue related

to our warranty and software maintenance contracts and arrangements

We will also enhance the design and operation of our controls related to the recognition of warranty and software main

tenance revenue by improving our controls and documentation related to our accounting policies
and practices to identify

document and periodically assess whether all key judgments conventions and estimates used in computing or recognizing our

warranty and software maintenance revenue conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States We

are committed to remediating these material weaknesses that existed at December 31 2012 and believe that the actions we

have taken subsequent to year end and that we intend to take will prevent the recurrence of circumstances such as those that

resulted in our determination to restate prior period financial statements

We will continue to seek to actively identify develop and implement additional measures that are reasonably likely to materi

ally improve and strengthen our internal control over financial reporting
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over linancial reporting as such term is defined in Rules 3a-1 5f
and Sd-i 5f under the Exchange Act during the fiscal quarter ended December31 2012 that have materially affected or are

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer does not expect that our disclosure

controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting are or will be capable of preventing or detecting all

errors and all fraud Any controls no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable not absolute

assurance that the objectives of the controls will be met The design of controls must reflect the fact that there are resource

constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs Further because of the inherent limitations

in all controls no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not oc

cur or that all control issues and instances of fraud if any within the Company have been detected These inherent limitations

include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be
faulty

and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error

or mistake Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons by collusion of two or more people or

by management override of the controls The design of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood

of future events and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential

future conditions

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Certain information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our definitive Proxy

Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 19 2013 which information will appear under the

captions entitled Proposal Election of Directors Nominees and Proposal Election of Directors Information Re

garding our Board of Directors and its Committees Executive Officers and Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting

Compliance The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after our last fiscal year-end which was

December31 2012

The Registrant has adopted Code of Ethics for its Chief Executive and Senior Financial Officers copy of which is included

as Exhibit 14.1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year-ended December31 2003

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our definitive Proxy

Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 19 2013 which information will appear under the

captions Proposal Election of Directors Compensation of Directors Executive Compensation and Other Information

other than under the subcaption Equity Compensation Plan Information Compensation Discussion and Analysis and

Compensation Committee Report The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after our last

fiscal year-end which was December31 2012

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related

Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our definitive Proxy

Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 19 2013 which information will appear under the

captions Common Stock Ownership of Principal
Shareholders and Management and Executive Compensation and Other

Information Equity Compensation Plan Information The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within 120 days

after our last fiscal year-end which was December31 2012

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Any information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our definitive Proxy

Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 19 2013 which information will appear under the cap

tion entitled Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Proposal Election of Directors Information Regard

ing our Board of Directors and its Committees The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after

our last fiscal year-end which was December31 2012

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to information appearing in our definitive Proxy

Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 19 2013 which information will appear under the cap

tion Proposal Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm The Proxy Statement will

be filed with the Commission within 120 days after our last fiscal year-end which was December31 2012
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Report

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements are filed as part

of this report

Financial Statement Schedule

The financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the intormation required to be set

forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto

Exhibits

2.1 Agreement and Pian ot Merger dated an at May 2tt by and
amonci the Company Anae Systems inc Emily Acqainitinn Corp and Aiesander Pepe

as the Representative ItI

2.2 Agreement and Pian of Msrger dated ansi Jose 30 20t2 by and among the Company RreakisgPoint Systems inc Camden Acqsisition Corp and

Oesmsnd Wiissn ti as the Representative 121

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles sf Incorporation as amendedl3l

3.2 Byiawo as amended

4.t indensore dated as of Oecember 72010 between the Company and Wnlis Fargo Bask Natinnai Association as trsstee iscisding the form sf300%

Csnversibie Senior Notes doe 20t5 lincisded as Eshibit Ass the indentnrell4l

10.1 Credit Agreement dated as of Oecember 2t 20t among the Company as the Borrower Anse Systems inc RreakingPsint Systems inc Catapsit

Commonications Csrperatien and veriwane inc as the Goarantors Bsnk of America N.A as Administrative Agent Swinghne Lender and Letter of

Credit issser and the Other Lenders Party Theretolsl

tO.2 Amended and Restated 1097 Eqsity incentive PiaslRl

103 Amended and Restated Noe Employee Oirectnr Stock Option Plael7l

10.4 isis 2ttt Empisyee Stock Parchase Pian as amendedtI

10.5 Officer Severance Pianl9l togetherwith Amendment dated Oecember 21 20DB 1101 Amendment No.2 dated March 22 201 lIt and Amendment No.3

dated Oecember 21 201

10.6 lola Officer Severance Plan as Amended and Restated effective Jansary 200Rtt 21 together with Amendment No dated Oecnmber 21 2012

10.7 Form of
Indemnity Agreement between lola and its directsrs and esecstive efficerst3l

10.0 Office Lease Agreement dated September14 2007 between MS LPC Mahbs Property Hnidings LLC and the Company 141

ttMt FirssAmendmeosto Office Lease dated Febrsa 112010 between MS LPC Mahbs Property Holdings LLC asd the Cnmpasy1SI

10.6.2 Second Amendment to Office Lease dated Nonember 15 2010 between MS LPC Mahbs Property Holdings LLC and the Csmpsnylltl

10.93 Third Amendment to Office Lease dated
Jassary 162012 between MS LPC Mahbs

Property Holdings LLC and the Company

16.9.4 Fosrth Amendment to Office Lease dated Jose 12612 between MS LPC Malibs
Property Holdings LLC and the Cnmpaey17I

10.6.5 Fifth Amendment to Office Lease dated Nsvember 2012 between MS LPC Mahbs
Prsperty Holdings LLC and the Csmpany

169 Compensation of Named Esecstine Officers as of Oecember 312612

10.10 Ssmmary of Cnmpensasinn for the Cnmpaeys Non-Employee Oirectsrs effective April 20111191

10.11 isis 2011 Esecotine Officer Bonus Piant9I

10.12 isis 2012 Esecstine Officer Bosss Plan 1201

tt.13 isis 2012-2013 Eeecstise Officer Integration Bsnss PIan2t

1014 Employment Offer Letter Agreement dated as of Asgsst 62697 between the Cnmpany sod Atoi Bhstnagar 1221

10.15 Separatise Agreement dated Jose 13 2012 between the Company and Assi Bhatnagarl23l

1019 Amended and Restated isis 2009 Equity incentive Plan iscisdieg Amended and Restatec First Amendment dated as of May 2011 and Second

Amendment dated an of April 929111241

10.17 Master Services Agreement dated an sf January 26 2tt9 between the Csmpany and Pienss Sewiceo Corp and ito affiliates and ssbsidiaries25l

14.1 Code of Ethics for Chief Esecotine and Senior Financial Officerol2tl

21.1 Ssbsidiaries of the Csmpany

23.1 Consent sf PricematerhosseCenpers LLP Independent Registered Psbhc Accosnting Firm

31.1 Certificate of Chief Esecstise Officer sf isis pursuant to Bole 13s-141a1 under the Eschanqe Act as adopted perssant to Section 302sf the

Sarbases-Osley Act of 2002

31.2 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer of Isis psrssant to Bole 3s-t4a stider the Eschsegs Act as adopted porosset to Section 302 of the

Sarbaneo-Ooiey Act of 2002

32.1 Certificate of Chief Eeecetise Officer and Chief Financial Officer of isis porosant to Role 3a-t 41b seder the Eschasge Act sod Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Osley Act of 2002
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101 iNS X8RL Instance Document

101 .SCH X8FILtanonomy Estennien Schema Document

101 CAL XBRL1aeensmy Calculation Linkbase Document

lot LAB X0RL Tanseemy Label Linkbase Document

101 .RRE X8RL Tanenomy Frenentation Linkbane Document

tot DEF XBRhTanennmy Entennise Definitise Document

Conetiteten management contract or cnmpennatery plan nr arrangement required to be filed an an enhibit to thin Anneal Repent nn Form to-K

In accordance mith Rule 408T ef Regulation S-T the X8RL Eetenoible Reeineon Reporting Language related information in Enhibit tot to thin Anneal

Report en Fnrm 10-K eball net be deemed tube filed for perposen
of Sectien 18sf the Enchange Act or otherwise sebect te the liability of that

nectien and shell net be par of any registration statement en other document filed under the Seceritien Act or the Enchange Act encept an shall be

enprennly set forth by specific
reference in such filing

Incorperated by reference to Enhibit 2.1 to Ieias Current Repsrt en Fsrm 0-K File No 0-31 523 filed mith the Commission on May 72012

Incorporated by reference to Eehibit 2i Is loiss Cerrent Repent en Ferm 0-K File No 0-31523 filed mith the Cammissisn en July 22012

13 Incorperated by reference to Eshibit 3.1 to Amendment No Its the Cempanys Registration Statement on Form Reg Ne 333 42878 filed mith the

Cemmiseien en September 2000

Incorperated by reference to Eshibit 4.1 to the Companys Cerrene Report en Form 8-K File No.031523 filed mith the Cammiselee en December 82010

Incorporated by reference In Eehibit 10.1 In mien Cerreet Repent en Farm 8-K File No 3-31523 filed with the Commission en December 28 2012

Incorporated by reference to Eshibit 4.1 In the Cempaeye Registration
Statement en Form 58 Reg Ne 333 117909 filed with the Commission on

Aegent
2004

Incerporeted by refereece to Enhibit 4.2 In the Cempannye Regietratien
Statement oe Form 58 Reg Ne 333 117989 filed with the Commionien ne

Aegeet
2004

Incorporated by reference to Eehibit 4.2 to the Cempanys Registratien Statement on Form S-8 Reg Ne 333-178237 filed with the Cnmmiseiee on

Aegeet 11 2011

191 Incorporated by reference to 10.4 to Amendment Ne its the Cempenye Registration Statement en Form 51 Req Na 333 42878 filed with the

Commission on September 52000

110 Incorporated by
reference In Fehibit 10.2 In the Companys Cerrent Repent en Ferm 8-K File No.031523 filed with the Commission en January 72009

111 Incerperaled by reference to Eshibit 10.2 to the Cempanye Current Repent on Form 8-K File No 0-31 523 filed with the Commission en March 28 2011

112 Incorporated by reference to Fehibit 10.1 Is the Cempanye Cerrent Repent en Ferm 8-K File No.031523 filed with the Commission en January 72009

113 Incorporated by reference to Enhibit 10.510 Amendment Ne to the Cempaeye Regietraliee Seatement on Form IReg Ne 333 42878 filed with the

Cemmieoiee on September 2000

114 Incerperaeed by reference to Eehibit 10.1 to the Companys Cerrent Repent en Form 8-K File No 0-31523 filed with the Commieeieri on September 25

2007

15 Incorporated by
reference In Eehibil 10 lIe the Companys Anneal Repent en Ferm 10-K File Ne 0-31 523 filed with the Cemmienien on March

2012

18 Incorporated by reference to Eehibit 10.7.2 to the Companys Anneal Repent en Ferm 10-K File No 0-31523 filed with the Cemmiesion on March 52012

17 lecerporaled by reference to Fehibit 1Oi In the Companys Current Repont on Form 8-K File Ne 0-31 523 filed with the Commiesion en July 10 2012

18 Incorporated by reference to Enhibit 10.13 to the Companys Anneal Repent on Form 10-K File No 0-31523tiled with the Commission on March 52012

119 Incerporaled by reference to Fehibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Repent on Form 8-K File Ne 9-31 523 filed with the Commission en March 28 2011

120 Incorporated by reference to Eshibit 10.1 to the Companys Carreet Repent en Ferm 8-K File No 0-31523 filed with the Cemmionien on May 18 2012

121 Incorporated by reference to Eehibit 10.1 to the Companys Cerrent Repent on Form 8-K File Ne 0-31 523 filed with the Commission en December 12

2012

122 Incorporated by reference to Eehibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Repent on Form 8-K File Ne 0-31 523 filed with the Commission on September

2007

123 lecerporated by reference te Eehibit 10.1 to the Companys Oeenterly Repent en Form 10-0 File No 0-31523 tiled with the Cemmiseiee on Aegeot

2012

124 Incorporated by reference to 10.1 to the Compenye Current Repent on Form 8-K File No 0-31523 filed with the Commission on May 25 2011

25 Incorporated by reference to Eshibit 10.1 to the Cempanye Qeanterly Repent err Form 10-0 File Ne 0-1 523 for rhe fiscal quanter
ended March31 2009

128 lecerporated by reference to Enhibit 14.1 to the Anneal Report on Form 10-K File No 0-31 523 for the fiecal year ended December31 2003

Exhibits

See the list of Exhibits undeF Item 5a3 of this Annual Report on FOFm 10

Financial Statement Schedules

See the Schedule undeF Item 5aX2 of this Annual Report on FoFm 10
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Sec jrities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly caused

this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Dated April 2013 IXIA

/s/ VICTOR ALSTCIN

Victor Alston

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this Report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and cn the dates indicated

Name Title
Oate

/s/ VICTOR ALSTON
______ President Chief Executive Officer and Director April 42013

Victor Aiston Principal Executive Officer

/5/ THOMAS MILLER Chief Financial Officer
April 2013

Thomas Miller Principal Financia and Accounting Officer

Is ERROL GINSBERG
_________

Chief Innovation Officer and Chairman of the Board
April 2013

Errol Ginsberg

Is JON RAGER Director
April 2013

Jon Rager

/s/ GAIL HAMILTON Director
April 42013

Gail Hamilton

Is JONATHAN FRAM Director
April 42013

Jonathan Fram

/s/ LAURENT ASSCHEFI Director
April 42013

Laurent Asscher
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To Board of Directors and Shareholders of lxia

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations com

prehensive income shareholders equity and cash flows present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Ixia

and its subsidiaries at December 31 2012 and 2011 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended December31 2012 in conformty with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America Also in our opinion the Company did not maintain in alt material respects effective internal control

over financial reporting as of December31 2D1 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO because material weaknesses in

internal control over financial reporting related to design deficiencies regarding computing and assessing the significance of

the difference between their revenue recognition practices for warranty and software maintenance contracts and the revenue

that would have been recognized using the appropriate accounting treatment and reviewing changes to previous implied

warranty and software maintenance arrangement with one of iheir customers to properly determine the impact on revenue

recognition when the implied arrangement ceased to exist existed as of that date material weakness is deficiency or

combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that there is reasonable possibility that

material misstatement of the annual or interim financial stateerents will not be prevented or detected on timely basis The

material weaknesses referred to above are described in Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

appearing under Item BA We considered these material weaknesses in determining the nature timing and extent of audit

tests applied in our audit of the 2012 consolidated financial statements and our opinion regarding the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting does not affect our opiniun on those consolidated financial statements

The Companys management is responsible for these financial statements for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in manage
ments report referred to above Dur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Companys
internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the

standards of the Public Company Accounting Dversight Board linited States Those standards require that we plan and per

form the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Dur audits of the financial

statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation Dur audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal

control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and
testing

and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinions
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As discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements the Company has restated its 2011 and 2010 financial

statements to correct an error

As discussed in Note ito the consolidated financial statements the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for

revenue arrangements with multiple element arrangements in 2011

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies

and procedures

that Cl pertain to the mainfenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company lii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparafion of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts

and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and liii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or fimely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effecf on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

As described in Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item BA management has

excluded Anue Systems Inc Anue and BreakingPoint Systems Inc BreakingPoint from its assessment of internal con

trol over financial reporting as of December31 2012 because they were acquired the Company in purchase combinations

during 2012 We have also excluded the Anue and BreakingPoint from our audit of internal control over financial reporting

Anue and Breaking Point are wholly-owned subsidiaries whose aggregate total assets represent 5.0% and aggregate total

revenues represent 13.3% of the related consolidated financial statements amounts as of and for the year ended December

31 2012

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers

Los Angeles California

April 42013



54 Ixia Annual Report 2012

IXIA Consolidated Balance Sheets

in thousands

As of December31

2012 2t11

Restated

Assets

Cerrest assets

Cash and cash eqeisalests 47508 42729

Short-term insestments in marketable secerities 128851 158684

Accsants receisable net 103523 65357

lsveetsries 37220 27239

Prepaid espenses asd sober csrrest assets 42942 2700

Intel carreet assets 358044 304709

Issestmests is marketable secsrities 3119 185608

Preperty and eqaipmest set 28763 25060

Intangible assets set 157003 46028

Gsedwill 260457 66429

Otherassets 11863 6633

Tetel assets 819249 634467

liabilities end Sherebsiders Eqsity

Csrrest liabilities

Accsests payable 12114 5005

Accrsed eepesses and ether 52525 28196

Deferred resesses 66096 36785

Istal csrrest liabilities 130735 69988

Deferred reeneses 8695 6233

Other liabilities 32321 6012

Csnsertible sesier setes 200000 200000

Tetal liabilities 371751 282231

Csmmitmests asd csstiegeecies Nete 101

Sharebslders
eqsity

Preferred steck mithest par salae 1000 shares aetherised sod seen eststseding

Cemmes stsck mithsst par salae 200000 shares aathsrised at December 31 2012

and 2011 74126 and 70240 shares isseed and setstasding as st December 31 2012

and 2011 respectmsely 158933 132330

Additissal paid-in capital 168980 145840

Retaised earnings 117296 71836

Accsmulated ether csmprehessiss incnme 2289 2230

Tstal sharehelders eqaity 447498 352236

Tetal liabilities and sharehslders eqsity 819249 $634467

The accsmpasyrng estee are an istegral part sO these csnsslidatnd financial statements
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IXIA Consolidated Statements of Operations

in thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Rentated Restated

Reveneen

Products
330315 249423 227682

Services
83119 61947 50825

Tetal revenues
413434 311370 278507

Costs sod operating evpennen
lU

Cool ef revenues products
71668 56801 54378

Cent nf revenues services
0493 6520 6327

Research and development
98189 75101 72488

Sales and marketing
117214 87011 79986

General and administrative
45607 33648 35142

Amortization of intangible assets
30018 15980 17545

Acquioitien and other related
11861 1100 2991

Restructuring
4077 3587

Total costs and operating eopenneo
389107 276161 272444

Income frem operations
24327 35209 6063

Interest income and other net
2255 2059 10970

Interest eopenoe
7215 7200 480

Income befnre income tanes
19367 30068 16553

lncnme tan benefit eopenne
26093 3355 3723

Net income
45460 26713 12830

Earnings per
share

Basic
063 0.39 0.20

Diluted
0.59 0.37 0.19

Weighted average number of common and cnmmnn equivalent shares outstanding

Basic
72183 69231 65157

Diluted
84505 71664 67769

Ill Stnck-baned cnmpennatinn included in

Coot of revenues prndocto
423 402 524

Coot of revenues nervicen
162 153 198

Renearch and development
6242 4286 5195

Salen and marketing
5352 3296 3592

General and administrative
7462 4454 3406

Yhe accompanning yeses are ae inrenral panel thene coennlidasd financial ntarementn
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IXIA Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

in thousands

Year Ended Oecember 31

2312 2011 2010

Restated Restated

Net ieceme 45400 26713 12830

Other cempreheeeiee ieceme lees

Chaege Ic aerealieed gaies aed losses on ineeetmeets net of toe 588 456 314

Camalatlee traealetiee adjaatmeet 527 232 491

Tetal other compreheeoiee income loot oet of too 59 224 805

Cemprehenelee income 455t9 26489 t3635

Rhe
accempaeoieg estee are ae etegral pert of these coeseirdated fieaecial statemeete
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IXIA Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity

in thousands

110 thousands

Balance as of December31 2009 as Previously Reported

Restatement adjustment

Balance as at December31 2009 an Restated

Net income

Change in unrealized gains and loosen on investments

net of tao

Comolative translation udjostment

shares issued pursuant to stuck incentive plans and

employee stock purchase plan options

Stuck-based compensation

Stuck amard tan benefit

Total

236605

3314

1949 239979

12830

314 314

491 491

28307

12915

1590

Balance as of December 31 2010 as Restated

Net income

Change in unrealized gains and losses en investments

net of tan

Cumulative translation adjustment

Shares issued pursuant to stuck incentive plans and

employee stock purchase plan options

Stock-based compensation

Balance as of December31 2011 us Rentated

Net income

Change in unrealized gains and losses on investments

net of too

Cumulative trunolution adjustment

Shares issued pornoant to stock incentive plans and

employee stock purchase plus opti550

Stock-bused compensation

Stock umard too benefit

Balance us of December 31 2012

The accompanying notes ate an integral pus of theoe consolidated finunciul statements

2454 299410

26713

10740

12591

Accumulated

Shares of Amount of Addirioral Other

Csmmsv Commso Paid-in Retained Comprehensive

Stock Stock Capital Earnings Income

93092 87283 11 8754 28979 1049

3314

03002 07203 118754 32203

12030

4551 28307

12915

1500

07613 115590 133249 45123

26713

2627 16740

j450j

232

4591

232

12591

70240 132330 145040 71036 2230 352236

45460 45490

599 509

5271 5271

3989 26603 29903

19941 19641

3499 3409

74126 150033 190980 117290 2209 447490
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IXIA Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Restated Restated

Cash flows from operating actieities

Net income 45460 26713 12630

Adixotments to reconcile net income to net cash pnoxided by operating actixitieo

Oepneciatioo 16034 13354 11.295

Amontization of intaogible assets 30019 15990 17545

Stock-based compenoation 19641 12591 12915

Deferned income tacos 42363 919

Tax benefit fnxm otock awand traesactiono 3499 1560

Exceox tax benefits fnom stock-based compeooatioo 3025 2074

Chaogeo in openating axoeto and Iiabilitreo net of effect xf acquioitiono

Accoanto rocoixablo net 21771 4t41 12073

Inxentxnieo 2445 2046 14424

Prepaid expenseo and ether current assets 2016 34 1640

Other aooeto 54 786 541

Accounto payable 5521 5085 3388

Accrued expenses and other 11135 8834 13016

Oeferred rexenuex 18389 866 7832

Other liabilitieo 2183 343 307

Net cash proxided by operating actixitieo 80314 81331 50429

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchanen of
property

and equipment 17726 15268 14857

Purchases of axailable-for-oale securities 168623 389398 267919

Proceeds from axailable-f or-sale oecuritieo 381904 309495 69216

Purchases of other intangible aooeto 843 430 441

Paymento proceeds in coonect ion with acquisitieno net of cash acquired 298928 15823 212

Net caoh uoed in ioxeotiog actixitieo 1104216 111424 213789

Cash flaws from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of cooxertible oeoior noteo 200000

Oebt ioouaoce costs 947 6000

Pnoceedo from exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase plar optioos 26603 16740 28307

Excess tax heoefito from stock-based compenoation 3025
________

2074

Net cash proxided by financing actixitieo 28681 16740 224381

Net increase decrease in cash aod caoh equixaleono 4779 33353 81021

Cash aod caoh equixaleoto at beginning of
year 42729 76082 15061

Cash and cash equixaleoto at end of year 47508 42729 78082

Sapplemental disclosure of cash flaw information

Caoh paid during the year for

Interest 6000 6133

Income taxes 7596 4887 2076

Yhe accompunying nxtex are xr integra pan of theoe conxolidated financial otatementx
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IXIA Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Description of Business Basis of Presentation Significant Accounting Policies and Recent Accounting Pro

noun cements

Description of Business

lxia was incorporated on May 27 1997 as California corporation We are leading provider of converged Internet Protocol

IP network validation and network visibility solutions Equipment manufacturers service providers enterprises and govern

ment agencies use our solutions to design verify and monitor broad range of Ethernet Wi-Fi and 3G/LTE equipment and

networks Our product solutions consist of our hardware platforms such as our chassis interface cards and appliances

software application tools and services including our warranty and maintenance offerings and professional services

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 have been

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America GAAP

Use of Estimates

In the normal course of preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates

Principles of Consolidation

All subsidiaries are consolidated as they are 100% owned by us All significant intercompany transactions and accounts are

eliminated in consolidation

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period consolidated financial statements to conform to the current presenta

tion Income taxes payable is now presented within Accrued expenses and other on our consolidated balance sheets and

consolidated statements of cash flows

Restatement

The Company has restated herein its audited consolidated financial statements as of December31 2011 and for the two

years ended December31 2011 as well as its unaudited interim consolidated financial statements as of and for the quarters

and year to date periods ended March 31 2012 June 30 2012 and September 30 2012 and related 2011 comparative prior

quarter and year to date periods See Note 15 for additional information

Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equiva

lents Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value We generally place funds that are in

excess of current needs in high credit
quality instruments such as money market funds There are no restrictions on the use of

cash and cash equivalents

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried at cost

which approximates their fair values because of the short-term maturity of these instruments and the relative stability of

interest rates See Note for information related to the fair value of our convertible senior notes

We utilize foreign currency forward contracts to hedge certain accounts receivable amounts that are denominated in Japa

nese Yen Euros and British Pounds These contracts are used to reduce the risk associated with exchange rate movements

as gains and losses on these contracts are intended to offset exchange losses and gains on underlying exposures Changes

in the fair value of these forward contracts are recorded immediately in earnings We do not enter into foreign exchange

forward contracts for speculative or trading purposes As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we held foreign currency forward

contracts with notional value of $6.5 million and $5.8 million respectively To date net gains and losses on the above

transactions have not been significant
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Investments in Marketable Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of investments in marketable securities at the time of purchase and reevaluate

such determination at each balance sheet date During the fourth quarter of 2012 we determined that all of our investments

in marketable securities excluding our Auction Rate Securities ARS are available for current operations regardless of

stated maturity dates We believe that this provides us with the flexibility iequired to quickly respond to critical business

needs Accretion and amortization of purchase discounts and premiums are included in interest income and other net

Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value The net unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale securities are

reported as separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss net of tax The specific identification

method is used to compute realized gains and losses on our marketable securities In 2012 2011 and 2010 we had gross

realized gains of $1.3 million $437000 and $1.1 million principally attributable to the sale in the fourth quarter of 2010 of

certain of our auction rate securities that were previously wrilten-off resulting in proceeds of approximately $1.0 million

respectively In 2012 2011 and 2010 gross realized losses were not significant

As of December31 2012 and 2011 our available-for-sale securities consisted of U.S government and government agency

debt securities corporate debt securities and auction rate securities and bad weighted remaining contractual maturity of

1.36 and 1.44 years respectively

We periodically review our marketable securities for impairment If we conclude that any of our investments are impaired we

determine whether such impairment is other-than-temporary Factors we consider to make such determination include

among others the severity
of the impairment the reason for the decline in value and the potential recovery period De

clines in the fair value of available-for-sale debt securities below their cost that are deemed to be other-than-temporary are

reflected in earnings to the extent the impairment is related te credit losses The amount of the impairment related to other

factors is recognized in other comprehensive income

It is possible that we could recognize future impairment charges on our auction rate securities or our other investment securi

ties we currently own if future events new information or the passage of time cause us to determine that decline in our

carrying value is other-than-temporary We will continue to review and analyze these securities for triggering events each

reporting period

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for DoubtfulAccounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amourt The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on our best

estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable We review the allowance for doubtful ac

counts monthly and provisions are made upon specific
review of all significant past due receivables For those receivables

not specifically reviewed provisions are provided at genera rate that is determined based on historical write-off experi

ence our assessment of current customer information and other relevant data Account balances are charged off against the

allowance when we believe it is probable the receivable will lot be recovered We do not have any off-balance-sheet credit

exposure related to our customers

Inventories

Inventories are goods held for sale in the normal course of business Inventories are stated at the lower of cost first-in first-

out or market The inventory balance consists of raw materials work in process WIP and finished goods Raw materials

include low level components many of which are purchased from vendors WIP is partially assembled products and finished

goods are products that are ready to be shipped to end customers Consideration is given to inventory shipped and received

near the end of period and the transaction is recorded when transfer of title occurs We evaluate inventory for obsolescence

and adjust to net realizable value based on inventory that is obsolete or in excess of current demand

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation of our computer software and equip

ment is computed using the straight-line method based upon the estimated useful lives of the applicable assets ranging from

three to five years beasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of

the improvements Useful lives are evaluated periodically by management in order to determine recoverability in light of cur

rent technological conditions Property and equipment also includes the cost of our products used for research and develop

ment and sales and marketing activities including product demonstrations for potential customers Repairs and maintenance

are charged to expense as incurred while renewals and improvements are capitalized Upon the sale or retirement of property

and equipment the accounts are relieved of the cost and the related accumulated depreciation with any resulting gain or loss

included in the consolidated statements of operations
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Goodwill and Purchased Finite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill is recorded as the difference if any between the aggregate consideration paid for an acquisition and the fair value

of the acquired net tangible and intangible assets Although goodwill is not amortized we review our goodwill for impair

ment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances warrant review We completed our annual impair

ment test of our single reporting unit in the fourth quarter of 2012 and determined that there was no impairment

Acquired intangible assets with finite lives including purchased technology and customer relationships are amortized over

their estimated useful lives and reflected in the Amortization of Intangible Assets line item on our consolidated statements

of operations Our acquired intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever an impairment indicator exists We

continually monitor events or changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of our long-lived assets

including our intangible assets may not be recoverable When such events or changes in circumstances occur we assess

recoverability by determining whether the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through the undiscounted expected

future cash flows If the future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of these assets we recognize an

impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets Fair value is determined using

discounted cash flow analysis that involves the use of significant
estimates and assumptions some of which may be based

in
part on historical experience forecasted information and discount rates No such impairment charges were recorded during

the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010

Litigation

We are currently not involved in any significant pending legal proceedings We accrue for losses when the loss is deemed

probable and the liability can reasonably be estimated Where liability
is probable and there is range of estimated loss

with no best estimate in the range we record the minimum estimated liability related to the claim As additional information

becomes available we assess the potential liability related to our pending litigation and revise our estimates See Note 10

for additional information

Product Warranty

We generally provide an initial standard warranty generally for 90-day or 12-month periods on our hardware products after

product shipment and accrue for estimated future warranty costs based on actual historical experience and other relevant

data as appropriate at the time product revenue is recognized All product warranty expenses are reflected within cost

of revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations Accrued product warranty costs are included as

component of accrued expenses and other in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

Activity in the product warranty liability account for the years presented is as follows in thousands

December 31

2D12 2D11 2D1D

eaiance at beginning nf year
763 667 5D1

current
year prnnisinn

62D tD 841

Eapenditaren 6671 lJD3l 16451

eaiance at end at year
665 7D3 687

Revenue Recognition

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued authoritative guidance for the accounting of

multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements which establishes the accounting and reporting guidance for arrangements

including multiple revenue-generating activities This new authoritative guidance for arrangements with multiple deliverables

requires that arrangement consideration be allocated at the inception of an arrangement to all deliverables using the relative

selling price method It also establishes selling price hierarchy for determining the selling price of each deliverable The new

guidance also eliminates the residual method of allocation for multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements that are outside the

scope of software revenue recognition guidance

In October 2009 the FASB also issued authoritative guidance for the accounting of certain revenue arrangements that include

software elements which changes the accounting model for revenue arrangements that include both tangible products and

software elements that are essential to the functionality of the tangible products and excludes these products from the

software revenue accounting guidance

We adopted the new guidance on revenue recognition in the first quarter of 2011 on prospective basis for applicable

revenue arrangements originating or materially modified on or after January 2011 The impact of the adoption of the new

revenue recognition guidance is to accelerate the timing of revenue recognition principally related to partial shipments of

hardware products at the end of accounting periods which impact may vary from period to period In periods prior to the

adoption of the new guidance the revenue related to partial shipments of our hardware products which were sold with
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software deliverables was deferred under the software revenue recognition guidance until the shipment or delivery of all

items of multiple element arrangement had occurred other than the delivery of post contract customer support and mainte

nance PCS PCS was deferred based on established vendor
specific objective evidence VSOE of selling price As our

revenues are generated from the sale of hardware and software products and related services portion of our revenues will

continue to be recognized under the software revenue recognition guidance see below for additional information Had we

recognized revenue in manner consistent with our policies prior to January 2011 our total revenues for the year ended

December31 2011 would have been reduced by approximately 3%

Sales of our network test hardware products primarily consist of traffic generation and analysis hardware platforms contain

ing multi-slot chassis and interface cards Our primary network test hardware platform is enabled by our operating system

software that is essential to the functionality of the hardware platform Sales of our network visibility hardware products

typically
include an integrated purpose-built hardware appliance with essential proprietary software Our software products

consist of comprehensive suite of technology-specific applications for certain of our network test hardware platforms Our

software products are typically installed on and work with these hardware products to further enhance the core functionality

of the overall network test system although some of our software products can be operated independently from our network

test platforms

Our service revenues primarily consist of technical support warranty and software maintenance services related to our

network test and visibility hardware and software products Many of our products include up to one year of these services

with the initial product purchase and our customers may separately purchase to extend these services for annual or multi-year

periods Our technical support warranty and software maintenance services include assistance with the set-up configuration

and operation of our products repair or replacement of defectve products bug fixes and unspecified when and if available

software upgrades For certain network test products our technical support and software maintenance service revenues also

include our Application and Threat Intelligence ATI service which provides comprehensive suite of application protocols

software updates and technical support The ATI service provides full access to the latest security attacks and application

updates for use in real-world test and assessment scenarios Our customers may purchase the All service for annual or multi-

year periods Service revenues also include training and other professional services

As our systems typically include hardware and software products and the related services we recognize our revenue in

accordance with authoritative guidance on both hardware and software revenue recognition Furthermore in accordance

with the amended revenue recognition guidance our hardware platform and certain other products that include both tangible

products and software elements that function together to deliver the tangible product essential functionality have been

scoped out of software revenue recognition guidance and theefore these products are accounted for as hardware products

for revenue recognition purposes

For our hardware and software products and related services we recognize revenue based on the following four criteria

whether evidence of an arrangement exists which is typicaly in the form of customer purchase order ii delivery has oc

curred i.e risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the customer iii the sales price is fixed or determinable and iv

collection is deemed probable Provided that the above criteria are met revenue from hardware and software product sales

is typically recognized upon shipment and service revenues are recognized as the services are provided or completed Our

service revenues from our initial and separately purchased technical support warranty and software maintenance arrange

ments are recognized on straight-line basis over the applicable contractual or estimated periods as applicable

Our systems are generally fully functional at the time of shipment and do not require us to perform any significant production

modification customization or installation after shipment If our arrangements include acceptance provisions based on cus

tomer specified criteria for which we cannot reliably
demonstrate that the delivered product meets all the specified criteria

revenue is deferred until the earlier of the receipt of written customer acceptance or the expiration of the acceptance period

In addition our arrangements generally do not include any provisions for cancellation termination or refunds

Multiple Element Arrangements and Allocation of Value

Our arrangements with our customers to provide our systems typically include combination of our hardware and software

products as well as the related technical support warranty and software maintenance services of these products and there

fore are commonly referred to as multiple element arrangements When sales arrangements involve hardware and software

elements we use two-step process to allocate value to each element in the arrangement
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The total arrangement fee is allocated to the non-software deliverables e.g chassis interface cards and software

maintenance related to our operating system software that is essential to the functionality of our hardware platform and

the software deliverables as group e.g application software and software maintenance based on relative selling

price ASP method applied to all elements in the arrangement using the fair value hierarchy in the amended revenue

recognition guidance as discussed below and

The value assigned to the software group for the software deliverables is then allocated to each software element based

on the relative fair values of those elements in accordance with software revenue recognition guidance The fair value of

an element must be based on vendor specific objective evidence VSOE of the selling price which
typically only exists

for technical support warranty and software maintenance services as discussed below

Under the ASP method the selling price to be used in the allocation of the total arrangement fee to each of the elements or

deliverables is based on selling price hierarchy where the selling price
for each element is based on VSOE if available

ii third-party evidence TPE if available and VSOE is not available or iii the best estimate of selling price BESP if

neither VSOE nor TPE are available

We determine VSOE based on sales prices charged to customers when the same element is sold separately or based upon

stated future renewal pricing
included in the original arrangement provided it is substantive Many of our products are sold

as part of multiple element arrangement and not sold separately such as our software products which always include an

initial period generally 90-day or 12-month periods of free technical support warranty and software maintenance services

Accordingly we have not established VSOE for nearly all of our products On regular basis we separately sell extended

technical support warranty and software maintenance services upon the expiration of the initial contractual periods included

in an initial sales arrangement and have been able to establish VSOE for our technical support warranty and software main

tenance services

We generally are not able to determine TPE for our products or services because our products are not interchangeable with

those of our competitors Furthermore we are unable to reliably determine competitive selling prices when the applicable

competitive products are sold separately As such we use BESP for all of our products and services when allocating the total

consideration of multiple element arrangements to each of the deliverables under step one of the allocation process described

above except for our technical support warranty and software maintenance services where we use VSOE We determine

BESP for product or service by considering multiple factors including analyzing historical sales
price

data for standalone and

bundled arrangements published price lists geographies and customer types Our estimate of BESP used in our allocation of

arrangement consideration requires significant judgment and we review these estimated selling prices on quarterly basis

The allocation of value to each deliverable in
multiple

element arrangement is completed at the inception of an arrangement

which is typically the receipt of customer purchase order The allocated value of each non-software deliverable is then recognized

as revenue when each element is delivered provided all of the other revenue recognition criteria discussed above have been met

For software deliverables the total software group allocation or total arrangement consideration for customer orders that include

only software products and related services is assigned to each deliverable based on VSOE in accordance with software revenue

recognition guidance as described under step two of the allocation process above As we do not sell our software products without

technical support warranty and software maintenance services we are unable to establish VSOE for our software products and

therefore use the residual method under the software revenue recognition guidance to allocate the software group or arrangement

value to each software deliverable Under the residual method the software group or arrangement value is allocated first to the

undelivered elements typically technical support warranty and software maintenance services based on VSOE and the residual

portion of the value is then allocated to the delivered elements typically the software products and recognized as revenue provided

all other revenue recognition criteria discussed above have been met If VSOE cannot be established for an undelivered element

within the software group or arrangement we defer the entire value allocated to the software group or arrangement until the

earlier of delivery of all elements other than technical support warranty and software maintenance services provided VSOE has

been established or ii establishment of VSOE of the undelivered elements If the only undelivered elements relates to service

for which VSOE has not been established the entire allocated value of the software group or arrangement is recognized as revenue

over the longer of the service or contractual period
of the technical support warranty and software maintenance services

Prior to the adoption of the amended revenue recognition guidance on January 2011 our multiple element arrangements

did not go through the two-step allocation process described above The total arrangement consideration was assigned to

each deliverable including hardware products based on VSOE in accordance with software revenue recognition guidance

as described above As result the substantial majority of our revenue was recognized under the residual method as VSOE

was only established for our technical support warranty and software maintenance services This resulted in the deferral

of revenue at the balance sheet date for partial shipments of multiple element arrangements Under the amended revenue

recognition guidance we are able to allocate value to our hardware products despite not having VSOE and as result are

now typically able to recognize revenue for our hardware products when delivered assuming all other revenue recognition

criteria noted above have been met
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Sales to Distributors

We use distributors and resellers to complement our direct sales and marketing efforts in certain markets and/or for certain

products Due to the broad range of features and options available with our hardware and software products distributors and

resellers generally do not stock our products and typically place orders with us after receiving an order from an end customer

These distributors and resellers receive business terms of sale similar to those received by our other customers and payment

to Ixia is not contingent on sell-through to and receipt of payment from the end customer As such for sales to distributors

and resellers we recognize revenue when the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the distributor or reseller

provided that the other revenue recognition criteria noted above have been met

Cost of Revenues

Dur cost of revenues related to the sale of our hardware and software products includes materials payments to third party

contract manufacturers royalties and salaries and other expenses related to our manufacturing and supply operations

personnel We outsource the majority of our manufacturing operations and we conduct supply chain management quality

assurance documentation control shipping and some final assembly and
testing at our facilities in Calabasas California

Austin Texas and in Penang Malaysia Accordingly significant portion of our cost of revenues related to our products

consists of payments to our contract manufacturers Cost of revenues related to the provision of services includes salaries

and other expenses associated with technical support services professional services and the warranty cost of hardware that

is replaced or repaired during the warranty coverage period Cost of revenues does not include the amortization of purchased

technology related to our acquisitions of certain businesses product lines and technologies of $2D.3 million $10.8 million and

$12.8 million for the years ended December31 2012 2011 arid 201 respectively which are included within our Amortization

of Intangible Assets line item on our consolidated statements of operations

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel costs related to the design develop

ment testing and enhancement of our products Costs related to research and development activities including those

incurred to establish the technological feasibility of software product are expensed as incurred If technological feasibility

is established all development costs incurred until general product release are subject to capitalization To date the estab

lishment of technological feasibility of our products and general release have substantially coincided As result we have

not capitalized any development costs

Software Developed for Internal Use

We capitalize costs of software consulting services hardware and payroll-related costs incurred to purchase or develop

internal-use software We expense costs incurred during preliminary project assessment research and development re

engineering training
and application maintenance phases To date internal costs incurred to purchase or develop software

for internal use have not been significant

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred Advertising costs were $2.0 million $1.1 million and $1.1 million for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Stock-Based Compensation

Share-based payments including grants of stock options restricted stock units and employee stock purchase rights are

required to be recognized in the financial statements based on the estimated fair values for accounting purposes on the grant

date We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value for accounting purposes of stock options and

employee stock purchase rights We use the grant date closing share sales price of share of our common stock to estimate

the fair value for accounting purposes of restricted stock units The determination of the fair value of share-based awards

utilizing the Black-Scholes model is affected by our stock
price

and number of assumptions including expected volatility

expected life and risk-free interest rate The expected life and expected volatility are estimated based on historical data

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on observed interest rates appropriate for the terms of our share-based

awards Stock-based compensation expense recognized in our consolidated financial statements is based on awards that are

ultimately expected to vest The amount of stock-based compensation expense is reduced for estimated forfeitures based on

historical experience as well as future expectations Forfeitures are required to be estimated at the time of grant and revised

if necessary in subsequent periods if estimated and actual forfeitures differ from these initial estimates We evaluate the

assumptions used to value share-based awards on periodic basis If factors change and we employ different assumptions

stock-based compensation expense may differ
significantly

from what we have recorded in the past If there are any modifica

tions or cancellations of the underlying unvested share-based awards we may be required to accelerate increase or cancel

any remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation expense We recognize stock-based compensation expense based on

the graded or accelerated multiple-option approach over the vesting period
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We have outstanding share-based awards that have performance-based vesting conditions Awards with performance-based

vesting conditions require the achievement of certain financial or other performance criteria as condition to the vesting We

recognize the estimated fair value of performance-based awards net of estimated forfeitures as stock-based compensation

expense over the performance period using graded approach based upon our determination of whether it is probable that

the performance targets will be achieved At each reporting period we reassess the
probability

of achieving the performance

criteria and the performance period required to meet those targets Determining whether the performance criteria will be

achieved involves judgment and the estimate of stock-based compensation expense may be revised periodically
based on

changes in the probability of achieving the performance criteria Revisions are reflected in the period in which the estimate is

changed If performance goals are not met no stock-based compensation expense is recognized and to the extent stock-

based compensation was previously recognized such stock-based compensation is reversed

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the liability
method Deferred taxes are determined based on the differences between

the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the dif

ferences are expected to reverse Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the

amounts expected more likely
than not to be realized

We recognize in our consolidated financial statements the impact of tax positions that are more likely
than not to be sus

tained upon examination based on the technical merits of the positions See Note for additional information

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period

Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and dilutive potential common

shares outstanding during the period Dilutive potential common shares primarily consist of shares underlying our convertible

senior notes employee stock options and restricted stock units See Note 13 for additional information

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S subsidiaries that operate in local currency environment are translated to U.S Dollars at ex

change rates in effect at the balance sheet date with the resulting translation adjustments included as separate component

in accumulated other comprehensive income Ioss Income and expense accounts are translated at average exchange rates

during the year Where the U.S Dollar is the functional currency certain balance sheet and income statement accounts are

remeasured at historical exchange rates and translation adjustments from the remeasurement of the local currency amounts

to U.S Dollars are included in interest income and other net During the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we

had net foreign currency losses of $519000 $672000 and $1.0 million respectively attributable to our foreign operations

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income loss includes all changes in equity Inet assets during period from non-owner sources Accumu

lated other comprehensive income loss includes unrealized gains and losses on investments and foreign currency translation

adjustments

Segmenfs

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise engaged in business activities for which discrete financial

information is available and regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker CODMl of the enterprise to make

decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance Our CODM is our Chief Executive

Officer who reviews our consolidated budgets and results for the purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial

performance Accordingly we have determined that we operated within one separately reportable business segment as of

and for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 Future changes to our organizational structure or our business

or changes in the way our 00DM manages our business may result in changes to our reportable segments

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued amended disclosure guidance related to Common

Fair Value Measurement These amendments effective for the interim and annual periods beginning on or after December

15 2011 early adoption is prohibited result in common definition of fair value and common requirements for measurement

of and disclosure requirements between U.S GAAP and IFHS Additional disclosure requirements in this amended guidance

include information regarding Level fair value measurements an entitys use of nonfinancial asset that is different

from the assets highest and best use financial instruments not measured at fair value but for which disclosure of fair

value is required and the disclosure of all transfers between Level and Level of the fair value hierarchy We adopted

this new guidance in the first quarter of 2012 on prospective basis There was no impact to our consolidated financial re

sults as the adoption of this new amended guidance related only to additional disclosures around Level fair value measure

ments See Note for additional information
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In June 2011 the FASB issued disclosure guidance related to the presentation of the Statement of Comprehensive Income

This guidance eliminated the then current option to report other comprehensive income and its components in the statement

of changes in equity Under this guidance we are required to present either single continuous statement of comprehen

sive income or consolidated statement of operations immediately followed by statement of comprehensive income

Although this guidance changes the presentation of comprehensive income there are no changes to the components that

are recognized in net income or other comprehensive income under the previous guidance We adopted this guidance in the

first quarter of 2012 on retrospective basis There was no impact to our consolidated financial results as the adoption of

this guidance related only to changes in financial statement presentation In February 2013 FASB issued finalized disclosure

guidance related to the amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income Under this guidance were

required to show reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive income either in single note or parenthetically

on the face of the financial statements provided that all of the required information is presented in single location with the

effect of
significant amounts reclassified by component and the financial statement line items affected by the reclassification

The effective date is for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2012 We will adopt this new guidance on January 2013

We do not expect the adoption of this new guidance to have material impact on our consolidated financial position results

of operations and cash flows

In September 2011 the FASB issued updated guidance on the periodic testng of goodwill for impairment This guidance

allows companies to assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that goodwill will be impaired and

whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test required under current accounting standards This

guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after Decembei 15 2011 We adopted this new guidance in the fourth quarter

of 2011 on prospective basis The adoption of this new guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial posi

tion results of operations and cash flows

Acquisitions

We acquired VeriWave Inc VeriWave on July 18 2011 Anue Systems Inc Anue on June 2012 and BreakingPoint

Systems Inc BreakingPoint on August 24 2012 and have included the results of these acquisitions in our consolidated

results of operations since the acquisition dates

VeriWave Inc

The aggregate purchase price totaled $15.8 million and was funded from our existing cash and cash equivalents

For the year ended December31 2012 acquisition and other related costs related to the VeriWave transaction were not

significant For the year ended December31 2011 acquisition and other related costs including integration activities were

$972000 These acquisition and other related costs have been expensed as incurred and have been included within the

Acquisition and other related expenses line item on our consolidated statements of operations

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and

liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition in thousands

Cash and cash equivaients 235

Accounts receivabie 1660

inventories
32t

Prepuid arid other assets 268

identifiabie intangibie uooets 8800

Goodwill 7045

Totui assets acquired 18328

Accoonts payabie and accrued expenses 12020

Deferred revenues 15001

Net assets acquired t5808

The identifiable intangible assets of $8.8 million consist of $4.3 million of acquired technology $3.5 million of customer

relationships and $1.0 million of other identifiable intangible assets These intangible assets will be amortized using

straight-line method over their expected useful lives ranging from six months to six years The goodwill recorded in the United

States in connection with this transaction is not deductible for ncome tax purposes We do not consider the acquisition of

Veri Wave material for further disclosure
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Anue Systems Inc

On June 2012 we completed our acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of common stock of Anue Systems Inc

Anue Anue provides solutions to monitor and test complex networks including Anues Net Tool Optimizer solution that ef

ficiently aggregates and filters network traffic to help optimize network monitoring tool usage With this acquisition we have

expanded our addressable market broadened our product portfolio and grown our customer base In addition we expect

to leverage Anues existing sales channels and assembled workforce including its experienced development team These

factors among others contributed to purchase price
in excess of the estimated fair value of Anues net identifiable assets

acquired lsee summary of net assets below and as result we have recorded goodwill in connection with this transaction

The aggregate cash consideration paid totaled $152.4 million and is subject to certain post-closing adjustments including an

adjustment based on the final amount of Anues closing net working capital The acquisition was funded from our existing

cash and investments

Acquisition and other related costs including integration activities approximated $4.9 million for the year ended December

31 2012 These acquisition and other related costs have been expensed as incurred and have been included within the

Acquisition and Other Related line item on our condensed consolidated statements of operations

The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition in thousands

Cash asd cash eqsivaiesss
3.659

Acceests receieabie
11843

iseentsries
4388

Prepaid asd sther assets
2.880

Fised assets set
1.600

Idestifiabie istasgibie assets
74700

Gssdwffl
91376

Tstai assets acqeired
190538

Accsssts payabie accreed eepesses asd sther liabilities 181151

Deferred recesses
169871

Deferred tas habWity set
229861

Net assets acqaired
152440

During the fourth quarter of 2012 we increased our purchase price
for Anue from $151.9 million to $1 52.4 million due to the

updated computations of Anues net working capital and net taxes payable as of the closing date. We also updated the al

location of our purchase price to adjust certain deferred tax balances

The preliminary purchase price
allocation is pending the completion of certain items such as the final net working capital

adjustment and the final tax attributes that will be finalized upon the filing of certain pre-acquisition tax returns

The identifiable intangible assets of $74.7 million consist of $45.0 million of acquired technology $21.9 million of customer

relationships $4.0 million for the trade name $2.1 million related to non-Compete agreements and $1.7 million of other

identifiable intangible assets The fair values of the identifiable intangible assets have been estimated using the income

approach These intangible assets will be amortized using straight-line method over their expected useful lives ranging

from six months to six years The goodwill recorded in connection with this transaction is not deductible for U.S income tax

purposes

BreakingPoint Systems Inc

On August 24 2012 we completed our acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of common stock of BreakingPoint

Systems Inc BreakingPoint BreakingPoint is leader in security testing and its solutions provide global visibility into

emerging threats and applications along with advance insight into the resiliency of an organizations information technol

ogy infrastructure under operationally relevant conditions and malicious attacks With this acquisition we have expanded

our addressable market broadened our product portfolio
and grown our customer base In addition we expect to leverage

BreakingPoints existing sales channels and assembled workforce including its experienced product development and sales

teams These factors among others contributed to purchase price in excess of the estimated fair value of BreakingPoints

net identifiable assets acquired see summary of net assets below and as result we have recorded goodwill in connection

with this transaction
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The aggregate cash consideration paid totaled $163.7 million and was funded from our existing cash and investments

Acquisifion and other related costs including integration activities approximated $6.9 million for the year ended December

31 2012 These acquisition and other related costs have been expensed as incurred and have been included within the

Acquisition and Other Related line item on our condensed consolidated statements of operations

In connection with the acquisition we may be obligated to pay up to $3.8 million to certain pre-acquisition employees of

BreakingPoint over weighted average period of less than twc years provided they remain employees of Ixia For the year

ended December 31 2012 $2.1 million has been recorded within the Acquisition and Other Related line item on our con

densed consolidated statements of operations As of December31 2012 $708000 payments have been made

The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition in thousands

cash and cash eqsinalenns 13417

Accnsntn recninable 4552

lnnnntnrinn 3156

Prepaid and nnher assets 796

Fined assets net 936

Identifiable intangible assets 65606

Gnndwill 102652

Tntal annetn acqaired 191109

Accnnntn payable accrned enpennen and nther liabilitien 16.6991

Deferred renennen 163871

Deferred tan liability net 1141461

Net aseetn acquirnd 163667

During the fourth quarter of 2012 we reduced our purchase price for BreakiiigPoint from $164.1 million to $163.7 million as

result of the final computation of BreakingPoints closing net working capital We also updated the allocation of our purchase

price to adjust the values of certain intangible assets to decrease the accrual for vacation and to modify certain deferred fax

balances

The preliminary purchase price allocation is pending the completion of certain items such as the final tax attributes that will

be determined upon the filing of certain pre-acquisition tax returns

The identifiable intangible assets of $65.6 million consist of $22.7 million of acquired technology $20.6 million of customer

relationships $16.6 million of service agreements $2.9 million for the trade name $2.2 million related to non-compete

agreements and $600000 of other identifiable intangible assets The fair values of the identifiable intangible assets have

been estimated using the income approach These intangible assets will be amortized using straight-line
method over their

expected useful lives ranging from two weeks to six years The goodwill recorded in connection with this transaction is not

deductible for U.S income tax purposes

Pro Forms and Post Acquisition Results Unaudited

The following table summarizes the unaudited pro forma total revenues and net income of the combined entities including

Ixia had the acquisitions of Anue and BreakingPoint occurred on January 2012 and 2011 respectively in thousands

Year Ended nerember 3r

2t12 znrr

Intal reneenen 465897 $382192

Net incnme 13193 46441

The pro forma combined results in the table above have been prepared for comparative purposes only and include acquisi

tion related adjustments for among others items reductions in revenues related to the estimated fair value adjustment to

deferred revenues certain acquisition related costs amortization of identifiable intangible assets and the related income fax

effects for these adjustments including to record the $22.7 million and $12.1 million partial releases of our valuation allow

ance in the first quarter of 2011 rather than in the second and third quarters of 2012 respectively for the above pro forma

presentation Post-acquisition results for Anue and BreakingPoints operations have been included in our consolidated finan
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cial statements which include combined revenues of $54.9 million and combined loss before income taxes of approximately

$7.9 million for the year ended December31 2012 respectively The pro torma combined results as well as those of Anue

and BreakingPoint included in the Companys results subsequent to the acquisition date do not purport to be indicative of the

results of operations which would have resulted had the acquisition been effective at the beginning of the applicable periods

noted above or the future results of operations of the combined entity

LongTerm Debt

Convertible Senior Notes

On December 2D1D we issued $2DD.D million in aggregate principal amount of 3.DD% Convertible Senior Notes due

December 15 2015 unless earlier repurchased or converted the Notesi The unsecured Notes were offered and sold only to

qualified
institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 44A under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act The

Notes are governed by the terms of an indenture agreement the lndenture dated December 2010 which was filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC on December 2010

The Notes bear interest at rate of 3.00% per year payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each

year which began on June 15 2011 We may in certain instances be required to pay additional interest if the Notes are not

freely tradable by the holders thereof other than our affiliates beginning six months after the date of issuance and in connec

tion with events of default relating to our failure to comply with our reporting obligations to the trustee and the SEC During

2012 we made interest payments of $6.0 million

Debt issuance costs were approximately $6.0 million which were capitalized to deferred issuance costs and are being

amortized to interest expense over the five year term of the Notes using the straight-line
method During 2012 and 2D11we

recorded amortization of $1.2 million and $1.2 million respectively to interest expense pertaining to deferred issuance costs

The Notes are convertible at any time prior to the close of business on the third business day immediately preceding the ma

turity date at the holders option into shares of our Common Stock at an initial conversion rate of 51.4536 shares per $1 ODD

principal amount of Notes which represents an initial conversion price
of approximately $19.43 per share The conversion

rate is subject to adjustment for certain events that occur prior
to maturity such as change in control transaction as defined

in the debt agreement

We may not redeem the Notes prior
to the maturity date If fundamental change such as change in control event or if our

Common Stock ceases to be listed or quoted on any of the New York Stock Exchange the Nasdaq Global Select Market or

the Nasdaq Global Market or any of their respective successors occurs prior
to the maturity date holders may require us to

repurchase for cash all or part of their Notes at repurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal

amount of the Notes to be

repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest to but excluding the fundamental change repurchase date

The Indenture provides for customary events of default subject in certain cases to grace and cure periods including without

limitation the failure to pay amounts due under the Notes ill the failure to deliver the shares of our Common Stock due

upon conversion of any Note iH our failure to comply with other agreements contained in the Indenture or in the Notes iv

payment defaults on or acceleration of other indebtedness the failure to pay certain judgments and vi certain events

of bankruptcy insolvency or reorganization with respect to the Company An event of default under the Indenture other than

an event of default related to certain events of bankruptcy insolvency or reorganization will allow either the trustee or the

holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes to cause the acceleration of the Notes

An event of default related to certain events of bankruptcy insolvency or reorganization with respect to the Company will

automatically cause the acceleration of the Notes

As of December31 2012 and 2011 the estimated fair value of our $200.0 million principal convertible senior notes approxi

mated $230.1 million and $1 95.5 million respectively The estimated fair value of the Notes was determined based on the

market price of the Notes as of December31 2012 and 2011 which are based on Level inputs

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

On December21 2012 we entered into credit agreement the Credit Facility Agreement establishing senior secured

revolving credit facility the Credit Facility with certain institutional lenders that provides for an aggregate loan amount of

up to $150.0 million The Credit Facility is expected to mature on December21 2016 but may mature on September 14 2015

if we do not have available liquidity of $25.0 million in excess of the amount required to repay our Convertible Senior Notes

the Notes of $2DD.D million in full beginning on June 15 2D1 If we satisfy
this requirement between June 15 2015 and

September 14 2015 but fail to do so after September 15 2015 and prior to December 15 2015 the maturity date is the date

on which the requirement is no longer satisfied
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The Credit Facility which includes sublimit of up to $25.0 million for the issuance of standby letters of credit and swing-

line facility of up to $15.0 million is available to be used to among other things fund our working capital needs capital

expenditures and for other general corporate purposes including acquisitions stock repurchases and any partial refinanc

ing
of our Notes Subsequent to the closing date we may from time to time request an increase to the Credit Facility by an

amount of up to $50.0 million which increase would be subject to the consent of the lender or lenders if any assuming the

increased obligations

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at either tie Base Rate which is equal to the highest of the Agents
i.e Bank of America prime rate the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and Ic the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR
for one-month interest period plus 1.00% or the LIBOR plus applicable margin The applicable margin ranges are from

1.75% to 2.25% for LIBOR loans and 0.75% to 1.25% for Base Rate loans and depends on the Companys total leverage ratio

as defined in the Credit Facility Agreoment Interest is payable quarterly No amounts were drawn down under this Credit

Facility as of December 31 2012

Our obligations under the Credit
Facility are guaranteed by Anue Systems Inc BreakingPoint Systems Inc Catapult Com

munications Corporation and VeriWave Inc all of which are wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of Ixia and by any future

domestic and/or foreign subsidiaries of Ixia or such guarantors provided that no foreign subsidiary will be required to become

guarantor to the extent the guaranty would result in material adverse tax consequence to the Company The Credit
Facility

is secured by first priority security interest in substantially all
existing and after acquired tangible and intangible personal

property of lxia and of the guarantors and by the pledge by Ixia and by the guarantors of all outstanding equity securities of

their rospective domestic subsidiaries and 55% of the outstanding equity securities of directly owned foreign subsidiaries

Debt issuance costs were approximately $B4700D which were capitalized to deferred issuance costs and are being amortized

to interest expense over the expected four year term of the Credit
Facility using the straight-line method which is not materi

ally different from the effective interest method Amortization iecorded to interest expense pertaining to deferred issuance

costs was not significant in 2012

The Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with certain covenants including maintaining Ii an interest coverage

ratio as defined in the Credit
Facility Agreement of greater than 3.50 to 1.00 measured quarterly on trailing twelve months

basis and ii maximum leverage ratio as defined in the Credit Facility Agreement of not greater than 3.50 to 1.00 through

June 3D 2014 and 3.00 to 1.00 thereafter measured quarterly on trailing twelve months basis As of December 31 2012

we were in compliance with all such required covenants

We are required to pay commitment fee on the unused portion of the Credit
Facility

of up to maximum of 0.30% depending

on the Companys total leverage ratio The Credit Facility Agreement also provides for customary events of default subject

to grace and cure porinds in certain cases including without limitation failure to pay with no grace period for the

nonpayment of principal defaults under other agreements contained in the Credit Facility agreement Ic bankruptcy or the

commencement of insolvency proceedings including the appointment of receiver dl changes of control and failure to

pertorm or observe covenants contained in the Credit
Facility agreement documents Upon the occurrence of an event of de

fault the principal and accrued interest under the Credit
Facility then outstanding may be declared due and payable An event

of default related to certain events of bankruptcy insolvency or reorganization with respect to the Company will automatically

cause the acceleration of payment of the unpaid principal and accrued interest of all outstanding loans

Restructuring Costs

During the first quarter of 2010 our management approved committed to and initiated plan to restructure our operations

in light of our acquisition of Agilent Technologies Inc.s Agilerit N2X Data Network Testing Product Line business N2X
Restructuring on October 3D 2009 The N2X Restructuring included net reduction in force of approximately 80 positions

which represented approximately 7% of our worldwide work force including contractors at the beginning of the first quarter

of 2010 The restructuring was completed during the first quarter of 2D1D

During the third quarter of 2012 our management approved committed to and initiated plan to restructure our operations

following our recent acquisition of BreakingPoint BreakingPoint Restructuring The BreakingPoint Restructuring included

net reduction in force of approximately 29 positions primarily impacting our research and development team in Melbourne

Australia For the year ended December31 2012 we recognized restructuring costs of approximately $4.1 million and of this

amount $2.7 million primarily related to one-time employee termination benefits consisting of severance and other related

costs and $1.4 million related to facility costs associated with the closure of our office in Melbourne Australia and other

costs which were recorded to the Restructuring line item within our consolidated statement of operations As of December

31 2012 $1.0 million of such costs were accrued to the Accrued expenses and other line item within our consolidated bal

ance sheets The BreakingPoint restructuring was substantially completed during the fourth quarter of 2012
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Activity
related to our BreakingPoint Restructuring plan is as follows in thousands

Accrual at Oecember 31 2011

Chargea
4077

Paymenta
2275

Nun-caah llama 776

Accrual at Oecembur 31 2012 1026

Concentrations

Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarhy of cash and cash equivalents invest

ments and trade accounts receivable We maintain our cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions that management

deems reputable and at times cash balances may be in excess of FDIC insurance limits We extend differing levels of credit

to customers typically do not require collateral and maintain reserves for potential
credit losses based upon the expected

collectability
of accounts receivable

Significant Customers

For the years ended December31 2D1 2D1 and 2D1 only one customer comprised more than D% of total revenues as

follows in thousands except percentages

Year Ended Oecembur 31

2012 2011 2010

Reatated Reatatedl

Amuunt of total reueueaa
55662 43428 38089

Au perceetage at tatal reeeauea
13.5% 14.0% 13.7%

As of December31 2D1 and 2D1 customers and had receivable balances as follows in thousands except percentagesl

Year Ended Oecember 31

2012 2011

custamer

Amaeat at tatai receinabiea
8998 8029

Au percentage at tatal receinablea
8.7% 12.3%

custamer

Amaaat at total recainablea 8907 6508

Au parceataga
at tatai receinablea

8.6% 10.0%

International Data

For the years ended December31 2D1 2D1 and 2D1 total international revenues based on customer location consisted of

the following in thousands except percentagesY

Year Ended aecember 31

2012 2011 2310

Reatatad Reetated

Amount at tatal reaenaea 171.351 153889 136663

Au perceatage at total reaenaea
41.4% 49.4% 49.1%
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For the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 total revenues from product shipments to Japan were as follows in

thousands except percentages

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Restated Restated

Amount of total revenues 43622 29371 24601

As percentage of total revenues 106% 9.4% 8.8%

As of December31 2012 and 2011 our property and equipment net were geographically located as follows in thousands

As ci December31

20t2 2ttt

united States 12728 10834

India 6706 4294

Rorrnania 4376 3562

Other 4953 6370

28763 25060

Sources of Supply

We outsource the manufacture assembly and testing of printed circuit board assemblies certain interface cards and certain

chassis to limited number of third party contract manufacturers and assembly companies We cannot be certain that we
will be able to effectively manage or retain our contract manulacturers or that these contract manufacturers will continue to

operate as going concerns or to meet our future requirements for timely delivery of products of sufficient
quality

and quantity

We and our contract manufacturers currently buy some key components of our products from limited number of suppliers

which are manufactured by limited number of companies Although we believe that other contract manufacturers and sup

pliers could provide similar services and components on comparable terms change in one of our key contract manufacturers

or suppliers could cause delay in manufacturing additional cost inefficiencies and possible loss of sales which could

adversely affect our consolidated operating results

Selected Balance Sheet Data

Accounts Receivable Net

Accounts receivable net consisted of the following in thousands

December 31

2012 2011

Trade accounts receivable 104959 67104

Allowance for doubtful accnants 1.436 1747

103523 65357

Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the years presented is as follows in thousands

December 31

2012 2011 2010

Balance at beginning of year 1747 1073 654

Chargedtscostandespenses 131 1141 519

Reversal of csot and
expenses

Deductions 442 467 100

Balance at end of
year 1436 1747 1073
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Investments in marketable securities as ef December31 2D12 consisted of the following in thousands

Available-for-sale shsrt-terss

Amsrtissd Gross Gsrsalised Gross Gsrealised Fair

cost Gales Losses value

47933 .068

125756 lilt

Investments in marketable securities as of December31 2D1 consisted of the following in thousands

Available-far-sale shsrt-term

Amsrtised Gross Gorealised Gross Usrealised Fair

cost Gaiss Lassos value

84198 89 21 84285

to 1341 72399

156664156571 149 1381

75182 59 1441 75197

107124 1069 15561 107637

988 1.792 2774

163294 2920 6061 165608

339865 3069 6421 342202

During the first quarter of 2D1 we entered into an $8.9 million favorable legal
settlement with former investment manager

attributable to our auction rate securities that were previously written-off As part of the settlement we retained the auction

rate securities at issue which had an aggregate par value of $19.D million During the fourth quarter of 2D1 we sold certain

of our auction rate securities that were previously written-off and received proceeds of approximately $1 .D million The settle

ment and sales proceeds were recorded to the interest income and other net line item within our consolidated statement of

operations

As of December31 2D1 we held illiquid
auction rate securities with an estimated fair value of $3.1 million $4.4 million at

par value or original cost Based on the general lack of liquidity for our auction rate securities portfolio as of December31

2D12 we continue to classify these investments as long-term on our consolidated balance sheet

Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following in thousands

December 3t

2tt2 2ttt

Raw materials

wsrk is process

Fisished gssds

4530 3.7s4

14144 6871

18546 16604

37220 27239

u.s gssersmest
asd

agescy
debt secsrities

Csrpsrate debt sscsrities

Asailable-fsr-sale lssg-tsrm

Asctiss rate secerities

Total

77823 48 Ill 77870

201

211

48981

126851

820 2301 21 3119

620 2301 3119

126578 3417 231 129970

u.s gsversrssst asd agescy debt secsrities

Cerpsrate debt secsrities

Available-far-sale lssg-terw

U.5 gsversmest asd agescy debt secsrities

Gsrpsrate debt secsrities

Asctiss rate secsrities

Tstal

72373
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Property and Equipment Net

Property and equipment net consisted of the following dollars in thousands

Computer eqmpment

Computer unftmare

Demunatratiun equipment

Denelupment equipment

rurmture and other equipment

Leanehnld imprnvementn

Accumelated depreciation

Accrued Expenses and Other

Accrued expenses and other consisted of the following in thousands

Dueful Life

in yearnl

December 31

2Dt2 2tlt

11931 11994

3-5 13678 12384

25422 23631

21189 22331

15082 18247

111 11842 10297

99122 98884

1703591 1738241

28783 25060

December 31

2012 2011

Bone ten

Cempenuatinn and related
eepennen

Vacation

Cammiuninet

Other Taeen

Income Tauen

Prefentienal feeu

Other

12211 8297

10097

7552

6126

5214

6287

2149

3493 1474

3999

2245

895

1209

6892 4691

52525 28.196

Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
liability

in the
principal or most

advantageous market for an asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date

The hierarchy below lists three levels ot tair value based on the extent to which inputs used in measuring fair value are ob

servable in the market We categorize each of our fair value measurements in one of these three levels based on the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad

levels as follows

Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets

Inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly and

Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data which require the reporting entity to

develop its own assumptions

Level

Level

Level
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Financial assets carried at fair value as of December 31 201 and 2011 are classified in the table below in one of the three

categories described above in thousands

December 21 2012 December 3t 2511

Dusted Ousred

Pricer in

Prices is

Actise Sigsificast

Active Sitniiicast

Markers far Other Significast Markers far Other Signiiicast

Idestical Dbsersable Usubsersable Identical Obsemable Ussbsersable

Assets isputs Isputs
Assets isputs inputs

Fair Valve Level Lesel Level Pair Valve Level 11 Level Level

cash eqeivaiests

Moseymarkettueds 185 185
itt itt

Shorttsrm euestrseets

U.S gsversrsest asd agescy

debt secvrites 77870 77870 84285 84285

csrpsrase debt securties 48081 48981 72399 72399

Lssg-terrs iseestmests

U.S gsuersmest
asd egescy

debt securities 75197 75197

Cerpsrate debt securities 107837 107637

Auctise rate securities

Tstai tisascia assets

3119 3119 2774 2774

130155 185 126851 3119 342993 701 339518 2774

To estimate the fair value of our money market funds U.S treasury government and agency debt securities and corporate

debt securities we use the estimated fair value per our investment brokerage/custodial statements To the extent deemed

necessary we may also obtain non-binding market quotes to corroborate the estimated fair values reflected in our investment

brokerage/custodial statements

As of December 31 2012 we held $3.1 million of auction rate securities which we classify as Level because they are

valued using valuation models with unobservable marketable inputs Given the disruption in the auction process there is

no longer an actively quoted market price
for these securities Accordingly we utilized models to estimate the fair values of

these auction rate securities based on certain unobservable inputs and other items including the underlying structure of

each security the present value of future principal interest and/or dividend payments discounted at the appropriate rate

considering the market rate and conditions Hi consideration of the probabilities
of default auction failure or repurchase at

par for each period and iv credit quality and estimates of the recovery rates in the event of default for each security These

estimated fair values could change significantly based on among other events further deterioration in market conditions

for these securities further declines in the credit quality
of our auction rate securities or of the issuers of our auction rate

securities or hi cessation of dividend payments or default on interest or principal payments by the issuer of the securities

Significant increases or decreases in any of these unobservable inputs in isolation may result in significantly lower or higher

fair value measurement

There were no transfers of assets between levels within the fair value hierarchy for the years ended December31 2012 and

2011
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The following table summarizes the activity for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 for our auction rate securities

where fair value measurements are estimated utilizing Level inputs lin thousands

Year Eedad December31

2312 2511

eegnning balance

unrealized gain lanai recarded in ather camprehenniae incame

Realized gain recarded in earnings

Settlementn

Ending balance

2774 5251

513 14911

32 157

200 121431

3119 2774

There were no unrealized losses recorded in earnings for Level assets still held at December 31 2012 and 2011

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following table presents the 2012 activity for our goodwill in thousands

Balance at Janaary 201 86429

Add itiana

Anae Acqainitian 91.376

BreakingRaint Acqa aitian

Balance at December 31 2912

The following table presents the 2011 activity for our goodwill in thousands

Balaece at Jannary 2W 59364

Add itiann

veriwaae Acqainitian 7045

Balance at Oecember 31 2911 66429

The following table presents our purchased intangible assets in thousands as of December 31 2012

Other intangible aaaeta

Tech an lagy

Dereice agreements

Nnn-cnmpete

Trademark

Other

Weighted

Aeerage

Dsefn Life

lie years

74511

52067

17428

4180

6643

2154

157003

102652

260457

Castamer
reiatisnnhipa

Accamalated

Dress Amartizatise Net

4.2 5700

53 8976

5.4 141215 1667041

6.0 70376 182891

5.7 22700 15272

1520

23331

1262

95380

38 3416

252383
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Other Intangible anneta

Tech noingy

Cantemer relatinnnhipn

service agreementn

Nan-compete

Trademark

Other

Accumulated

Grout Amurtuatiun

The estimated future amortization expense of purchased intangible assets as of December31 2012 is as follows in thousands

2t1

2t 14

2t1

2016

2t17

Thereatter

Income Taxes

The components of income before income taxes were in thousands

46175

34224

29641

26265

it 945

7753

157tt3

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Hentated tentated

20419 4179 3652

__________________
25889 12961

39069 16553

it51

t9367

During 2012 the Companys pre-tax income shifted from foreign jurisdictions to the U.S as result of additional royalties

generated in the U.S related to the license of certain intellectual property rights of Anue and BreakingPoint

Income tax benefit expense consisted of the following in thousands

Current

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Itentatedl Aentatedl

9145 6761

2397 1721

4735 4024

27.910

10932

35181

697

409

2613

inceme tan benefit enpense 260931 3355 3723

Weighted

Auerage

Dueful Life Net

5.4 75792 53.049 22743

6.0 28410 11.0091 17461

4.7 6770 3835 2935

3.8 2338 1659 679

5.0 2076 1471 605

2.5 5584 39191

1749421 46028120970

U.S

Foreign

Federal

State

Foreign

Oeterred

Federal

State

Foreign

142 211

30 38

245
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The net effective income tax rate differed from the federal statutory income tax rate as follows dollars in thousands

Year Ended Oecember 31

2012 2011 2010

Restated lRestetedl

Federal etatatory eapenne
6779 10526 5796

State taeee net at federal benefit 69261 58 29t

Research and develepwent creditn
It 659 It 356

Onmeotic preductiun
dedectinn 18261

Steck-baned compenuatiun
.738 1082 936

Fereign tan rate differential 143861 150291 2147

Acqeinition related cnnto
991 113

valuation allowance
22578 17491 70

Other
1017 8711 273

Income tao benufit eupenne
26093 3355 3723

Net effective income tan rate 134 71% 11.2% 22.5%

During 2012 the Companys lower effective tax rate of 134.7Yn when compared to the federal statutory Income tax rate was

mainly the result of the Company releasing valuation allowances against its U.S deferred tax assets as further discussed

below The Companys lower effective tax rate during 2011 and 2010 when compared to the federal statutory income tax rate

was mainly the result of the benefit for research and development credits and benefits received as result of the Companys

operations in lower tax foreign jurisdictions

The primary components of temporary differences that gave se to deferred taxes were as follows in thousands

Oecervber 31

2012 2011

Re nta ted

Oeferred tan anuets

Allnwance for doubtful accounts
326 263

Reuearch and development credit carryferward
14241 15198

Foreign tan credit carryfurward
1418 1418

Oeferred revenue
2879 664

Stuck-baoed compensation
7350 7060

inventory adustmentu
5139 3755

Net operating
loon carryfurward

10543 6281

unrealued loon on roventments
3631 4054

Accrued liabilitieo and other 4472 2875

Oepruciatinn amorticatien
3468

53467 41508

valuation allowance
19771 367721

51496 4736

Oeferred tan liabilities

Oeprvciatisn and amortinatiun
456351 4.1891

Net deferred tan assets
5855 627
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As of December31 2012 and 2011 current deferred tax assets totaled $24.2 million and $0 respectively and were included

within the Prepaid Expenses Other Current Assets line item in our consolidated balance sheets As of December31 2012

and 2011 long-term deferred tax assets totaled $5.6 million and $1.1 million respectively and were included as part of the

Other Assets line item in our consolidated balance sheets

As of December31 2012 and 2011 long-term deferred tax liabilities totaled $23.9 million and $471000 respectively and

were included within the Other Liabilities line item in our consolidated balance sheets

The realizability of deferred income tax assets is based on more likely than not standard If it is determined that it is more

likely than not that deferred income tax assets will not be realized valuation allowance must be established against the

deferred income tax assets

Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent primarily on the generation of future taxable income In considering the

need for valuation allowance we consider our historical as well as future projected taxable income along with other posi

tive and negative evidence in assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets

During 2012 management reevaluated its need for full valuation allowance previously set against its U.S deferred tax

assets and concluded it is more likely
than not that all of its U.S deferred tax assets with the exception of its deferred tax

assets for capital loss carryforwards will be realized Managements conclusion to release the valuation allowance was

due to among other reasons the three-year cumulative pre-tax accounting income realized in the U.S ii the significant

utilization of its net operating loss carryfowards and RD credits during 2011 and 2012 and iiithe significant net deferred

tax liabilities recorded in connection with the 2012 acquisitions of Anue and BreakingPoint

For the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recorded changes in our valuation allowance of $34.8 million

$800000 and $1.2 million respectively

As of December 31 2012 we have gross federal and state research and development credit carryforwards of approximately

$10.4 million and $18.2 million respectively The federal carryovers begin to expire 2021 while the state carryovers have an

indefinite carryover period

As of December31 2012 we have gross federal foreign tax credit carryforwards of approximately $1.4 million which begin to

expire 2013

At December31 2012 we have gross federal and state net operating loss NOLs carryforwards of approximately $35.1

million and $4.9 million respectively The federal NOLs expire beginning 2022 and the state NOLs begin to expire in 2016

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposes an annual limitation on the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards

related to acquired corporations based on statutory rate of return usually the applicable federal funds rate as defined in

the Internal Revenue Code and the value of the corporation at the time of change in ownership as defined by Section 382

We estimate that our annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code is approximately $1 5.8 million

Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries for which no deferred income taxes have been provided approxi

mated $80.4 million and $82 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively Deferred income taxes on these earnings

have not been provided because these amounts are expected to be reinvested indefinitely
outside the U.S

At December31 2012 we had gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $14.5 million Of this total approximately

$7.5 million net of the federal benefit on state issues would affect our effective tax rate if recognized We classify liabilities

for unrecognized tax benefits for which we do not anticipate payment or receipt of cash within one year in noncurrent other

liabilities

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense During the years ended Decem

ber 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recognized approximately $63000 $118000 and $43000 net of federal benefit of interest

within our statements of operations We had accrued interest net of federal benefit of $1.5 million as of December31 2012

and December31 2011 We file income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and in various state and foreign jurisdic

tions With few minor exceptions we are no longer subject to U.S federal state and local or non-U.S income tax examina

tions by tax authorities in material
jurisdictions

for the tax years ended prior to 200 The U.S Internal Revenue Service is

currently examining our 2010 and 2009 federal income tax returns
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reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in thousands

___________
2012 2011 2010

Unrecotxized Tax Bexetitx begixxixg balaxce 13.232 123t3 16.629

Acqxirnd xxrecxgnized tax bexntitx 3tt

Grxxx ixcrexxex Tax pxxitixxx takex ix prixr perixd 243

Grxxx decreaxex Tax pxxitixxx taken in prixr perixd ll4tl lltl

Grxxx ixcrnxxxx Tax pxxiixxx txkxx ix cxrrext perixd .634 2256 tbt

Lxpxe xt xtxtotn xf lirxitxtixxx 19121 11.1971 i3tll

Uxrncxgxiznd Tax Bexntitx ending balance 14454 13232 123t3

At December 31 2012 we expect approximately $1.2 million in reductions to our recorded liability for unrecognized tax

benefits to occur over the next 12 months

10 Commitments and Contingencies

Effective June 2012 we entered into fourth amendment to our office lease agreement the Amended Lease related to

our corporate headquarters located in Calabasas California The Amended Lease extends the
original lease as amended by

ten years with no extension options The
original lease as ariended was set to expire on May31 2013

We lease our facilities under noncancelable operating leases for varying periods through May 2023 excluding options to

renew The following are the future minimum commitments under these leases in thousands

Ynxi Exdixg December31

2613 lt25t

2t14 7573

2t15 t459

2tlt 3llt

2617 2393

Thereafter 12.996

42761

Mirlmxm paymertx hxxn ext beer rndxcnd by minimxm xxblnxxe rnrtxlx xl $1.1 millixe dxn in rbe fxture xxder xxxcaxcx able xnbleases

Bent expense for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 was approximately $8.9 million $7.7 million and $8.4

million respectively

Litigation

Tucana Telecom NV vs Catapult On May 22 2007 the Antwerp Court of Appeals heard an appeal by Tucana Telecom NV

TucanaL Belgian company of the previous dismissal by the Antwerp Commercial Court of an action by Tucana against

Catapult Ixia acquired Catapult Communications Corporation lCatapult on June 23 2009 Tucana had sought damages of

10.4 million Euros for the alleged improper termination in 2002 by Catapult of Tucanas distribution agreement with Catapult

On June 19 2007 the Antwerp Court of Appeals confirmed the Commercial Courts dismissal of Tucanas action and assessed

the costs of the appeal against Tucana On July 22 2008 Catapult was notified by its Belgian counsel that Tucana had ap

pealed the judgment of the Antwerp Court of Appeals to the Belgian Supreme Court In decision dated January 14 2010

the Belgium Supreme Court set aside the decision of the Antwerp Court of Appeals and remanded the matter for trial to the

Ghent Court of Appeals On March 11 2011 Tucana served Catapult with writ scheduling an introductory hearing before

the Ghent Court of Appeals for June 22 2011 and hearing on the merits of the case was ultimately scheduled to be held on

March 26 2014 This matter along with the related California itigation was settled as described below on June 15 2012

Catapult vs Tucana Telecom NV In June 2010 Catapult filed complaint against Tucana in the Superior Court of the State of

California County of Los Angeles seeking declaratory and injunctive relief and damages for breach of the distribution agree

ment Catapult filed its First Amended Complaint on September 2010 to address statute of limitations issue raised by Tu

canas initial response Catapult sought declaration that the distribution agreement was valid and enforceable agreement

and that the distribution agreements mandatory forum selection and choice of law provisions were enforceable and required

that the
litigation

of any dispute involving
the agreement be brought in court located in the County of Los Angeles Catapult

also sought an order permanently enjoining Tucana from prosecuting any claims arising out of Tucanas distribution relation

ship with Catapult in any judicial
forum outside the County of Los Angeles Catapult also seeks compensatory damages of
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not less than $200000 for damages suffered by Catapult arising out of Tucanas breach of the distribution agreement Tucana

filed demurrer to the First Amended Complaint on October 12 2010 seeking dismissal of the action based on the statute

of limitations and the doctrine of laches Catapult filed its opposition to the demurrer on November 23 2010 The hearing on

the demurrer was held on March 24 2011 The Superior Court overruled the demurrer in its entirety and on April
2011

Tucana filed an answer to the complaint generally denying Catapults allegations and alleging certain affirmative defenses

The parties thereafter engaged in discovery and attended private
mediation on May 18 2011 in Los Angeles which did not

resolve the case On June 17 2011 Tucana filed motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of the entire action on the

grounds of judicial estoppel based on statements made in the Belgian proceeding by Catapults previous Belgian counsel

motion which Catapult vigorously opposed The Court conducted hearing on that motion on December 19 2011 and issued

an order granting Tucanas motion Based on that order on January 12 2012 the Court entered judgment in favor of Tucana

and has entered an order awarding Tucana its attorneys fees and costs in the total amount of approximately $116000 On

February 23 2012 Catapult timely filed its Notice of Appeal from the Judgment based on the Courts errors in granting sum

mary judgment

The Belgian and California litigation matters involving Tucana former distributor of Catapult our wholly owned subsidiary

Catapult and Catapult were amicably resolved pursuant to confidential Settlement Agreement and Mutual Oeneral

Release dated June 15 2012 the Settlement Agreement Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement Catapult dismissed its

appeal in the California litigation
on September 18 2012 and Tucana submitted its Full Acknowledgment of Satisfaction

of Judgment on September 27 2012 bringing the California litigation to conclusion In addition on October 32012 the

Ghent Court of Appeals entered judgment enacting the joint withdrawal of claim submitted by Catapult and Tucana thereby

terminating the Belgian litigation

On June 15 2012 Catapult issued demand for indemnification to Tekelec pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement

between Tekelec and Catapult dated July 15 2002 the APA under which Catapult had succeeded to Tekelecs relation

ship with Tucana Catapult demanded indemnification for the full amount of Catapults costs including attorneys fees and

expenses incurred in defending against and resolving Tucanas claims

Because Catapults demand for indemnification was not resolved within the 30-day period provided for by the APA on July 16

2012 Catapult demanded arbitration of its indemnification claim against Tekelec The arbitration hearing took place before

three arbitrators on January 14 and 15 2013 The arbitrators issued their final award on January31 2013 granting Catapult

its full indemnity claim against Tekelec in the amount of approximately $1.2 million

lndemn/fications

In the normal course of business we provide certain indemnifications commitments and guarantees of varying scope to

customers including against claims of intellectual property infringement made by third parties arising
from the use of our

products We also have certain obligations to indemnify our officers directors and employees for certain events or occurrenc

es while the officer director or employee is or was serving at our request in such capacity The duration of these indemnifica

tions commitments and guarantees varies and in certain cases is indefinite Many of these indemnifications commitments

and guarantees do not provide for any limitation of the maximum potential future payments that we could be obligated to

make However our director and officer insurance policy may enable us to recover portion of any future payments related

to our officer director or employee indemnifications Historically
costs related to these indemnifications commitments and

guarantees have not been significant
and accordingly we believe the estimated fair value of these indemnifications com

mitments and guarantees are not material With the exception of the product warranty accrual see Note for additional

information no liabilities have been recorded for these indemnifications commitments and guarantees

11 Shareholders Equity

Stock Award Plans

Amended and Restated 1997 Eouitv and Incentive Plan

Our Amended and Restated 1997 Equity and Incentive Plan as amended the 1997 Plan provides for the issuance of

share-based awards to our eligible employees and consultants The share-based awards may include incentive stock options

ISO nonstatutory stock options restricted stock units RSU or restricted stock awards Options become exercisable

over vesting period as determined by the Board of Directors and expire over terms not exceeding 10 years from the date of

grant The exercise price
for options granted under the 1997 Plan may not be granted at less than 100% of the fair market

vaue of our Common Stock on the date of grant llO% for ISOs granted to an employee who owns more than 10% of the vot

ing shares of the outstanding stock Options generally vest over four-year period In the event the holder ceases to be em

ployed by us all unvested options are forfeited and all vested options may be exercised within period of up to 30 days after

the optionees termination for cause up to 90 days after termination other than for cause or as result of death or disability

or up to 180 days after termination as result of disability or death The 1997 Plan terminated in May 200Q and as such no

shares are available for future grant As of December 31 2012 397000 awards remained outstanding under the 1997 Plan



82 Ixia Annual Report 2012

Amended and Restated 2008 Equity Incentive Plan as amended

Our Amended and Restated 2008 Equity Incentive Plan as amended the 2008 Plan or the PlanL provides for the issuance

of share-based awards to our eligible employees directors and consultants The share-based awards may include lSOs non-

statutory stock options stock appreciation rights RSU or restricted stock awards Options become exercisable over vesting

period as determined by the Board of Oirectors and expire over terms not exceeding years from the date of grant The

exercise price for options granted under the 2008 Plan may not be granted at less than 100% of the fair market value of our

Common Stock on the date of grant 110% for ISOs granted to an employee who owns more than 10% of the voting shares of

the outstanding stock Options generally vest over four-year period In the event the holder ceases to be employed by us
all unvested options are forfeited and all vested options may be exercised within period of up to 90 days after termination

other than for termination for cause for which the vested options are forfeited on the termination date or uI as result of

death or disability for which vested options may be exercised br up to 180 days after termination The 2008 Plan will termi

nate in May 2018 unless terminated sooner by the Board of Directors

In May 2010 the 2008 Plan was amended to add our non-empioyee directors to the categories of persons to whom equity

incentive awards may be granted under the 2008 Plan Our Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Equity Incentive

Plan the Director Plan had previously provided for the issuance of share-based awards to our non-employee directors The

Director Plan terminated in September 201 Upon the termination of the Director Plan share-based awards are now granted

to our non-employee directors under the 2008 Plan

During the second quarter of 2011 our shareholders approved the Second Amendment to the 2008 Plan which resulted in the

following

Increase in Share Reserve Increase of the total number of shares of our Common Stock available for future grants by 7.7

million shares to total of 19.2 million shares of our Common Stock reserved as of December 31 2012 of which 4.2 mil
lion shares net of the fungible share reserve impact discussed below were available for future grant as of December31
2012

Introduction of Fungible Share Reserve The share reserve under the Plan became fungible share reserve so that with

respect to grants made after December31 2010 the authorized share reserve is reduced by one share for every one

share subject to stock option or share appreciation right granted under the Plan and ii two shares for every one share

subject to restricted stock unit or restricted stock award granted under the Plan Similarly each share that is credited

back to the Plan e.g upon expiration of an unexercised option or forfeiture of an unvested restricted stock unit after

December31 2010 increases the share reserve by one shaie if the share had been the subject of an option or share ap
preciation right and by two shares if the share had been subject to restricted stock unit or restricted stock award i.e
full value award

Acquisitions and Combinations In connection with acquisitions and combinations by us we can grant under the Plan

awards in substitution or exchange for awards or rights to future awards previously granted by the acquired or combined

company without reducing the shares available under the Plan Any shares subject to but not issued under any such sub
stitute awards would not become available for other awards granted under the Plan Also in the event that company
acquired by us or with which we combine has pre-existing plan approved by its shareholders that was not adopted in

contemplation of the acquisition or combination available shares under that plan may be used for Plan awards without

reducing the shares available under the Plan Any such awards may only be made to persons who were not eligible to

receive awards under the Plan
prior to the acquisition or combination and may not be made after the date that awards

could have been made under the terms of the pre-existing plan

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December31 2012 in thousands except per share

and contractual life data

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Fiemaivivg Aggregate

Nvmber Eaercive Price Csntravtvai ivrrivvic

_______________________________________________________________________
cI Optivvv Pet Share Liie iv iearsi vaive

Outstaedisg as si Oecember 31 2611 6425 9.85 4.22 12699

Grsnied
2916 14.71

Evercised
12454 9.16

rsrieited/cgeceled
5541 14.14

Dststgsding as si December31 2012 6333 12.37 5.84 3t2t1

vested sad espected Is vest as sf December31 2012 5952 12.22 4.96 20322

Esercissble assf December 31 2t12 2341 9.33 3.68 18882



Ixia Annual Raport 2012 83

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 201 was

$5 89 $6.4D and $3.19 per share respectively The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December

31 2D12 2D11 and 2DlDwas $14.6 million $11.3 million and $14.2 million respectively As of December 31 2D12 the

remaining unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options is expected to be recognized over weighted average

period of 1.48 years

The following table summarizes ASU activity for the year ended December31 2D1 in thousands except per share data

Weighted

Average

Nvmher Eeercive Price

ef Awerds Per Sharee

Oetstgedieg cc ef Oecember 31 2011
1663 9.03

Awarded
996 15.39

vested

7651 9.37

rerfeited/canceied

11121 9.75

Oetstsadieg ae ef Oecember 31 2012
1692 12.69

The weighted average remaining contractual life and expense recognition period of the outstanding RSUs as of December31

2D1 was 1.45 years

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The employee stock purchase plan the 2DDD Purchase Plan was adopted and approved in September 2DDD The 2DDD

Purchase Plan became effective upon the closing of our initial public offering
in Dctober 2DDD and was amended in May 2DD3

and in
April

2DD6 The 2DDD Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to purchase Common Stock subject to limitations as

set forth in the 2DDD Purchase Plan through payroll deductions which may not exceed the lesser of 15% of an employees

compensation or $21 25D per annum The 2DDD Purchase Plan is implemented in series of consecutive overlapping 24

month offering periods with each offering period consisting of four six month purchase periods Dffering periods begin on

the first trading day on or after May and November of each year During each 24-month offering period under the 2DDD

Purchase Plan participants accumulate payroll
deductions which on the last trading day of each six-month purchase period

within the offering period are applied toward the purchase of shares of our Common Stock at purchase price equal to 85%

of the lower of the fair market value of share of our Common Stock as of the first trading day of the 24 month offering

period and uI the fair market value of share of Common Stock on the last trading day of the six-month purchase period The

2DDD Purchase Plan expired in September 2010 The last offering period under the 2DDD Purchase Plan commenced on May

201 and ended on April 3D 2D1 We had reserved total of 4.5 million shares of Common Stock for issuance under the

2DDD Purchase Plan no shares are available for future issuance as of December31 2012 For the years ended December31

2D1 and 2011 D5DDD and 375DDD shares respectively were issued under the 2DDD Purchase Plan

During the second quarter of 201 our shareholders approved the 2D1 Employee Stock Purchase Plan the 2D1 Purchase

Plan The 2D1D Purchase Plan replaced the 2DDD Purchase Plan The 2D1D Purchase Plan is implemented in series of

consecutive overlapping 24-month offering periods with each offering period consisting of four six-month purchase periods

Dffering periods begin on the first trading day on or after May and November of each year The first 24-month offering

period under the 201 Purchase Plan began on November 201 and ended on Dctober 31 201 The 2D1 Purchase Plan

will terminate in March 2D2D unless it is earlier terminated by the Board of Directors We have reserved total of 3DD0DD

shares of Common Stock includes BDDDDD shares added to the initial share reserve pursuant to the automatic annual

increase provisions of the 201 Purchase Plan for issuance under the 2010 Purchase Plan of which 5B2DDD shares are

available for future issuance for the existing
and future offering periods The 2010 Purchase Plan provides the

potential
for

an automatic annual increase of up to 500000 in the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2010 purchase plan

on May of each year during the ten-year term of the plan For the years ended December31 2012 and 2011 562000 and

156000 shares respectively were issued under the 2010 Purchase Plan

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We calculated the estimated fair value for accounting purposes of each share-based award on the respective dates of grant

using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the following weighted average assumptions

Year rnded Oecember 31

2gr2 2gtr zgtg

Eepected iiees lie yearsl

4.1 3.3 36

Rick-free interest rates
0.6% 1.3% 1.6%

nisidesd yieid

t.t% 0.0% 0.0%

seiatihty

51.8% 50.5% 46.1%
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The aggregate balance of gross unrecognized stock-based compensation to be expensed in the years 2013 through 2016

related to unvested share-based awards as of December31 2012 was approximately $33.6 million

Stock Repurchase Program

On October 22 2012 our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $25 million of our common stock from time to

time during the 12 months thereafter on the open market or ir
privately negotiated transactions The timing of repurchases

and the actual number of shares repurchased will depend on variety of factors including our stock price regulatory require

ments and market conditions We may terminate this repurchase program at any time As of December31 2012 no shares of

our common stock had been repurchased under this program

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes as of each balance sheet date the components of our accumulated other comprehensive

income net of income taxes in thousands

December 31

________________________________________________________________ 2012 2011

unreahoed
gains on marketable secorities 2094 1875

usreahoed liossesi on marketable secorities
1141 13911

roregn corrency translation gains 219 746

Total accumsiased other comprehension income
2289 2230

Other Comprehensive Income

The tax impact of unrealized gains and losses were $373000 $291000 and $200000 for the years ended December31 2012
2011 and 2010 respectively

12 Retirement Plan

We provide 401k Retirement Plan the Plan to eligible employees who may authorize contributions up to IRS annual

deferral limits to be invested in employee elected investment funds As determined annually by the Board of Directors we
may contribute matching funds of 50% of the employee contributions up to $2500 These matching contributions vest based

on the employees years of service with us For the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 we expensed and made
contributions to the Plan in the amount of approximately $670000 $845000 and $820000 respectively
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13 Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the periods indicated in thousands

except per share data

Basic Presentation

2t12

Year tnded December 3t

sttt 2ttO

Restated Restated

Nsmeratsr for basic earnings per
share

Net income

Oensmitator far basic earnings per
there

Weighted anerage commas shares setatanding

45460 26713 12830

72183 69231 65t57

Basic earnings per there
0.63 0.30 0.20

Dilated Presentation

Nemeratsr for dusted earnings per
share

Net income

interest espense ne connertibie senier notes set sites

Net income oned far dilated earnings per share

Oenaminator fnr diiotine earningn per
share

Weighted anerage common shares ootntandmng

Effect of diiutine nocuritien

Stnck optiono and other ohare-baned awards

Cnnnertibie onnior notes

Oiiotine potential common shares

Oiiutod earnings per share

45480 26713 12830

4399

49859 26713 t2830

72183 89231 65157

2031 2433 26t

10291

84505 71664 67769

6.59 6.37 0.19

The diluted earnings per share computation for the year ended December31 2D1 exclude the weighted average number of

shares underlying our employee stock options and other share-based awards of 2.3 million shares which were anti-dilutive

because in general the exercise price of these awards exceeded the average closing sales price per share of our common

stock

The diluted earnings per share computations for the years ended December31 2D1 and 2D1D exclude the weighted

average number of shares underlying our outstanding convertible senior notes of 1D.3 million and 676DDD shares respec

tively as they are considered anti-dilutive because the related interest expense on per common share if converted basis

exceeds basic earnings per share and the weighted average number of shares underlying our employee stock options and

other share-based awards of 1.1 million and 1.4 million shares respectively which were anti-dilutive because in general the

exercise price of these awards exceeded the average closing price per share of our Common Stock during 2D1 and 2D1
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14 Quarterly Financial Summary Unaudited

The unaudited quarterly financial data presented below with the exception of the quarter ended December31 2012 have

been restated to correct the manner in which we recognized revenue related to our warranty and software maintenance

contracts including previous implied warranty and software maintenance arrangement with one of our customers See Note

15 for additional information and reconciliations from the amounts as originally reported to the applicable restated amounts

Three Months Ended

Dec 31 Sep 33 Jun 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar 31

2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011

Restated Restated Enstated Restated Restated Restated Restated

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data

Total revenues 125469 110605 90702 86658 84474 78063 70926 77.907

Total cost of nevenuesm 32064 30241 20585 19593 20357 18633 17159 18013

Gross profit 93405 80364 70.117 67065 64117 59430 53767 59894

income before income tanen 4.821 2669 5265 6612 11.622 0.183 2642 7621

Net income 3653 10.944 25696 5167 10971 7068 2037 6637

Earnings per
share

Basic 0.05 0.15 0.36 0.07 0.16 010 003 10

Diluted 0.05 014 0.32 0.07 0.15 0.10 003 0.09

For the quarters ended December31 2012 September 30 2012 June 30 2012 March31 2012 December31 2011

September 30 2011 June 30 2011 and March 31 2011 total cost of revenues include charges related to amortization

of intangible assets of $7.0 million $7.0 million $3.6 millioi $2.7 million $2.9 million $2.9 million $2.5 million and $2.5

million respectively

12
For the quarters ended September 30 2012 and June 30 2312 we recorded partial release of our valuation allowance of

$12.1 million and $22.7 million in the third and second quarters of 2012 respectively

In 2012 our management approved committed to and initiated plan to restructure our operations in light of our acquisi

tion of BreakingPoint For the quarters ended December31 2012 and September 30 2012 we recorded restructuring

expenses of $2.0 million and $2.1 million respectively

15 Restatement

Restatement of prior period financial statements

We have restated our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December31 2011 and 2010 and our unaudited

quarterly financial information for each of the quarters in the year ended December 31 2011 and ii for the first three

quarters in the year ended December31 2012 to correct the manner in which we recognize revenue related to our warranty
and software maintenance contracts including previous implied warranty and software maintenance arrangement with one

of our customers Specifically we have made the following two corrections to our revenue recognition practices to properly

report revenue in
prior periods

Accounting Practice Error We recognize revenue related to our warranty and software maintenance contracts on the

effective date of each such contract rather than in the first calendar month following the effective date of the contract as

though the warranty and maintenance period commenced on the first day of such month We also now recognize revenue

related to back maintenance fees when evidence of an arrangement exists rather than commencing in the first calendar

month following the effective date of the contract as though the warranty and maintenance period commenced on the first

day of such month

Implied Arrangement Error We cease to defer revenue for any implied warranty and software maintenance arrangement

upon the
receipt

from the applicable customer of the first suostantive contract for extended warranty and software main
tenance services and we will recognize the applicable previously deferred revenue related to the implied arrangement

provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met The Companys historical practice was to continue to defer

revenue for implied warranty and software maintenance arrangements despite the receipt of an initial substantive ex
tended warranty and software maintenance contract until we could establish pattern that we were able to enforce our

warranty and software maintenance contracts as evidenced by among other items the consistent receipt of extended

renewal orders from the specific customer for warranty and software maintenance services and ii senior managements
assertion that warranty and software maintenance services would not be provided to the customer if

existing contracts

were canceled or were not renewed
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These changes in our revenue recognition practices generally result in shift of revenue between accounting periods and

do not have any impact on the total revenue recognized over the life of warranty and software maintenance contract or

arrangement although the timing of the recognition of such revenue commences earlier and ends earlier than would be the

case under the Companys previously used accounting treatment

The prior period financial statements included in this filing have been restated to reflect the corrections of these errors

which impact revenues from products revenues from services and deferred revenues current and non-current All other

adjustments relate to the applicable income tax effects of these errors The following schedules reconcile the amounts as

originally reported in the applicable financial statement to the corresponding restated amounts The consolidated statement

of shareholders equity was revised to reflect the cumulative effect of these adjustments in periods prior to 2010 resulting in

an increase to retained earnings and total shareholders equity of $3.3 million which is reflected in the beginning balance as

of January 12010

Restated consolidated balance sheet amounts

As of December 31.2011

As Previousiy Restatement

Reported Adjustments Restated

In thousandsi

Deferred revenues current

Accounting practice error
2247

imphed arrangement error

9311

40963 4.178 36785

Totai current lrabiiitieo
74164 4178 69986

Deferred revenues non-current

Accounting practice error
1713

imphed arrangement error

2146

10092 3859 6233

Other
5849 163 6012

Totai habilities
290105 7874 282231

Retained earnings
63962 7874 71836

Total sharehuidero equity
344362 7874 352236

Tntai habihties and oharehoiders eqoity
634467 $634467
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Revenues

Products

FnrtheYearEnded December31 2011

An Previnusp Oentatemerr

Repnrted Adtnntments Rentated

liv
tbnunandn eacnpt per share data

Implied arrangement error

Services

Accounting practice error

Implied arrangement error

Income before income tases

Income tao espenne

Banic

Diluted

247

249679 247 249423

488

1773

58686 3261 61947

0.34 6.05 039

0.33 0.04 037

For the Year Ended December31 2010

As Psesissslp Oestsrement

8eposred Adjcntments Restated

Renenoes

Prod octo

un thousands eacnpr per
share daral

Implied arrangement error

Seroices

Accounting practice errer

Implied arrangement error

Total renenuen

Income from opeFationo

Income before income taoen

Income tan eopenoe

Net inceme

Earnings per share

227880

198

198 227682

1285

605

48935 1990 50825

276815 1692 270507

4371 1692 6063

14861 1692 16553

3653 70 3723

11208 1622 12830

Basic 0.17 0.03 0.20

0.17 0.02 0.19

Total renenues

Income from operations

Net income

Earnings per share

308356

32195

27054

3279

23775

3014

3014

3014

76

311370

35209

30068

3355

2938 26713

Dileted
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Restated consolidated statements ef comprehensive inceme ameunts

As Previously Restatemest

Reported Adiustmests
Restated

us thousands

Year eeded December31 2011

Net income
23775 2938 26713

Comprehensive iscome
23551 2938 26489

Year esded December 31 2010

Net income
11208 1622 12830

Campreheesive
income

12013 1622 13635

Restated consolidated statement of cash flows amounts

The correction ot the errors described abeve did net impact oar total caoh flown from operating activities investing activities or financing activities within ocr

consolidated statements of cash flows

An Previously Restatement

Reported Ad1ostmonts Restated

un thousands

Year ended December31 2011

Net income
23775 2938 26713

Deferred income tases
994 76 918

Deferred revenoes
3880 3014 866

Net cash provided by operating activities
61331 61331

Year ended December 31 2010

Net income
11208 1622 12830

Deferred income tases
65 70

Deferred revenoes
9524 1692 7832

Net canh provided by operating activities
50429 50429
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Restated quarterly financial statements Unaudited

The prior period unaudited quarterly financial statements inchjded below have been restated to correct the manner in which

we recognize revenue related to our warranty and software rraintenance contracts and arrangements as more fully described

above

Condensed consolidated balance sheets unaudited in thousands

September 30 June 30 March 31

_________________ ____________________________________________
2312 2012 2012

Restated testated Restated

Assets

Csrrest assets

cash asd cash equisalests 51ttt 45396 494t4

Shsrt-term issestmeats is marketable securities 2tttt 9645t 169751

Accsssto receisable set 1t2776 71521 63357

lssssssnies
36209 33153 26796

Prepaid espesses asd ether csrrsst assets 23699 ttt19 13330

Tstal cerrest assets 234033 265347 322t4t

lesestmests is marketable secsrities t292t 144924 2t23tt

Prsperty asd eqsipmest set 28793 27313 25t17

Issasgible assets set 167126 t1te29 421t9

Goodwill 259236 156665 66429

Other assets 5661 5655 6750

Total assets 777197 712999 $566214

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Goriest liabilities

Accsasts payable 14590 9.329 9949

Accrsed
espesses asd other 51945 35612 32815

Oeferred reveeses 59565 48524 41941

Total currest liabilities 126ltt 93656 64797

Oeferred reeesueo 6759 6569 5956

Other liabilities 12566 9195 6657

Csaeertible sesist soles 205509 209050 200005

Total liabilities 347447 309445 297319

Shareholders equity

Cemmos stock without
par cube 200905 shares authorized at

September 30 2012 Jose 30 2012 and March 312012

73313 71899 aed 71179 shares isoeed aed outstaodisg

as September 30 2012 Jeee 30 2012 and

March 31 2912 reopectieely 153018 142914 138277

Additional paid-is capital 160062 154521 150598

Retained eareiego 113643 102999 77063

Accumulated other cemprehesoiee income 3027 2524 3917

Total shareholders equity 429750 492658 369995

Total liabilities and shareholders equity 777197 712098 $666214
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Condensed consolidated statements of operations unaudited in thousands except per share data

Three meethn eeded Nine munthu ended

September 30 September 30

2012 2011 2012 2011

Inentatedi Itentatedi Itentatedi Itentutedi

Renenuen

Pruductn
89116 62356 232011 181152

Sernicee
21489 1570 55954 45744

Tetal renenuen
110605 78063 287965 226896

Costs and operating eepeeoeo

Coot of renoneen productn
20509 14164 49511 41 t99

Cent of renenuen nernicen
2735 1573 7595 4682

Reoearch and denelopment
25763 18932 69160 55996

Soles and marketing
30633 20397 79796 64525

Geeerul and odminintratine
11058 9420 33664 25892

Annurtiratien of intangible anoeto
9960 4239 19363 11718

Acqainitiun and other related
4308 377 8472 851

Reotrocturing

2098 2098

Total cesto and operating enpenoen
107064 69102 269659 204863

Income from epereti000
3541 8961 18306 22033

Intereot income and other net
928 1022 1640 1813

Innocent eepe000
18001 118001 15400 S400

Income before income tenon
2669 A183 14546 18446

Income ton benefit eopenoe
8275 1115 27261 2704

Net income
10944 7068 41807 15742

Earningo por
ohare

Beoic
0.15 0.10 0.56 0.23

Diluted
0.14 010 0.54 0.22

Weighted oneroge
number of common end common equinulent

ohoren oututonding

Benic
72805 69613 71659 68968

Diluted
85070 70892 84061 71595

Stock-baoed compensation
included in

Coot of reneneen preductu
85 81 2S6 329

Coot of renenueu uemiceo
33 31 99 125

Renearch and denelopment
1332 919 35S6 3374

Sulen and marketing
1043 679 2977 2546

General end edminiutratine
1671 1172 5146 3614
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Three manrhn ended Sin mnnrbs ended

Jane 30 Jane 30

2t12 2011 2012 2011

Serrated Serrated 000tated Sedated

Reoenaeo

Prodoctn
73288 55397 142895 118796

Seroices
17414 15529 34465 30937

Total renenoon
90702 70926 177360 148833

Costs sod
operating eopen000

Coot of reoenoeo prodocto 14220 13014 29002 27035

Coot of reoeneoo oerniceo
2730 1.631 4860 3109

Reoearch and deoelopment 22546 18545 43397 37064

Salon and marketing 24556 21210 49163 44128

Genera and adminiotratioe 11090 8074 22606 16472

Amortroation of
intangible aooeto 5358 3789 9403 7479

Acqoioition and other related 3739 474 4164 474

Reotrectoriog

_________________________________________________________
Total cooto and

operating eoponoeo 84239 66737 162595 135761

Income from
operationo 6463 4189 14765 13072

Interest income and other oef
602 253 712 791

loterent
oopenoe 1800 1800 3600 3600

Income before incoere taoeo
5265 2642 11877 10263

Income tao benefit eopeooo 20431 605 18986 1589

Net income
25696 2037 30963 8674

Earniogo per share

Banic
036 0.03 0.43 013

GOofed
0.32 0.03 0.40 012

Weighted anerage nomber of common and common

eqeinalent ohares oetofanding

Banic
71579 69156 71079 68643

Grleted
03803 71805 03500 71628

Stock-baned compoeoaoioo iocloded in

Coot of reoen000 prodocto
75 112 171 248

Coot of reneneen oerviceo
29 43 66 94

Research and deoeopment
945 1082 2224 2456

Salen and marketing
911 826 1934 1867

General and adminintratine 1809 1103 3475 2442
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Revenses

Match 3t

20t2 2ttt

Restated Restated

Prod acts

Services

Total rovonaos

69607 63399

17051 14508

86658 77907

Costs and operating eopenses

Cost of revenaes prsdacts

Cost of reveoaes cervices

Research and developmeet

Soles and marketing

General and administrative

Amortizatise of intangible assets

Acqeisition and other related

Restrocto ring

Basic

Diloted

24607 22018

lt516 8308

4045 3690

425

78356 60024

8302 8883

110 538

t800 1800

6612 7621

1445 684

5167 6637

0.07 0.10

0.07 0.06

Weighted average camber of common and common eqaivalent
shares ootstanding

Basic

Dilated

70580 68121

72054 71433

Stock-based compensation inclodod in

Csst of revenoes prodects

Cost of revenees services

Research and development

Sales avd marketing

General and administrative

06 136

37 51

1279 1374

1023

1666

1041

1256

14782 14021

2130

20851

1478

18519

Tetal costs and operating evpenses

Income frsm operations

Interest income and other net

Interest
espense

Income before income tases

Income tao espense

Net income

Earnings per
share
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Condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income unaudited in thousands

Three months ended Nina months ended

September 30 September 30

2012 2011 2012 2011

Restated Restated Restated Restated

NeR incomR 10944 7008 41807 15742

Other comprehesoise income

ChaogR is usrearzRd gains asd noses en ioaeotme005 set at tan 407 8551 866 601

CamaaRae trooslafion adjaotmest 96 200 69 226

Tsta ether csmpreheooiae iocome loss set at tao 503 655 797 375

Camprehenoiae income 11447 6413 42604 15367

Three months ended Sic months ended

Jane 30 Jose 30

25t2 201t 20t2 2Ott

Restated Restated Restated Restated

Net income 25696 2037 30863 8674

Other campreheaarae scone

Change in asrealized gains and noses on isaeotrneoto set at tao 1625 56 459 254

Cumolatiae traaoatian odiootmest 132 120 165 26

Total other camprehesoine ass scone set at tao 493 176 294 280

Camprehesoise scene 25203 2213 31157 8954

Three months ended

March31

20t2 2tlt

Restated Restated

Nat scone 5167 6637

Other cemprehensiae income net ot tao

Change is asrealioed gains and losses as isoestmeato 1084 198

Comoatiae translation adiostnest 297 94

Total other cenprehesoiae income eel oR tan 787 194

Comprehnsoiae scene 5954 6741
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Condensed consolidated statements of cash flows unaudited in thousands

Nine montho ended

September 30

2tt2 2ttt

Rentatedi Ineotatedi

Cash flaws from operating activities

Net income 41807 15742

Adjnntmn000 to reconcile net income to net caoh prnnided by epereting ectinitien

Depreciation
11643 9858

Amnrtieation of intengible eoonto 19363 11718

Stock-booed comp0000tion
12034 9988

Deferred income teono 35837 236

Tao beoefit from otock optioo treooectiooo 2188

Eoceoo tao beoefito from otock-baoed compe0000ioo 1939

Cheogeo in operetiog eooeto end liobilitieo net of effect of ecqoioiti000

Accoonto receioeble net 21024 2271

Inoentorino 1434 1115

Prepaid nopenoeo
end other correot eooeto 259 1326

Dther eooeto 27 694

Accoonto peyoble 7847 814

Accroed
eopeooeo

end other 10590 4152

Deferred r0000ono 11922 156

Dther liebilitieo 813 169

Net ceoh prooided by operetiog sctioitieo 58259 42303

Cash flows from investing activities

Porchooeo of property and eqoipmeot 12906 10891

Porchaoeo of aoeilable-for-oale oecoritieo 135616 323636

Proceedo from aoeilable-for-oale oecoritieo 375664 266990

Porchoono of other intangible eooeto 661 311

Paymeoto io c000ection with acqoioitiooo net of caoh ecqoired 298928 15823

Net caoh noed in iooeoting actioitieo 72427 63673

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceedo from eoercioe of otock optiono and employee otock porchaon plan optieno 20668 13704

Eocnoo too benefito from oteck-heond compenoetion
1939

Net ceoh prooided by fioaocing actinitino 22627 13704

Net increaoe dncreaon in caoh and caoh eqoioaleoto 6459 27666

Caoh aod ceoh eqoioelnoto at beginning of period
42729 76062

Caoh and caoh eqoinalento at end of period
51188 46416



96 Ixia Annual Report 2012

Six months ended

Juno 30

2tt2 2Ott

Ifleotated Reotated

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 30863 8674

Adjeotmeoto to reconcile net ioceme to oet ceob prooided by eperatiog act ivitieo

Depreciatioe

Amortioatioe of intangible aooeto

Stock-baoed cempenoation

Deferred iocome taxeo

Tax benefit from otock option tranoectiaoo

Eoceoo tao beeefito from otock-baoed compeeoatioo

Chaogeo in operatiog aooeto and liabilitieo net of effect of acqoioitiomt

Accoaeto receivable eet

leveotorieo

Prepaid eopeooeo aod other carreot aooeto

Dther aooeta

Accoonto payable

Accroed eopenoeo aed ethet

Deferred reveooeo

Dther liabilitieo

Net caoh provided by operating actioitieo

Cash flows from investing activieies

Parchaoeo of property aod eqaipment

Parchaoeo of available-fer-oale oecaritieo

Praceedo from axaileble-for-oale oeceritieo

Parchaoeo of other
iotaogible

aooeto

Paymeeto in coooectioo with acqaioitioeo oet of caoh acqaired

Net caoh aoed in inveotiog activitieo

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceedo from evercioe of otack opti000 aod employee otock perchaoe plan apti000

Eoceoo tao beeefita from otock-baoed compeeoatioe

Net caoh provided by fioaecieg activitieo

Net iocreaoe decreaoe in caoh and caoh eqeivaleoto

Caoh and caoh eqaivaleoto at begineing of period

7505 6277

9403 7479

7870 7107

23363 117

811

798

5679 2567

1534 367

1495 246

170 289

3013 2774

1125 7789

5097 1833

121

46999 23306

8322 7256

110552 197635

211921 145183

504 162

148257 250

55714 60120

10584 13314

798

11382 13314

2667 23500

42729 76082

Caoh aed ceob eqeivaleoto at eod of peried 45396 52582
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Three months ended

Masch3t

2tt2 2ttt

Restated Restated

Cash flows from operating
activities

Net income
51t7 ff37

Adjustments te reconcile net income te net cash pnsvided by operating uctivtties

Oepreciahsn
3700 3042

Amertisatisn uf ietangible assets
4045 3690

Stuck-bused csmpensatisn
4101 3861

Deferred income taees
31 2t4

Tas benefit from stock option transactions
657

Eecess tas benefits from stuck-bused compessatiss
597

changes in sperating assets and liabilities

Accsunts receivable net
2000 1989

Inventories
443 2567

Pnepaid eopenses and other current assets
60 2353

Other assets
101 226

Accsuvts payable
4943 12131

Accraed
espesses

and sther
4619 4864

Oeferred revenees
4881 875

Other liabilities

54

Net cash provided by operating
activities 33857 11565

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases sf property and equipment
j4754 4328

Purchases of available-fsr-sale securifies
81173 52466

Proceeds frsm available-fur-sale securities
52417 35360

Parchases of ether intangible assets
206 98

Payments iv consactiss mith acqaisifioss set of cash acquired

Net cash used ie ievesting activities
33716 21532

Cash flows from financing
activities

Proceeds frsm eoercise sf stock spttsns
5947 7171

Escess tav benefits frsm stsck-based campensatise
597

Net cash prsvided by fisancing activities 6544 7171

Net increase decrease iv cash and cash equivalents
6685 2796

Cash sod cash eqaiealeets at beginnivg sf period
42729 76082

Cash and cash eqsivalests at end of peniad
49414 73286
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Reconciliation of restated quarterly financial statement amounts Unaudited

The prior period unaudited quarterly financial statements have been restated to reflect the corrections of these errors which

impact revenues from products revenues from services and deferred revenues current and non-current All other adjust

ments relate to the applicable income tax effects of these errors The following schedules reconcile the amounts as originally

reported in the applicable financial statement to the corresponding restated amounts

Restated consolidated balance sheet amounts unaudited

As of Septembei 30 2012

As PresE555ip Restatersest

________________________________________________________________________________
Reported Adjsststeats Restated

in thsssasdsi

Other assets 5605 15241 5081

Tstai Assets 111121 15241 711191

Oeferred recesses csrrest

Accssstieg practice error 12725

implied arrasgemeet error
18631

63153 135881 59565

Accreed espenses aed other 51216 120 51045

istal csrrest liabilities 128958 12859 126100

Oeferred recesses sss-csrrest

Acceantisg practice error 126141

imphed arraagemest errar 2262

13635 148761 8159

Other liabilities 12425 163 12588

TsRai liabilities 355018 175721 347441

Hetaised earsisgs 106595 7048 113643

Tstai shareholders equitp 422702 7048 428150

Tatal liabilities asd sharehsiders eqaity 117721 1524 $777181
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Deferred revenues current

As st June 30 2t1

As Previsuslv Restatemost

Repurted Adjustments Restated

is thsuuandsj

Accounting practice errur

Implied srrasgensest orrsr

Accreed espenses ned sther

Tutal curreot jjabjjjtjes

Deferred recesses nsa-current

Accssntisg practice error

Implied arraegemest error

Dther liabilities

Totsl liabilities

Retained earnings

Total shareholders equity

Tstal liabilities and shareholders equity

2603

179

51306 2782 48524

36089 257 35812

96695 3039 93656

2385

2244

tl2t8 4629 6589

9032 163 9195

316945 7505 309440

95194 7505 102699

395153 7505 402658

712098 7t2098

As at March 3t 2t12

Deferred revenues current

As Presisusly Restatement

Reported Adjustmetts Restated

46731

liv thsusandsl

Accrued eepenses and other

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenues sue-current

Accounting practice error

Implied arrangement errsr

Dther liabilities

Total liabilities

Retained earuiegs

Tstal shareholders eqeity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

32585

89264

230 32815

4560 84704

6494 163 6657

305978 8659 2973t9

68344 8659 77003

360236 8659 368895

666214 $666214

Accaustieg practice error

Implied arrangement error

2485

2305

4790 41941

2163

2099

10220 14262 5958
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Implied arrangement error

Sernicen

Accounting practice error

Implied arraogemeot error

For the Nine Monthn Ended September 30 20t

An Frevinnnly eentotement

tepnrted Ar inntmentn

Fnr rhe Nine Mnnthn Ended September 30 2Et

An Preninnnly 8entarement

un thourandn eecept per nhare datal

1626 629

233637 1626 23201 18t96t 829 181152

1379 1770

874 1250

53901 2053 55954 42724 3020 45744

Baoic

Dilated

ass 001 0.58

0.55 0.01 0.54

An Freviounly tertutement

teported Adnntmentn

0.20 0.03 0.23

0.20 0.02 022

Fnr the Three Mnnthn Ended September 30 2011

An Preniounly tentutement

tentated teperted Adiuntmentr tertated

hr thnonandn encept per rhare datal

Total renenuen

Income from operationo

Inceme betnre income tenet

Income tan benefit eopenoe

Net income

Earningn per
obare

Banic 0.16 0.01 0.15

ais 0.01 0.14

009 0.01 aio

0.09 0.01 0.10

Renen ten

Producto

un thr nnandn eecept per nhare detal

teniated 8eportod Adjnntmentn tentoted

Total reneneen 287538 427 267965 224705 2191 226896

Income from operationo 17879 427 18306 19842 2191 22033

Income before income tenet 14119 427 14546 16255 2191 18446

Income tan benefit enpenne 28.514 1253 27261 2244 460 2704

Net income 42633 826 41807 14011 1731 15742

Earningo per
nhare

For the Three Monhr Ended September 30 2tt

un thnnoandn encnpt per nham datal

Renenneo

Prndnctt

Implied arrangement error

Sernicen

Accnonting practice error

Implied arrangement error

460 294

88656 460 89116 62062 294 62356

351 22

242 476

20896 593 21489 15209 498 15707

109552 1053 110605 77271 792 78063

2468 1053 3541 8169 792 8961

1616 1053 2669 7391 792 8183

9785 1510 8275 943 172 1115

11401 457 10944 6448 620 7068

Dilated
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For the Sic Months Ended June 30 20t For the Six Months Ended Jste 30 20t

As Ptesiossly Ifestotemett
As Ptesiossly Restatement

Repotted Adjsttmxsts Restated Reported Adsstmests Restated

in thossxsds escept pet share data is thsssxsds except pet shate data

Reee sees

Prodsets

Imphed arrasgemest error 2086 1123

144981 2086 142895 119919 1123 118796

Soreceo

Accosstsg prectce errer
1028 1748

mplied arresgemest error
432

774

33005 1460 34465 27515 2522 30037

Tote recesses
177986 626 177360 147434 1399 148833

ocsme from operatoes
15391 626 14765 11673 1399 13072

Iscome before iscome oases 12503 626 11877 8864 1399 10263

Iscome tao beoefE espesse
18729 257 18986 1301 288 1589

Net ecsme 31232 369 30863 7563 1111 8674

Earssgs per shore

Basc 0.44 0.01 0.43 011 0.02 0.13

DUsted
OAO 0.40 0.11 0.01 0.12

For the Three Months Foded Jurre3e20t2 For the Three Months Ended Jsne 30 201

As Presioxsly Restatement
As Presiossy Restatement

Reported Adjsstmeots Restated Reported Adjeotmests Restated

is thousands eocept per share date in
thossands except per share date

Recesses

rsd coo

lmphed arrangemest error
2650

405

75938 2650 73288 54992 405 55397

Sersces

Accosntsg practce error
340

1118

mphed arrerigemeot error
669

430

16405 1009 17414 13981 1548 15529

Tote rssesees
92343 1641 90702 68973 1953 70926

pcsms from opsratono
8104 1641 6463 2236 1953 4189

Iscome before locome Roses 6906 1641 5265 689 1953 2642

ncome too bsneff ospe550
19944 487 20431 235 370 605

Net ocoms 26850 1154 25696 454 1583 2037

Earsngs per share

Basc 0.38 0.02 0.36 0.01 0.02 0.03

DUsted
033 0.01 0.32 0.01 0.02 0.03
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For the Three Mssths Esded Mrrrh 3t 2012 For the Three Mssths Esded March 3t 20t

As Fresiessly Restatemess Ar Fresisosly Restatemess

Reported Adtsstmests Restated Reported Adjsstmeets Restated

is rhsssaods
escept per share data is thsssasds escepr per share data

Resertses

Pradacts

Implied arrangemest error 564 1528

69043 564 89607 64927 1528 63399

Sersicet

Accesetiog practice errer RBR 630

Implied arrangement error 237 344

1660R 451 17051 13534 974 1450R

Total recesses 85R43 tots R6658 78461 554 77907

Income from speratiees 7287 1015 8302 9437 554 8883

Incame before ecame tasee 5597 1015 6612 8175 554 7621

Income too
eepesre 1215 230 1445 1066 82 984

Net income 4382 785 5167 7109 472 6637

Earnings per
share

Basic
0.06 0.01 0.07 0.10 010

Dilated
0.06 0.01 0.07 0.10 0.01 0.09

For the Three Mssths Esded December 3t 20t

As Prerrssslp Restatement

____________________________________________________________________

Reported Adjsstmests Restated

is thsssasds escept per share data

Reseeaes

Prod scts

Implied arrangement error
582

67689 582 68271

Sereices

Accssntieg practice error
282

Implied arrangemeet error
523

15962 241 16203

Total reseasen 83651 823 84474

Inceme from eperatians
12353 823 13176

Iecsme before income tones
10799 823 11622

Income tas espense 1035 1384 651

Net raceme
9764 1207 tO97t

Earsingo per share

Basic
0.14 0.02 0.16

Dileted
014 0.01 0.15
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Far the Nine Mnnthn Ended September 30 201 Fnt the Nine Mnntht Ended September 30 201

An Prearnanly Rentatemant An Pteninanly Rettatement

Repnnted Adjantmentn Rettated Repnrted Adjantmentn Rentated

in thnttandn eacept pet thate data in thnaeandn encept pet thate data

42633 626 41607 14011 1731 15742

43430 626 42604 13636 1731 15367

Fnr the Thtee Manthn Ended Septemhet 30 20t Far the Three Mnntht Ended Septembet 30 2011

At Prenraenlp Rentatenrent At Pneniaanlp Rentatement

Repetted Adjuntmentn
Rettated Repntted Adjantmentn

Rentated

in thnanandn eacept per ahate data in thaaeandn eecept pet
thare data

11401 457 10944 6448 620 7069

11904 457 11447 5793 620 6413

Far the Sic Manthn Ended June 30 2012 Fnn the Sin Menthn Ended Jane 302011

At Pteainanly Ilentatement At Pneaiaatlp Rentatement

Reparted Adiantmentn Oettated Repatted Adantmentn Rettated

in thaanandn eecept pet
nhane data in thaanandn encept pet thate data

31232 369 30863 7563 1111 8674

31526 369 31157 7043 1111 8954

Fan the Three Mnnthn Ended Jane 30 2012 Far the Three Manthr Ended Jane 30 20t

An Preeiaanly Rentatement An Preainanly Rentatemeet

Repented Adantmentn Reatated Repented Adartmentn Rentated

in thaanaedn eecept per ehate data in theanaedn eecept per ahare data

26850 1154 25696 454 1583 203

26357 1154 25203 630 1583 2213

Far the Three Manthn Ended March31 20t Far the Three Mantha Ended March 312011

An Pnearaanlp Rentatement An Pnearaaelp Rentatement

Reparted Adantmeetn Rentated Repented Adantmentn
Reetaled

in
thaanaedn eacept par rhare data in thaanandn eacept per nhane data

Net ncerne 4382 785 5167 7109 472 6637

Gamprehennee acome 5169 785 5954 7213 472 6741

Net ecame

Cempneheeiae ncenre

Net ncaere

Campreheneine ncacoe

Net ecame

Cempnehennne nceme

Net ncenne

Cempnehenaee nceme
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Restated consolidated statements of cash flows amounts unaudited

The correction of the errors described above did not impact our total cash flows from operating activities investing activities

or financing activities within our consolidated statements of cash flows

Far the Nine Meeths Ended September 3E 2012 Fnr the Nine Mueths Ended September 30 201

At Preeinnnly Retutemnnt An Preainsnlp Restatement

epnrted Adsntmentn Rentated Repnrted Adjnstmentn Restated

in thninandn encept per share data is thassandn eacept per nhare data

Net ncnme 42633 826 41807 14011 1731 15742

Deferred nceme tunes 1363611 524 135837 1696 460 12361

Accrued enpenses nod other 9861 725 10599 4152 4152

Deferred renennen 2349 427 11922 2035 2191 56

Net cush prunded by uperutsg uctiutet 58259 58259 42363 42303

Far the Sin Mnnths Ended Jane 30 2012 Fee the Sna Msnths Ended Jane 302011

As Feeainutlp Rertutement As Preeieasly Restatement

eparted Adustments Restated Reperted Adsntmeets Restated

in thnnitaedt eecept per Jraee data ir thsssands eecepr per share data

Net ecurrre 31232 369 30863 7563 1111 8674

Deferred ncnme tunes 23363 123363 1405 288 1117

Accrued
espennen and other 1382 257 1125 17789 17789

Deferred revesues 4471 626 5097 3232 11399 1833

Net cunh prneded by sperutng ucteten 46999 46999 23306 23306

Net ecome

Deferred scone tunes

Accrued
eepesset

und other

Deferred reeenues

Net cush prneided by operating uctetet

rot the Three Months Ended Match 312012

As Preeiessly Restatemert

eparted Ad istments Restated

in that sands eacept per
chute data

4382 785 5167

1317 13171

4388 230 4619

5896 1015 4881

33857 33857

Fsr the Three Msnthn Ended March 312011

As Presisssly Restatement

Reperted Adjsstments Rentuted

lie thsssands eecepr per share data

7109 472 6637

286 821 204

4864 48641

1429 554 8751

11565 11565
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Nx Oxocription

3.2 Bylawo ax amended

0.5 Officer Sexerance Flax Amendroent Nx datxd Dxcembxr 21 2012

10.6 lxix Officer Severance Plan Amendment Nx datxd December 212012

10.83 Third Amendment tx Office datxd Jaxaary 10 2012 between MS Malibu Property Holdingo
and thx Cempaxy

10.85 Fifth Amendment tx Office datxd November 2012 betwxxx MS Malibu Property Holdingo
axd thx Cxmpaxy

10.0 Compenoation
xf Named Execotixe Officero at xf December 31 2012

21.1 Soboidiarixo xf the Hegiotrant

23.1 Content xf PricematerhxooeCoopert lndependext Hegiotered
Poblic Accoxnting Firm

3t Certification xf Chief Executive Officer xf lxix pxrxeaxt tx Section 302 xf the Sarbaxet-Doley Act xf 2002

31 Cxrtificatixx xf Chief Financial Officer of lxix pernuant tx Sectiox 302 xf the Sarbxnen-Ooley Act xf 2002

32 Certificationo of Chief Executive Officer axd Chief Fixaxcial Officer of lxix
par000nt

to Role 3a-1 4b under the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C

Section 135000 adopted por0000t
to Section 006 of the Sarbaoeo-Ouley Act of 2002

101 .INS XBRL Inotasce Docoment

tot .SCH XBH Taxonomy Exteoxien Schema Document

101 .CAL XBR Taoonomy Calculation Unkbaoe Document

101 XBRL Taxonomy Label Decement

101 PHE XBB Taxonomy Preoentxtios Linkbase Document

101 .OEF XBHL Taxonomy Extenxion Definition Document

In occordxncx wirh Role Otti of extolorion S-T the XBRL lEotensiblo Business Ropertiog Langaxexi relatod information in Eahibir lot ro this Annool Reporr on Form to-K shall not ho

deemed robe filed for purposes of Secrion it of the Fxcheoox Act or otherwise subject ro rhe liability of rhar soctior and shall nor be parr
of any rexixtration statemenr or other

docsmesr filed osdor rhe Securities Act or rho Eschxnoe Act eecept us shall be expressly our forth by specific reference in ouch filiox
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

State or Other Jurisdiction of

Name of Subsidiary
Incorporation or Organization

Anue Systems Inc
Delaware

BreakingPoint Systems Inc
Delaware

Catapult Communications Corporation Nevada

Catapult Communications Corporation Subsidiaries

Ixia Technologies International Limited
Ireland

Ixia Communications Kabushiki Kaisha
Japan

Ixia Technologies International Limited Subsidiaries

Ixia Australia Pty Ltd
Australia

Ixia Communications Canada Limited
Canada

Ixia Technologies Europe Limited
United Kingdom

Ixia Hong Kong Limited
China

Ixia Technologies Shanghai Company Limited China

Ixia Korea Ltd
Korea

IxiaCom Technologies Sdn Bhd
Malaysia

Ixia Israel Ltd
Israel

Ixia Technologies Private Limited
India

lxia Pte Ltd
Singapore

S.C Ixia SRL
Romania

VeriWave Inc
Delaware

The subsidiaries of the Registrant do not do business under any name other than as listed above
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-B Nos 333-48814 333-66382

333-107818333-117969 333-151764 333-162322 333-167628 333-176237 and 333-184727 of Ixia of our report dated April

2013 relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

which appears in this Form 10

/s PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles California

April
2013
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Ixia pursuant to

Rule 13a-14a under the Exchange Act

as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Victor Aiston certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 0-K of Ixia

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present

in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of and for the

periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-1 5e and 5d-1 5e and internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-1 5f and 5d-1 5f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be de

signed under our supervision to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant including its consoli

dated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this

report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to

be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting

and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted account

ing principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclcsure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered

by this report based on such evaluation and

dl Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that

has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial

reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or

persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the desigii or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and

report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have
significant role in

the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date April 2013 /s VICTOR ALSTON

Victor Alston

President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Ixia pursuant to

Rule 13a-14a under the Exchange Act

as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Thomas Miller certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of lxia

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present

in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the

periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-i 5e and Sd-i 5e and internal control over financial reporting as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant
and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be de

signed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consoli

dated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this

report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to

be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting

and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted account

ing principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered

by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during

the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that

has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial

reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or

persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and

report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant
role in

the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date
April

2013 Is THOMAS MILLER

Thomas Miller

Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of

Ixia Pursuant to Rule 13a-14b under the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C

Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Ixia the Company on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31 2012 as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the Report we Victor Alston President and Chief Execu

tive Officer of the Company and Thomas Miller Chief Financial Officer of the Company certify to the best of our knowl

edge pursuant to Rule 3a-1 4b under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant

to Section 9DB of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 5d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of

operations of the Company

Date April 2013 /s/ VICTOR ALSTON

Victor Alston

President and Chief Executive Officer

Date April 2013 /s/ THOMAS MILLER

Thomas Miller

Chief Financial Officer
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